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CHAPTER 1

Laura Fane came up to London in the third week in January. A little earlier or a
little later, and things might have happened differently for her, and for Tanis Lyle, and
for Carey Desborough, and for some other people too. It had to be that time
because of her twenty-first birthday and having to see Mr. Metcalfe, who was the
family lawyer and her trustee. She stayed with one of her Ferrers relations, old Miss
Sophy Ferrers, who was an invalid and never went out. Miss Ferrers gave this as
her reason for refusing to leave London for some less raided part of the country,
intimating with gentle firmness that since she no longer felt able to leave her house for
the pleasure of visting her friends, she would certainly not do so to please Hitler.
She had had a broken window or two when the house at the corner received a
direct hit, and she had taken the precaution of tying up a heavy cut-glass chandelier
inamuslin bag, but farther than this she declined to go.

She welcomed Laura with great kindness, and insisted that she should make the
most of her holiday.

AThe Douglas Maxwells have asked you for tonight. Robin and Alistair are on
leave. | hope you have brought a pretty frock, my dear. Robin is calling for you at a
guarter to eight.0

The Maxwells were connectionsd Helen and Douglas, a nice friendly couple in
the middle thirties, Douglas at the War Office, 1an and Alistair both in the Air Force
and unmarried. Laura had met them once or twice. She felt warm and pleased. It
was a delightful beginning to her visit.

She put on a black dress, and hoped it would pass muster. Black suited her
white skin, dark hair, and the grey-green eyes which were her real beauty. They
were changeable and sensitive as water, taking colour from what she wore. They
took the light as water takes it, and they took the shadows too. Long dark lashes set
them off. They were long enough and black enough to make a shadow of their own.
For the rest she had fine, even skin, smooth and rather pale, and a charming mouth,
wide and generous, with enough natural colour to have stood alone without the help
of lipstick. The severely plain black frock showed a slim, rounded figure. 1t make her
look taller than she really was, and it made her look very youngd too young.

She frowned at herself in the gass. The dark hair fell curling on her neck. It
might be the fashion, but it made her look about sixteen. There was a jade pendant
which Oliver Fane had brought from China for his wife Lilian, a peach with two
leaves, and a little winged creature crawling on it. Laura pulled it out of her



handkerchief-case and dlipped the black silk cord over her head. Her mother had
never worn it, because Oliver died that leave. The bright green fruit hung down
nearly to her waist. The cord made her neck look very white. She threw her Chinese
shawl across her shoulders, and felt the momentary thrill it always gave her. Oliver
had brought that too, and it was such a lovely thingd black ground and deep black
fringe, every inch of the ground worked over in a pattern of fantastic loveliness and
al the colours of afairy tale.

She went downstairs and showed herself to Cousin Sophy, who put her
Dresden china head on one side, opened her blue eyes very wide, and said in a
plaintive voice,

fOh, my deard dl inblack!o

Laura dangled the peach.

fNot all, Cousin Sophy.0

Miss Ferrers shook her head.

fVery prettyd very pretty indeed, and quite valuable too. And the shawld such
lovely embroidery. You look very nice, my dear. 16 just that black seems sod so
inappropriate for a young girl.0

Lauratook one of the little frail hands and kissed it.

A know, darlingd it ought to be white satin and pearls, like the picture of my
mother in her coming-out dress, and | ought to have golden hair and blue eyes like
hers.0

Miss Ferrers smiled.

fiShe was a lovely creature, my dear, and she turned all the young mené heads.
Your father fell in love with her at first sight. He was engaged to his cousin Agnes
Fane, and it would have been such a convenient marriage because of the property,
but once he had seen Lilian it was no good, he couldn@ do it. People blamed him of
course, and 16m afraid Agnes never redly got over it. But what is the good of
blaming people? It wouldn@ have been a happy thing for either of them if he had
married Agnes, because she was very much in love with him and she had a very
jealous disposition. So what would have been the good? He didnd love herd he
loved your mother. And they died so youngd O Her voice went off into a sigh.

fldm not like her at all.o Laura sounded very regretful. She would have loved to
have been like Lilian.

Miss Sophy looked at her very kindly indeed.

flust a look now and then. Sometimes it is quite strong. But of course you
havend her colouring.0

Laura bent and kissed her. And then the doorbell rang, and Robin Maxwell was



there to fetch her.

The old, sad story dlipped away into the past. Robin was a cheerful young man
determined to meke the most of every moment of his leave. He never stopped
talking al the way to the Luxe.

Helen and Douglas Maxwell were waiting for them in the lounge, both tall and
fair, and treating Laura as if she were a real relation instead of a very distant family
connection.

The rest of the party began to arrived Alistair Maxwell with a vivacious little
thing called Petra North who laughed, and chattered, and laughed again when the
three tall brothers teased her. Laura thought she was like a kitten, with her little
round face, and round eyes, and dark fluffy hair.

They all stood there waiting for Tanis Lyle and Carey Desborough. Laura liked
his name. She remembered that she had liked it when she had seen it under a
smudged snapshot two, or was it three, months ago. All the papers had had the
ridiculous picture, which really only showed a pair of shoulders seen from behind,
the back of a head, one ear, and the danting line of what looked like quite a good
jaw. The snapshot was there because he had got the Distinguished Flying Cross and
he simply wouldn@ be photographed. The Maxwells were talking about him now.
He had had a bad smash and wasnd flying again yet.

Laura thought how much alike the three brothers were. Douglas was the tallest,
and Robin the fairest. His hair was really almost white, but they all had the same
rather square faces, tanned ruddy skins, and bright blue eyes.

fAranis is always late,0 said Petra North. She looked at Alistair, but he was
watching the door.

Robin said, iiShe couldnd be in time if she tried,0and quick as lightning out came
the kittends claws, and Petra struck back with,

fiShe doesnd try.0 She laughed, and the dimples came out too. il wouldnd either
if I was tall enough to make an entrance like she does. 1t no good when youde five
foot nothing. It smply doesnd come off, and that would be worse than anything.c
She whisked round on Laura. fDo you know Tanis? Oh, but of course you dod
sheds your cousin.0

Laura nodded.

fiSheGs my cousin, but | don@ know her. Wedve never met.o

Petra laughed.

fOh, yesd there® a family feudd your father didn@ marry her aurt, or
something like that. She told me. Too medieval! | didnd know people really did that
sort of thingd but of course it must have been a long time ago.o Her tone relegated



Oliver and Lilian to a vague, indefinite past.

Laurafelt a little embarrassed. She said the first thing that came into her head.

fiSheds very beatiful, isnd she?0

Petra made a little cross face. Laura had the feeling that for twopence she would
have put out her tongue. The claws showed again.

fiShe makes people think sod 0 A pause, and then the one wordd fimen.o Her
expression changed suddenly. fiOh, welld here she comes. Perfect entrance, isnd
it?0

It was. The floor of the lounge might have been cleared for it. There was an
open lane between them and the big door, and up this lane there came the two
people for whom they had been waiting.

Laura saw them as you see people in a picture. They arrested and held her
attention. If at that moment she had known all that was going to happen between the
three of them, she could not have felt a more breathless interest. She saw Tanis Lyle
and atall, dark man, and then she only saw Tanis Lyle, because Tanis was like that
0 shefilled the room.

She wasnd beautifuld that was Laurads first astonished thought. She put across
an effect of beauty, but it was an effect without bone and substance behind it. In that
first clear moment of untroubled judgment Laura thought, fiShe isnd any better
looking than | am, really.0ANd it was true. Six or seven years older; perhaps aninch
tallerd or was that just the way her dress was cut; the same dark hair, but oh so
beatifully done; the same very white skin; the same grey-green eyes, but greener,
definitely greener than Laurads wered quite a different shape too, long and dlitted,
between dark lashes. She walked with the perfection of movement, but that was
because there was an absolute perfection of balance. Laura thought, iWhat a
perfectly lovely figure.0 The dark green dress set it offd skin-tight to midway
between hip and knee, and then flaring full. The stuff was velvet, the colour a deep,
rich emerald. Just where the fullness flared the line was broken by two queer
extravagant pockets crusted with a barbaric embroidery of pearl and emerald. Pearl
string at her neck, fine, lustrous, perfectly matched. Pearls at her ears, and emerald
in an ultra-modern setting on the bare right hand which she was putting out to Helen
Douwglas.

The clear moment had gone. It never returned. As Tanis came up to her and said
in her rather deep voice, fiYou must be Laura. 16m so glad to meet you,0 al the
details, al the things which you can make into an inventory, were submerged.
Because it wasnd what Tanis looked like that counted, it was what she was. She
brought something with herd a vitality, an attraction. Waves of warmth, pleasure,



interest, flowed from her, changing the atmosphere. It was like champagre.
Everyone felt the stimulus. All impressions were heightened, all feelings intensified.

Laura looked into the green eyes and saw them alive with interest. She felt
absurdly charmed, absurdly reluctant.

And then Carey Desborough was being introduced, and she looked up at a lean,
tanned face, and thought, AWhy does he look like that?0 The odd part of it was that
the very next moment she didn@ know at all what she had seen to maeke her have
that thought. 1t was something that hurt, but she didn@ know what it was. It gave her
a logt, shaken feeling. And then the whole thing passed, and they were going in to
dinner.



CHAPTER 2

Laura had never enjoyed herself so much in her life. There was that sparkle in
the atmosphere, and everyone was so kind. They all knew each other so well, and
they might so easily have crowded her out, but she didnd feedl like a stranger at all.

When dinner was over they danced in the famous Gold Room. Laura danced
first with Douglas Maxwell, and then with Carey Desborough. She said,

fldm not really tall enough.0

He smiled down at her and said in a pleasarnt, cheerful voice,

fOh, wedl get along.0

fis Tanis taller than | am?0

She tilted her head and saw the smile go out. He said, with an effect of being
casual,

fOh, | dond knowd | shouldnd think so.0

She danced with Robin after that. About halfway through they stood out for a
moment and watched. Against the gold background the rhythmic movement had the
effect of a kaleidoscope dowed down to the pace of a dow-moving melody. Laura
watched with fascinated eyes. She had lived very quietly. She had never seen
anything like this before. She was as thrilled as a child at its first Christmas tree.
Light, colour, music, kindness made an enchanting pattern. She saw Helen Douglas
go by, tal and very far, in a dress of midnight blue. She was with Carey
Desborough. Their heights metched perfectly. She saw Petra and Alistair. Petra was
laughing, but Alistair looked across the room to where Tanis stood with his brother
Douwglas.

Robin laughed.

fDond you want to dance?0

Laura gave along, happy sigh.

A want to dance, and | want to watch, and | warnt to talk to everyone. There
ought to be at least six of me to enjoy it all properly.o

fAY ou are a comic kid!0

fidn twenty-one. 1Gn grown up. 1Gn of age. | can sguander my enormous
fortune.o

A didnd know youd got one.0

fFour hundred a year,0 said Laura. iiThree hundred of it comes from letting the
Priory to Cousin Agnes Fane, so it doesnd really count, because you cand squander
a house. But it gives me a lovely feeling to think that | can snatch the other three



thousand pounds away from Mr. Metcalfe and just play ducks and drakes with it.0

AYoud much better stick to it. What sort of ducks and drakes do you wart to
make?0

Laura laughed happily.

fiOh, | dond. Ités just a perfectly lovely thought.0

Robinés Scottish brow displayed a frown.

At must have been badly invested for you to be getting only three and a half per
centonit.o

But Laura was tired of the subject of her money. She had no idea of wasting any
more time upon it. She pulled Robin out into the dance again. They went by quite
close to Alistair and Petra. Laura said,

A like her so much. Who is she? Have you known her a long time? Is she
engaged to Alistair?o

Robin& frown seemed to have come to stay. He answered only the last of her
questions.

fiNot officially. As a matter of fact he® gone a bit off the deep end about Tanis.
She takes people that way. Not me, you knowd 1émn a cautious bird. When | see a
net al laid out with nice little pellets of poisoned grain, | beet it for the great wide
spaces.0

fOhd Robin, how horrid of you! She isnd like that!o

AY ou just wait. She speciaizes in other girlsdboy friends.o

At sounds revolting.0

fNot a bit of itd it all done with kindness. 16ve watched her at it for years.
She kind to the girl, and she® kind to the chap, and she goes on being kind to him
till the girl gets crowded out, and then after a bit she gets bored and he gets crowded
out too. She doesn@ want any of them for keeps, you know. She just warnts half a
dozen of them trailing round, licking her boots and paying her taxis, and ready to cut
each otherGs throats. She enjoys thet part of it alot.0

His tone was so savage thet it rasped Laurads nerves. She looked up at him, half
frightened, and saw the fair-skinned boyish face set in lines that added ten years to
his age.

A didnd think Alistair would be such a fool,0 he said. And then, with a jerk that
sent them both out of step, AWhat do we wart to talk about the worman for? Shedl
get herself murdered some day. She makes me seered!o

She danced next with Alistair. Interesting from the point of view of wanting to be
right in the middle of these people and their emotions, but from the personal point of
view perhaps a little arid, because Alistair did nothing but talk about Tanisd how



wonderful she wasd fiShe just been making the most marvellous filmod how
beawtiful, how extraordinarily kind and unselfish.

A dond honestly believe she ever thinks about herself at al. Take me for
instance. 16m just a very distant cousin, and 16ve never known her particularly well
before. She® just been giving up her time to making my leave the most marvellous
success. Why, shed have let me fetch her tonight, only unfortunately Helen had
dready told Petra | was bringing her, so Tanis had to get Carey to come with her
instead. | happen to know he bores her a bit. He® one of the best, you know, but
that doesnd@ always cut any ice with women. Anyhow that another instance of her
kindnessd she® been most awfully good to him. He crashed, you know, and he®
been rather along time getting right. Tanisd oIt was al Tanis.

Laura was fascinated and interested, but it did just occur to her to wonder how
long the interest would last if this was Alistair& usual form, and whether he talked
like this to Petra. He told her all about how much Cousin Agnes adored Tanis
0 fshe and Lucy brought her up, you know. They both adore herd but who
wouldnd? And then she went on the stage....0 Laura gathered that Cousin Agnes
had been rather narrowminded about this, and that the stage career hadn@ been
quite the glowing success which was Tanis® due, entirely owing to the main
jealousies and cabals which her extraordinary beauty and talent had provoked. It
appeared that Tanis had glided into the pleasanter role of the gifted amateur with
professional experience. Then she had been seen by Isidore Levinstein and given,
first a test, and then a marvellous part in a marvellous film. She had been working
herself to death on it, but now it was finished and she was resting. That was why it
was so marvellous of her to give up her time to someone like him. But that was just
like herd she never thought about herself. She was so different from other people
that they simply didnd understand her. They were absolutely incapable of
understanding such marvellous unselfishness....

Laura began to feel as if she were listening to a gramophone record.

It was after her third dance with Carey Desborough that he took her to sit out in
one of the small alcoves off the dancing-floor. She saw him looking at her with an
expression which she could not interpretd searching, quizzicald she didnd know.
She thought there was a trace of bitter humour, and she wondered why.

AY oudre a cousin of Tanisds, arend you?0

The label set off a very faint spark in Lauraés mind. Her chin lifted a shade as she
said,

fiYyesd |aGmLaura Fane.0

He said, fivoudre not like her,0in a musing voice, and a whole shower of sparks



wert up.

fWhy should | be?0

He smiled disarmingly. It made the most extraordinary difference to his face.
Oddly enough, it was when he smiled that she saw how sad his eyes wered dark,
disenchanted eyes. He said,

A didnd mean that. Dond@ be angry. What | meant was that youde rather like
her to look atd but youdre quite a different sort of person.o

Al dond think 1Gm like her to look at.0

fiNot reallyd just the colouring. But that® accounted for if youde cousins. [t&
unusual, you know. Does it run right through the family?0

A dond knowd 16ve never seen any of them. That@ why | was so excited about
meeting Tanis. 16ve never met any of my Fane relations except the Maxwells, and
they dond really count because they take off miles further up on the family tree,
before the feud.o

fFAmM | alowed to ask about the feud? 16/ never met one at close quarters
before.0

fOh, it isnd a secret. You cand have that sort of family split without everyone
knowing, and it was along time agod before | was born.o

fA very long time ago! 0

Laura looked at him suspiciously. He was perfectly grave. She said ina hurry,

fVly father ran away with my mother instead of making the marriage the family
had planned for im0

fANd they cut him off with a shilling.o

Laura showed two dimples.

AThey couldnd do that. The Priory belonged to him. And anyhow there werend
any shillings except the ones he would have had if he had married Cousin Agres.
She had lots from her mother, who was quite a big heiress. She® been renting the
place ever since. You see, ny father was in the Navy, and he couldnd afford to live
there anyhow, and nor could |, o it® just as well that Cousin Agnes warts to. |
believe she sinply adores the place. It is funny to think |6ve never seenit.0

fWhy dond you go down there?0

fiShes never asked me.0

Her voice sounded faintly forlorn, like a child left out of a party. He wondered
how old she was. He said,

fwhere do you live then? What do you do? Y our father and motherd 0

She shook her head mournfully.

Arhey died when | was five. | dond really remember themd only like a story that



youdve heard, and you wish you could remember it.0

He thought, fiShe® awfully young.0 He felt what you feel towards a childd
kindnessd the response to an unconscious appeal. He said guietly,

fWell, someone looked after you.0

fOh, yesd my mother® sisterd very kind, and just a little bit strict. She sits on
committeesd womend welfare, and education, and all that sort of thingd and since
the war evacuees.0

fAnd what do you do?0

Adm secretary to a convalescent home for soldiers, and | drive the billeting
officer roundd she® a womand and of course A.R.Pd and odd jobs for Aunt
Theresad 0

Carey Desborough laughed.

fAnd what do you do in your spare time?0

Al dond think | have any.0 She laughed suddenly too. fiOh, thaté& what you
meant?0 The dimples appeared again. fWell, there are aways odd jobsd wedre
only got one maid. And sometimes | go to the pictures, and | have been known to
dance, but not on afloor like this.0

Arhe simple life! 0 His eyes smiled at her.

fléma country cousin,0 said Laura. Her voice was small and meek, but the grey-
green eyes had a sparkle as they met his. Then the black lashes dropped. It was
quite effective, but she hadn@ meant to do it. She just couldnd look at him any
longer. Something behind the smile hurt her at her heart. It was a soft heart and
easlly hurt.

To her horrified surprise she felt herself blushing. The colour burned in her
cheeks.

Carey laughed. He said in a friendly, teasing tone,

A havend seen a gl blush for years. How do you do it?0

Somehow that seemed to meke it al right again. The sparkle returned. She said,

Al dondd it doesitself. Isnd it horrid?0

fNot very.o

fOh, but it is. It does it for nothing at all, and | never know when it going to let
me down. | used to get horribly teased about it at school.o

They went on talking whilst the next dance came and went. She found she was
telling him all sorts of things about Aunt Theresa, and the convalescent home, and
their one and only bomb, and it was all quite easy and natural, and as if she had
known him ever since she could remermber.

fANd how did you tear yourself away?0



Laura answered him quite seriously.

fWell, I hadnd@ had a holiday since the war startedd but it not a real holiday.
[Gm twenty-one, so | had to come up and see Mr. Metcalfe who is my lawyer and
trustee. The holiday is just tacked on.0

AThen you ought to make the most of it. How long have you got?0

Al think about a week. It depends on Mr. Metcalfe.0

fWhen do you see hin?0

ATomorrow, at twelve.0

AThen suppose you lunch with me afterwards and we do a show?0

Laura blushed again, this time with pleasure.

fOh, | should love to!o



CHAPTER 3

From the remainder of the evening two things stood out. They kept coming back
into Laura® mind whilst she was undressing and later when she had put out the light
and lay there on Cousin Sophy@& spare-room bed, which was so much more
comfortable than any of the beds at home. The darkness made a background against
which her pictures of the evening came and wernt. All the pictures were lovely except
those two at the end, and they would keep coming back. She tried to send therr
away, to remember only how lovely it had been, but the two pictures which troubled
her just wouldn@ go. Tanis smiling at her and saying, il havend really seen you at all.
We must meet. Come and lunch with me tomorrow.0 She could see herself standing
there and colouring like a schoolgirl. Aém afraid | cand tomorrow.0 What did she
warnt to colour for?0 and they were all looking at her. Then Carey Desborough said,
fiShed lunching with me,0 and that made it worse. But whyd why? It was such an
ordinary thing. Why was there that dreadful feeling of strain, as if she had made
some terrible gaffe? Nothing could have been easier than Carey® voice. Nothing
could have been sweeter than Tanis® smile. She had turned it on both of them, but
especially on Carey. fAh, but how nice of you! It her first visit to Londond isnd it,
Laurad and wedre got to give her as good a time as we can. But what about making
a party of itd Alistair, and you, and me, and Laura?0 Her glance went round the
circle. fiRobin and Petra too, if they@e not doing anything else.0

Robin and Petrad But it was Alistair and Petra who were fnot officialy
engaged.o The picture kept on coming backd all of them standing there together in
the lounge saying goodnight, and Tanis just blotting out an unofficial engagement with
half a dozen effortless words and one of those brilliant smiles. Every time she looked
back the smile seemed more brilliant, her own tongue-tied uncertainty more inept.
Yet for the life of her she couldn@ think what she should have said. She hadnd said
anythingd only stood there with the colour in her cheeks and a soft distressed look
in her eyes. It was Carey Desborough who spoke. He laughed quite casually and
said, fiOh, | dond think sod not tomorrow. Wegre doing a show, and we dond wart
to be late.0 The brilliant smile had turned on Alistair. His response was rapturous.

And then the good-nights were really said. Looking back, Laura thought that
Helen had hurried them a little. The party broke up, but it was Alistair who took
Laura home. Laurads second picture was of Petra putting her hand on Robin& arm
and saying with smiling lips, Wouldnd you like to take me home?0 They were so
close that she couldnd@ help knowing that Petra fingers were not just resting lightly



on the black coat deeve but gripping the arm inside it. She moved so that she was
standing between them and the others. She didnd wart anyone else to see what she
had seen. Alistair took her home. He never stopped talking about Tanis.

Those were the pictures. They didnd spoil the evening, because it was too lovely
to be spoiled, but they did spoil her remembrance of it. When she wanted to think
about al the friendliness and kindness, she would hear Tanis thanking Carey
Desborough for being kind to a little country cousin. Because that® what it
amounted to. Laura® cheeks flamed again, all alone in the dark. He was kind. She
had felt the kindness when he was talking to her. But to hear him thanked for it
publicly by Tanisd well, it got worse every time she thought about it. And then all of
a sudden she began to laugh at herself, because wasnd she being just the kind of silly
fool that Tanis was hoping shed be? And if she just didnd take any notice, well,
Tanis wouldnd@ have scored after all. She had wanted to get Laura all hot and
bothered, to show her up as a gauche, inexperienced young person from the
courtry, to make Carey Desborough see her like that. Well, he hadnd taken any
notice, and if Laura didnd take any notice either, the whole thing would have fallen
rather flat. Petra was differentd Tanis had scored there. But that was because for
the time being Alistair was practically off his head, and there just wasnd anything to
be done about it. She felt dreadfully sorry about Petra. Poor Petra. She began to
wonder what it would be like to love someone very much, and to see him turn away
from you and go mad about Tanis Lyle.

The pictures began to be blurred. Her thoughts blurred too. She slipped through
the blur into a dream. The dream was not blurred at all. It was as sharp, and clear,
and vivid as the image seen on the screen of a camerad sharper, clearer, and more
vivid than reality. She was in a place she had never seen before, but she knew that it
was a ruined aisle of the old Priory church. There was green grass underneath and a
bright blue sky above. There were fallen blocks of masonry amongst the grass, and a
lovely springing arch against the sky. She was standing at the bottom of a flight of
narrow, curving steps which went up to a door in what looked like a solid wall. The
sun was shining, and a great level shaft ran danting down to Laura®s feet. She was
dressed in the black dress she had worn at the Luxe, and she was wearing her jade
peach and her Chinese shawl. She could see all the coloursin it, as bright and clear
as the colours in a stained-glass window. A turquoise butterfly and a grasshopper
just the colour of her jade, sprays of blackberries embroidered in peach and
primnrose, wine-colour and all the lovely Chinese blues. The sun shone, and a bird
was singing. And then all of a sudden like a thunderclap it was darkd everything
gone, colour, and sight, and sound. It was dreadfully cold. A hand came out of the



dark and plucked her shawl away. Her feet were bare on the stone. She went
groping up to the door in the wall, and it was locked against her. She beat on it and
tried to cry out, but her voice was choked in her throat. She woke up, beating
against the headboard of the spare-room bed. It took her a minute or two to realize
where she was. Even after she had switched on the light she felt as if part of her had
been left behind in that dark ruined place. What a horrid dream.

She sat on the edge of the bed and looked with dismay at the twisted,
dishevelled bedclothes. When she waked she had been kneeling up in bed besting
on the walnut headboard. The eider-down was on the floor, the blanket dlipping. No
wonder she had been cold in that horrid dream

She made the bed, drank some waterd nasty stuff, London waterd and then lay
down again. She went to deep amost at once, and dept without dreams urtil the
morning.



CHAPTER 4

Mr. Metcalfe was a pleasant elderly gentleman with the kind of fatherly manner
which hints at authority as well as kindness. By the time Laura had shaken hands
with him and emerged from the polite preliminaries she was feeling much less grown-
up than she had a right to feel considering she was twenty-one and her own mistress.

Well now, Miss Laura, | have quite a lot of business for you, and a very
important proposal.o

fProposal?0 She could have killed herself for it, but she changed colour.

But Mr. Metcalfe smiled indulgently.

fOh, it not a proposal of marriage. | hope youdl not be in too much of a hurry
about thatd it doesnd always answer. There are other kinds of proposals, you
know, and this is really a very important one.0

AWhat isit?0

fVWell, it deserves your very serious consideration. It is a proposal from Miss
Agnes Faned 0He paused, scanning Laurads face. fBefore | tell you abot it, would
you mind telling me just how much you know about the breach which arose out of
your father@ marriage?0

Laura met hislook frankly.

A know that my father was engaged to Cousin Agnes, and that he ran away with
my mother. That was what the quarrel was about, wasnd it?0

fAiYesd but there was a little more to it than that. | dond know if youde quite
clear about your relations.o

Thomas Fane
.
Mary Ferrers

'Wa:lter Will:iam Barl::uara Rl.;th
: : John ﬂdams Genffrr:}r Lyle
Dli:.rer hg;ves Lucy ;Ldams Tai-nis
Liliannﬁermrs

Laura

fiNot very. You see, |6ve never met any of them except Tanis Lyle.0



fOh, you know Miss Lyle?0

Al met her last night. | dond know any of the others.o

He took up a dip of paper and handed it to her.

fWell then, perhaps this will help you to get them straight.0

Laura looked at the paper with interest. 1t displayed a nesatly typed family tree.

Mr. Metcalfe began to expound.

At begins with your great-grandfather Thomas Fane and your great-grandmother
Mary Ferrers. If you look at that paper you will see that they had four children,
Walter, William, Barbara, and Ruth. Walter was your grandfatherd William Miss
Agnes Fane®s father. Barbara married a man called Adams. Her daughter, Miss
Lucy Adans, lives at the Priory with Miss Fane. Ruth married Geoffrey Lyle. She
was a good deal younger than the others, so her daughter, Miss Tanis Lyle, though a
first cousin of your father and Miss Agnes and Miss Lucy, is really much nearer to
you in age. Her parents died when she was a child, and she has been practically
adopted by Miss Agnes Fane. She and Miss Lucy have brought her up and are quite
devoted to her. Now, have you got all that quite clear?0

AY es, quite.0

Laura was thinking that every time she met someone fresh the conversation
always seemed to come round to Tanis and how devoted someone was to her. She
did not, naturally, allow this thought to appear, but sat looking at Mr. Metcalfe and
waiting for himto come to the point, because there was certainly going to be a point.
The family tree and all this talk about the relations was just a sort of preliminary
skirmish. Mr. Metcalfe was leading up to something. He had a proposal to lay
before her, and she felt very curious to know what it was. He leaned forward now
with his elbow on the table.

fWhen your father® engagement to his cousin was broken off a very difficult
position arose. He had not a sufficient income to make it possible for him to live at
the Priory even if he could have brought himself to turn his cousin out. She was not a
young girl. She must have been about thirty-fived she was actually a few years older
than your fatherd and the Priory had always been her home. Her father rented it
from your grandfatherd no lease, just a family arrangementd and when he died she
and her mother continued there. There had been talk of a marriage between her and
your father on and off for years, but nothing settled. But when Mrs. William Fane
died and your father came home from the Australian station, the engagement was
formally given out. Mrs. William had been a considerable heiress, and the whole of
her fortune passed to Miss Agnes. It seemed to be a most suitable arrangement, and
not only because of the moneyd Miss Fane was a very handsome and accomplished



woman. Well, you know what happened. Your mother was a distant cousin. She
came to the Priory on a visit, and your father fell head over ears in love with her.
Naturally he wished to make such amends to his cousin as he could. Miss Fane had
a very serious riding accident, and for some months there was no certainty that she
would live. It was nearly a year before she was able to attend to business. She then
asked for a lease of the Priory. Your father instructed us to give her a twenty-one
year lease from a date three months ahead. Now perhaps you see what | am coming
to. You were born about a month after he gave us those instructions. The twernty-
one year lease runs out in about two months from now.o

Laura said fiOh!0 What came next? Another leased or something else? She said
aloud,

fWhat does she wantd Cousin Agnes? There® something she wants me to do,
isnd there?0

fwell, yes, there is.0 Mr. Metcalfe took up a pencil and began to roll it to and
fro between his fingers. A bright green pencild the light caught it and the gold of his
Signet-ring.

fiDoes she want another lease?0

Mr. Metcalfe frowned thoughtfully at the pencil. Then he transferred the frown to
Laura

fWell, nod she does not suggest alease. In point of fact, she is anxious to buy.o0

Something pricked Laura sharply. She sat up and said, fiOh, no!0 in a tone of
dismay.

Mr. Metcalfe laid down the pencil and stopped frowning. His manner became
extremely parental.

fNow Miss Laura, this is a proposal which you would do well to consider. It
really is worth consderation. Miss Fane has been paying you a very good rent all
these years. She has also spent a great deal of money on the house and grounds.
Most of the land, as you probably know, was sold by your grandfather. What
remained, which does not amount to much more than a fairly extensive garden, was
in a state of utter neglect. Miss Fane has transformed it. She has installed central
heating and electric light in the house. She has never come down on your trustees for
a single penny for repairs. She has made the property her first and very nearly her
only interest. She is an invalidd since her accident she has never walkedd and you
can imagine what an interest like this has meart to her.o

fBut if she cand walkd 0

fiShe has one of those self-propelling chairs. She spends a great deal of time in
the garden.o



Laura said, il seed 0 She was bewildered and taken aback. She had the feeling
that she was being unfairly pressed. She turned a clear gaze on Mr. Metcalfets face.

AY ou mustnd talk as if | would turn her out. | would never do that.0

fAThen you are prepared to consider the proposal?o

fNod | dond think so. | dond wantd to selld 0

fHer offer is a very generous one. You have to consider that the rent she pays
you amounts to three-quarters of your total income. She is not young, and she is an
invalid. If she were to die, you would lose three hundred a year. You might let again,
or you might notd that would depend largely on post-war conditions. You certainly
could not hope for another tenant like Miss Fane.0

Laura gave her head a little impatient shake. The money didnd come into itd
there were other things. She said quickly,

fWhy does she want to buy the Prioryd after all these years?0

Mr. Metcalfe had a smiling answer to that.

fVly dear Miss Laura, she has always wanted to buy it, but your father wouldna
sell. He said he would never live there himself, but his son might be able to some day
0 anyhow he would leave the decision to him. That was shortly before you were
born, and he had quite made up his mind that you were to be a boy. As long as he
lived Miss Fane made him a periodical offer. After his death she was obliged to wait
for your coming of age. She now repeats her offerd twelve thousand pounds for
everything as it stands.o

Laura put out a protesting hand.

A t&s not the money, Mr. Metcalfe. | want to know why. SheGs an invalid and she
isnd young, and | would never turn her out. It isnd as if she had children to leave it
to. Why does she warnt to buy the Priory?0

fOh, she wants to leave it to Miss Tanis Lyle,0 said Mr. Metcalfe.



CHAPTER 5

Laura came out on to the street and found Carey Desborough waiting for her.
He had been walking up and down, and just as she emerged from the dark entrance
he tuned and came towards her. He had those few moments to adjust his
recollections of Laura last night to Laura this morning. She was wearing a black coat
over a bright green dress, and a black cap with a little shiny clasp at the side that
looked like silver. He had not remembered that her colour was so bright except
when she had blushed, and he wondered whether she was blushing now. He thought
not. He thought that something had made her angry, and when he saw how brilliant
her eyes were he was sure of it. He felt an irresponsible desire to tease her, to heap
fuel on the fire, and see what happened, but she took the wind out of his sails by
saying,

fidmin amost dreadful temper. 1Gm not fit to go out to lunch with anyone. | shall
be perfectly horrid.o

The lines round his eyes crinkled up as if he was going to smile.

fwell, IéGn warned. Have you got a very bad temper?0

At boils over. Ités boiling now. But it doesnd generally last.0

fWell, suppose we walk a bit and give it a chance.0

Laura nodded.

At would be a good plan. | really am boiling. Mr. Metcalfe had a cooking fire
besides all the rest of it, and thereGs a nice cold wind.o

fDid you say an ice-cold wind?0

Laura eyed him severely.

fiyou know | didn@. | said it was nice and cold. Perhaps it will cool me down. If
| had to go into a hot restaurant like this | should probably burst into flames.o

Carey allowed himself to laugh. He had been wanting to for some time.

fWhat happensiif | ask you why? Does that have the same effect?0

A dond know. It might.0 She put up a hand to her cheek and could fed it
burning right through the glove. She looked at him with a hint of distress. Al am being
perfectly horrid. |& better go home.o

He dipped a hand inside her arm.

fWhatés the metter? Did he upset you?0

All at once Laura could laugh. She said,

fOh, not like that. It was just a stupid business thing.0

fWant to talk about it?0



He got another lookd a very frank one thistime.

A want to, but | dond know whether 1@ better. You see, | dond know how
well you know Tanis.0

His face changed and hardened. He said deliberately,

A know her very well indeed.o

Laura said an outrageous thing. She blushed for it afterwards. She even blushed
for it at the time, but she said it.

fAre you in love with her? Are you going to marry her?0

The odd thing was thet it didnd seem outrageous urtil she had said it. It was
somehow vitally necessary that she should know these things, and how was she
going to know them if she didnd ask him? She kept her eyes on his face and
wondered whether he would be angry. And didnd care, because she had to know.

Carey said, AY ou can put it in the past tense, my dear.0

Y ou mean you were in love with her?0

A thought | wasd | thought | was going to marry her. But one doesnd get
beyond the thinking stage with Tanis.0

Laura said another outrageous thing. It just seemed as if all the rules about what
you said and didnd say to a stranger had been blown awayd perhaps on that fierce
gust of anger. Thistime she said,

AWill she marry Alistair?0

Carey seemed to have scrapped all his rules too. A strangerd there was nothing
strange between them. They were answering each otherds thoughts. He said,

fiShe wond marry anyoned not yetd not for along timed not as long as she can
get what she wants without paying for it.0

Lauraés voice came back in a whisper.

fWhat does she want?0

She never took her eyes off him. His face was expressionless and cortrolled.

fOh, to see us al make fools of ourselvesd to be the candle and watch the
moths come up and burn their wings. She hasnd got any use for them after that.
Sheds a bright candle, isnd she?0

Laura didnd answer himd she hadn@ any voice. She didn@ know what was
happening to her, but it hurtd it hurt horribly. Not for herself, but for Carey. The hurt
came into her eyes and made a shadow there like the shadow of a cloud on water.

He said quickly, fDond look like that. It doesnd matter any more. Do you hear
0 thereisnd any Tanis. As far as 1Gm concerned the candleGs out.0

Lauratook a soft breath. She said on that breath,

fiShe hurt youd dreadfullyd 0 And Carey said,



At gore. It doesnd metter any more. It never really mattered at all, because
she doesnd metter.0 And then he laughed suddenly and said, fiLook where wedre
got to!o

They were in a narrow street with a mews opening on to it on one side, and a
high building on the other, full of blind bricked-up windows.

It was no use Laura looking, because she had no idea where they were, or how
they had got there. She hadn@ even realized that they had stopped walking. She
discovered now that they were standing on a narrow, dirty pavement just opposite
the entrance to the mews. An errand-boy went by on a bicycle quickly, but
otherwise the place seemed quite deserted. She said in a bewildered tone,

fWhere are we?0

A havend the dlightest idea.0

When they had emerged into a recognizable road and found a taxi Laura began
to wake up. It felt just like thatd as if she had been adeep and had one of those
dreams which don@ make sense, but which leave you till charmed when you wake
up and have odd snatches of remembrance coming through the waking up, like the
half remembered snatches of a tune. She sat back in her corner and wondered at
herself, and wondered why she wasnd ashamed of the things she had said. It had all
started with her being angry, but being angry didnd account for it.

She saw Carey watching her, and before she knew she was going to speak she
said,

fWwhy did we say those things? | dond....0

fiNor do 1.0

fArhen why did we?0

fDond you know?0

She shook her head.

At frightens me. | can@ stop. 1Gm doing it now.o

His eyes were smiling into hers.

fWhet are you doing?0

fSaying things.0

A nstead of just thinking then?0

She nodded. Her eyes really had a frightened look.

A &ve never done it before.0

A havend eitherd not like this. | shouldnd be surprised if it meant that we were
faling inlove.0

She changed colour, but the change was to white, not red. She looked for a
moment as if she had been shocked right out of her senses. There was a rushing



sound in her ears like water, like great waves. And then Carey saying her name
urgently.

fLaurad whatGs the metter?0

fid dondd knowd O

Then he saw the colour come back and her lips begin to tremble.

flLaurad are you all right?0

She said, AiYes.0

He was holding both her hands.

fWould you mind if | fell in love with you? Because 1Gm going to.0

She made a very great effort. She shut her eyes for a moment and thought hard
about how she had been brought up, and what Aunt Theresa would say. It was all
quite mad. She opened her eyes again and pulled her hands away. Then she said ina
voice that was not as firm as she had hoped it was going to be,

fPlease dond talk like that.0

AVhy20

fBecause itGs quite mad.o

She heard him laugh.

fDidnd you like it?0

Laura didnd say anything. She knew just what she ought to say, but the words
wouldn@ come.

He went on.

Al 6ve shocked you, offended you. Is that it?0

There were still no words.

fBecause if | have, you might be honest enough to tell me. Youde an honest
person, arend you? Well then, youdre only got to look me in the eye and say you
dond@ wart me to fall in love with you.0

Laurads tongue was suddenly loosened.

fWhat would you do if | did?0

He said, iall a little deeper.o

And at that inopportune moment the taxi drew up.



CHAPTER 6

Perhaps the moment was not so inopportune. Everything had gone at racing
Speedd a race without rules, without bounds. Laura at least was thankful for the
halt. She went into the cloakroom and did the best she could with her face, but a
powder-puff has its limits. She could, and did, tone down the carnation in her
cheeks, but there was nothing to be done with the shining look which met her in the
mirror, or with the new soft line of her lips. She considered what the powder-puff
had effected, and decided that it was a pity. The colour had been very becoming.
She found she was smiling, and before she could change her mind again she pulled a
handkerchief out of her bag and was wiping the powder off. Then she went out and
found Carey in the hall.

He took her down a flight of steps into a small irregularly shaped room which
seemed to be quite full of people, but when they had threaded their way among the
tables, there was the one he had reserved, set right into the corner. They sat facing
one another acrossiit.

Laura discovered that she was hungryd frightfully hungry. And the food was
extraordinarily goodd hors d@ uvres, and a fishy thing, and a sweet with layers of
cocoanut and chocolate frozen hard, and a hot chocolate sauce.

Carey made a charming host. He looked at her as if he loved her, but he talked
of all the things which Laura liked talking aboutd safe, interesting things which had
nothing to do with the race which had taken them so far and at such a break-neck
Speed.
It was over the coffee that she told him why she had been angry.

fVly cousin Agnes Fane wants to buy the Priory and leave it to Tanis. | dond
know why that made me so angry, but it did. One minute | was sitting there just
polite and interested, and he was telling me al about the feud and the relations, and
the next minute | felt as if | was going up in a puff of flame exactly like a firework. It
was a horrid feeling.0

At must have been.o His voice was sympathetic, but his eyes laughed.

fldve got atemperd | told you | hadd but 16ve never been sod so unreasonably
angry. 1t rather frightening, because | did feel as if | could have done anythingd o
She paused, and then repeated the last word. fANnything.o

He saw that she had turned quite white, and that she really did look frightened.
He said in a steadying voice,

fWheat did you do?0



Her colour came back again with a rush.

A just said that 1 wouldn@ think of selling, and when he tried to persuade me |
listened for a bit, and then | got so boiling that | coudn@ any more, so | came
away.o

Carey said thoughtfully,

fiSo he tried to persuade youd 0

Laura nodded.

fHe® Cousin Agnest lawyer too. He knows her awfully well. Aunt Theresa
says he wanted to marry her. Anyhow theyGe very old friends, so of course he
would be on her side.0

fHe oughtnd to have a side.0

Laura laughed.

fWhy, he couldnd help it. He® known her for simply ages. Hed fond of herd
you can see heis. 1aGm horrid, but 1Gm not so horrid that | would expect him not to be
fond of her, and not to try and get her what she warts. 16 all quite reasonable, you
know. | can see that now 16ve stopped boiling. Tanis has been like her daughterd
ité quite natural she should warnt her to have the Priory. And as Mr. Metcalfe says, |
couldnd live there myself, because 16ve only got a hundred a year besides the rent
Cousin Agnes pays me, and if she died nobody might wart it, or if they did they
mightnd give me as much. 1t6s all quite reasonable.0

fBut youdre not going to sell?0

Al dond feel reasonable about it at all,0 said Laura.

He poured her out another cup of coffee. Then he said in a tentative voice,

AY oudre fond of the place?0

She shook her head.

fidve never seen it. There are photographs which belonged to my fatherd | used
to get a sort of thrill from looking at them and thinking, dt doesnd metter who lives
there. 1t& mine readllyd it belongs to me.6And | used to plan what | would do with
the rooms. Mogt of the furniture belongs to Cousin Agnes, but there are some old
bits that have been there ever since the house was built. | used to plan curtains and
chintzes, but of course it was just a game. Aunt Theresa always told me | couldnd
possibly live there unless | married someone with enough money to keep it up, and
she always finished up by saying | wasnd in the least likely to do that.0

He looked up, began to laugh, and then was suddenly grave again.

s she making you a good offer?0

ATwelve thousand pounds. Mr. Metcalfe said it was very generous.o

At a fancy price. You know, you ought to go down and see the place. Cand



you do that?0

A coudnd unless Cousin Agnes asked me.0 She hesitated, and then came out
with, A think sheGs going t0.0

fAY oudl go?0

A dond warnt t0.0

fDond be silly! Of course you must go! For one thing, it will smash this feud
business, and for another, dond you see, you may simply loathe the place, and then
ités too easy.0

fiSuppose | dond loathe itd suppose | fall passionately in love with it?0

Arhat® quite easy tood you dig in your toes and wait for a handsome husband
and three thousand a year.0

fAif he had three thousand a year he@ probably be hideous.0

AThen youd have to go on waiting.0

She looked at him with the frank, confiding look he liked so much.

fiDo you know the Priory? Shall | like it? Have you been there?0

fOh, yes, | know it quite well.o

fishall | like it?0

Al dond know, my dear. Anyhow you ought to go down if Miss Fane asks you.0

Laura nodded reluctantly.

A suppose | ought.0 She brightened. fiPerhaps she wond ask me.o

The afternoon went by. They saw a play, but in each of them the current of
thought and feeling ran too strong to leave any but the most surface attention free.
Each was too conscious of the other to know what was passing on the stage. There
was light, and colour, and music. The players came and went and said their lines.
The curtain rose and fell. And all the time the unseen currert ran like arace.

They came out into the dark and found a taxi. Blackness shut them in. Carey
said suddenly,

AThey dond know whether | shall be able to fly again.0

Something in his voice brought Laura out of her dreams. She said in the quick,
soft way she had,

fOhd why?0

AThat crashd ité done something to my sight. | cand judge distances any more.c

AY oudl get al rightd 16m sure you will.o

A may. Ité one of those things they dond@ know about. 1tGs hell.o

She put out her hand and found his.

AY oudl get all rightd 1 know you will.0

They sat like that with the dark going by them. Neither of them spoke. When the



taxi stopped and they were standing under Cousin Sophy& porch, he broke the
slence to say,

fiNo one knows except you.0

Laura didn@ say anything. She put out her hand again in a groping gesture. It
brushed his arm, and suddenly he was holding it to his face, kissing it.

flLaural Lauralo

She reached out and held him

fDond mind like that! Oh, Carey, please!0

Admafoold 16ve no rightd o

She shook him allittle, or tried to.

fAYoude not to talk like that! | wond have it! Youdre got to be sensible and give
yourself a chance. Why, it isn@ any time yet. Youdve been worriedd strung-up. You
havend given yourself a chance.0 But in her heart she was saying, fiTanis hasnd
given hima chance.0

She came very near to hating Tanis then. It was like coming near to the open
mouth of a furnace. The heat rushed out. It took her breath and blinded her. She
shrank inthe wind of it, and was afraid.

Carey felt her tremble. She put up her face to his, and when he touched it it was
wet. She said through tears,

fPlease, Carey, please! 1t6s going to be al right.0



CHAPTER 7

Cousin Sophy was on her sofa in the drawing-room in a panoply of shawls.
There was one from Galloway in shades of blue and green. It was really more of a
rug than a shawl, and was dedicated to covering her to the waist. A took such a
fancy to it when | was travelling with my dear father, and it has worn remarkably
welld such pure wool, and of course only vegetable dyes. It always reminds me of
the colour of the sea and the hillsd such a wild coastd just the same blue and
green.o There was another shawl at the dender waist, a wisp of violet and grey, and
a grey sk shawl with a knotted fringe for the frail shoulders. There was aso a
supplementary one of heavy pale blue wool, crocheted by Miss Sophy herself, and
one rather smaller in white wool to put over the head when a window was opened to
air the room.

Fromall this shawlery Miss Ferrers extended a pair of eager, fluttering hands.

fOh, my dear Laurad | am so glad! Have you enjoyed yourself?0

Laura said, fYes, very much.o She had the feeling that she stood in a cloud of
joyd aglowing cloud, bright with the sun.

Al am so glad you have come in, and so glad you have enjoyed yourself too. But
oh, my dear, Agnes Fane has been telephoning. She warnts you to go down thered
tomorrow, | think. She says Tanis Lyle is taking down a party of young people, and
she thought it would be a pleasant way of making your acquaintance.o

The brightness failed suddenly. Laura didnd know why. She felt cold withot it.
The little fluttering hands were reaching out to her. She went forward to the sofa and
sat down on the edge of it. Cousin Sophy went on talking in an excited thread of a
voice.

A think you ought to go, my dear. She was very nice about it. Rather grand in
her manner, but then Agnes always was rather grand. | knew her very well when she
was a girl, before the quarrel. 1 am older than she is of coursed let me seed tend
no, twelve years older. But the Ferrers and the Fanes saw a lot of each other at that
time. My grandfather John Ferrers and Mary Ferrers who married Thomas Fane
and was Agnes grandmother, and of course your father& too, were brother and
sister, so Agnes and | are second cousins. And she was very polite, asking about my
health and saying she was afraid | must feel the cold weather and the bombs, which
everybody doesnd trouble about when ité& a long-distance call. My dear father
always said that when everybody had a telephone nobody would have any manners,
because there wouldnd be time for them. And of course he was perfectly right,



because by the time it has clicked on and clicked off, and youde not sure how many
minutes youdre had, and youdre not sure if youdre said what you were going to say,
even the politest person is apt to find that they are being a little abrupt.o

Laura smiled. She loved Cousin Sophy, and it was restful not to have to talk.
You didnd have to with Cousin Sophy. She loved an audience, and sooner or later
she got everything said.

A havend seen Agnes for twenty-two years, but her voice hasnd changed. She
must be fifty-sevend or is it fifty-eightd 16m really not quite sured but her voice
hasn@ changed. She had a contralto singing voice too, very deep and striking, but
my dear father considered that she had too dramatic a style for an amateur. He had
no objection to singing as a drawing-room accomplishmentd it was till fashionable
when | was a girld but there was something about the way in which Agnes sang
Infelice and Tosti® Goodbye which he considered inappropriate to the family circle
or a concert at the village hall. I remember she used to look very handsome and
proud when she was singing, and she always looked at your father, which was just a
little embarrassing, becaused well, you wond know either of those songs, my dear,
theybve really gone quite out of fashion. But they wered well, | dond quite like to
say so, but there really isnd any other word for itd quite passionate.o

Laura had a sudden picture of Agnes Fane singing passionately to the Vicar, the
village, and Oliver Fare. It came across the years, sharp and bright, and painful with
an old pain which had never been forgotten.

Cousin Sophy flowed on.

fVly brother Jack used to say, df Agnes rides such a high horse shedl be getting
a fall ore of these days.6He was inclined to be in love with her, and it would not
have done at all, because they both had terrible tempers. They were always
quarrelling and making it up. And then one day they quarrelled and they didnd meke
it up. And Jack was killed in the last war, so if she had married him Agnes would
have been a widow al this time. But of course she never really thought of anyone
except your father.o

It was just on seven oéclock when the new young parlourmaid opened the door
and began to say, Will you see Miss Lyled 0 She had been specially told to say
madam by Beecher, Miss Sophy@& maid who had been with her for thirty years, but
she never got it out, because Tanis Lyle walked right past her into the room.

fiyou will, won@ you, Cousin Sophy?0 she said in a clear, ringing voice, and
before there was time for anyone else to speak, there she was, touching Miss
Sophyé hand and dlipping out of a fur coat.

Laura found herself taking the coat like a lady-in-waiting. Lovely furd so light



and soft. She put it down over a chair and turned to see Tanis, bareheaded in a
short, dinky black dress. Immediately she felt that her own dress was too bright a
green, too thick, and much, much too countryfied. She had a perfectly clear
conviction that no matter what she wore, Tanis would always make her fed like that,
and that if she lay down under it now she would never get up again. fAfter all, I do
live in the country,0 she told herself, and felt better.

Cousin Sophy was speaking.

fwWell, my dear, we dine at half past seven, because | have to go to bed early.
Mary may not like to ring the dressing-bell. | am afraid it sounds very inhospitable,
but Beecher will be waiting to dress me, and it does not do for me to be hurried. It
upsets her dreadfully.o

Tanis stood there, smiling down at her. She looked younger, less sophisticated.
The smile was a charming one.

fBut, Cousin Sophy, of course | wouldnd dream of keeping you. Perhaps |
could go up and talk to Laura while she dresses. | am full of messages from Aunt
Agnes, and this seems to be the only time. | had to go to the Theobaldsd cocktail
party, and 1Gm dining out.0

When Beecher had been rung for and Laura and Tanis were on the dairs
together, Tanis laughed softly and said,

fDoes she redlly dress for dinner?0

Laura nodded.

fOh, yes. She puts on what she calls a tea-gown, and a white China crepe shawl
instead of the grey one, and Beecher does her hair with little curls at the side. 116 the
curls thet take the time. They&re sweet.0

They came into the bedroom. If Laura had ever didiked anything in her life, it
was the prospect of having to dress with Tanis watching her. But she wasnd giving in
to it. Tanis was an underminer, but people cand undermine you if you dond let
yourself be undermined.

Tanis sat down on the bed, pulling the pillows round to make herself a back.

Avell, Aunt Agnes said she® been ringing Cousin Sophy up, so | expect you
know she warnts you to go down and stay at the Priory.o

Laura was hanging up her coat. Without turning round she said,

Y es.0

fiShed been trying to get me all the afternoon, but of course | was out. | had to
ring her up as soon as | got in. Sheds set her heart on your coming.o

Laura unhung the dress she was going to weard her old black velvet. She knew
exactly what it was going to look like to Tanis, and she told herself she didnd care.



She hung it over the rail of the bed and took off her hat.

Tanis was looking at her with an effect of eager charm

A do hope youdre going to come.o

At very kind of Cousin Agnes.o

fOh, no, it isnd. It& what she ought to have done years and years and years
ago. Whatd the good of quarrelling? And then to keep it up al this timed as if
anything in the world was worth a fuss like that! Too archaic! Of course 16m very
fond of the auntsd by the way, theyGe only cousins really, but 16ve always called
them Aunt. They like it, God knows why. [t& about the most hideous word in the
English language, but it pleases them, and 1Gm all for pleasing people when | can.0

She produced a platinum cigarette-case with a diamond initial, offered it to
Laura, who said, fiNot whilst 16m dressing,0 and then lighted a cigarette herself. A
little curl of smoke went up between them.

Laura went over to the wash-stand.

fOne gets filthy in London. Dond you wart to have a bath?0

Laura would have liked to say, fiYes, | do,0 but to strip, to be naked and
defenceless before an enemyd that touched something very old, very primitive. She
said,

AThere wond be time if you warnt to talk. | cand keep Cousin Sophy waiting. |
can have one when | come to bed.o

The water splashed in the old-fashioned flowered basin. Tanis waited until she
came back to the dressing-table. Sitting there, Laura could see the reflection of the
bed, her own black dress thrown down across the foot, and Tanis against the fat
white pillows at the head. The smoke went up between them The cigarette
described a sudden graceful movemert.

fwWell, Laura, | hope youdre coming.0

Laura said, Why does she want me to come?0

A suppose because she thinks this idiotic quarrel has gone on long enough.o

Laura felt that she had been ungracious. She said, still looking into the mirror,

At very nice of herd | do feel that. It isnd easy to put a stop to something that
has been going on for along time. | do think itGs very nice of her.0

AThen what@ the matter with coming?0

Laura swung round on the low chintz-covered stool, comb in hand, black hair
ruffled.

AY ou know she wants to buy the Priory?0

TanisGs lids came down and velled her eyes. She said,

AWell?0



A dond warnt to sell,0said Laura bluntly.

The lids rose. The eyes looked out, very much alive, very green.

AWell?0

A note of distress came into Laurads voice.

fOf course | wouldn@ ever turn her outd | couldn@ do that. But | dond@ warnt to
sall unless | simply have to. 1 may have tod | dond knowd in which case it would
be better for it to go to Cousin Agnes. But | havend made up my mind. | wart to
think it over.o

The green eyes went on looking at her. A faint smile came, and dipped away.

AWell?0

fDond you see, if | go down there 16 afraid Cousin Agnes will think 1&m saying
yes, and | havend made up my mind. It wouldn@ be fair to let her think that | was
going to say yes.o

Thered she had got it out, and it was easier than she had expected. The sense of
dealing with an enemy had gone. She felt ashamed that it had ever been there
between them. She turned back to the glass and straightened the ruffled hair. Tanis®
reflection smiled with a sudden bewildering charm.

fiScrupulous person, arend you? Well, youdre got it off the chest. Now listen!
You can come down without prejudice. It wond@ commit you to anything at all. It
wond be a meeting between a prospective buyer and seller. It won@ be anything
except the aunts wanting to see you and put an end to the quarrel.o

The smoke between them had spread into a faint blue haze. Laura thought, i dve
been a beast. They warnt to be friends. | must go down.o She jumped up and came
to the foot of the bed. As she picked up her dress she said gravely and frankly,

Arhank you, Tanisd if it® like that, | should like to come. Shall | ring Cousin
Agnes up?o

fYesd shedl like that. We can go down tomorrow afternoon.o

Laura pulled her frock over her head. If she was careful she could do it without
disarranging her hair. She emerged successfully and was smoothing down the long,
straight blackness, when Tanis said,

At ought to be quite a good party. Wedl get the end of the Maxwell boysdleave,
and theredl be you, and me, and Petra, and Carey.0

Laura turned back to the glass. Her heart beat hard. The dress needed a
brooch. She picked up an old-fashioned circle of pearls and fingered it. Tanis®
voice came from behind her, lightly, sweetly.

fCarey® a charmer, isnd@ he? But dond take him serioudly. Heds taken a fancy
to you, but heds never serious. It6 just the way he® maded if he likes a girl he cand



help making love to her, but it doesnd mean a thing.0

Laura was pinning her brooch. The little white circle looked nice against the
dead black velvet. The dress might be an old one, but it was very becoming. She
turned round and said in the same grave way that she had spoken before,

AY oudre not engaged to him, are you, Tanis?0

Simplicity is always disconcerting. Tanis was disconcerted, but not for any time
long enough to be measured. In a flash she was adjusted and striking back with a
suave,

fWell, not exactly.o

Lauralooked at her. Her eyes said steadily, iWWhat@ the good of saying that sort
of thing to me?0 Then she turned to the door.

fiShall we go down? | think Cousin Sophy will be ready.o



CHAPTER 8

Laura rang up the Priory as soon as the meal which Miss Sophy still called
dinner had been disposed of. The stately repasts of the eighteenth century, the heavy
banquets of the Victorian age, had dwindled to a cup of clear soup and a lightly
poached egg surrounded by spinach. The ale, the strong waters, the fine claret, the
Madeira which had made the journey round the Cape, the sherry, and the port, were
gone away to a flagon of orange-juice and a jug of barley-water. The transtion to
the dining-room was too risky for an invalid, so there was a confortable low table
drawn to the side of the couch in the drawing-room. But Miss Sophy still dined.

As soon as Mary had removed the last traces of the meal the business of
telephoning began. Miss Sophy superintended. It was the most interesting thing that
had happened for a long time. It was arapprochementd it was the end of the
family feud. Oliver® daughter and Agnes! Miss Sophy@ colour rose and her eyes
shone. She fairly fluttered with exciterment.

Laura would much rather have waited until Cousin Sophy had gone to bed. She
could have borne to wait for ever. She felt an extreme reluctance to call across that
twenty-year guif and hear Agnes Fane answering her. It was naturally not the
dightest use to fedl like that. She put through the call whilst Miss Sophy poured out
reminiscences, and almost at once, before she was expecting it, there was a voice on
the lined what Laura would mentally call a suet- pudding voice.

Arhis is the Priory. Miss Adams speaking.0

Cousin Sophy® hearing was very acute. She plucked Laura® deeve and
whispered,

AY our Cousin Lucyd 0

Laura said, fit is Laura Fane, Cousin Lucy,0 and waited.

There was a sound as if the receiver had been jerked. The voice said flOhd ¢
just like that, without any expression. Laura found it rather daunting. There was a
pause, a murmur of voices too low to be caught. She thought the receiver had been
set down or muffled.

Cousin Sophy whispered, iDond take any notice of Lucy. She is a very stupid
woman.o

And then another voice was speaking in a deep, firm tore. If Laura had not
known that this was Agnes Fane she would not have been quite sure that it wasnd a
man.

fisthat Laura?o



Laura said, fiY es, Cousin Agnes. It is Cousin Agnes?0

The deep voice said, fiYes.0 And then, il hope you are coming to stay with me.o

Laura thought, fiShe knows 16m coming. Tanis must have rung her up.0 The
voice was dominant and assured, a voice that was accustomed to being obeyed.

This feeling persisted through her polite thanks and Miss Fane® reply. The
conversation was as short, as formel, as devoid of emotion as if there had never
been a passionate Agnes who had sung Infelice, and a reluctant Oliver who had
loved somebody else.

Miss Sophy heaved a sigh as Laura rang off.

fwWell, my dear, that® over. And a little disappointing, don@ you think? Things
so often are, you know. When your father ran away with your mother they were
having a fete at the Prioryd Primrose Dayd no, it couldnd have been that, because
it was in the summer, really a very hot dayd but it was something to do with the
Primrose League. Very inconsderate of Oliver and Lilian, but of course they were
very much in love, and when young people are in love they dond think of arnyone
except themselves. The grounds of the Priory are very beautiful, and Agnes was
pouring out tea under the big cedar, when one of the footmen, a very foolish young
man, brought her Oliver& note on a salver. Of course he never meart her to have it
like thatd it was a most stupid mistake. But she opened it, and read it, and put it
away in her bag, and went on talking to the Lord Lieutenant and pouring out tea. No
one would have known there was anything wrong. But when everyone had gone she
took her horse, Black Turband such a curious name | aways thoughtd and rode
out on him. And when she didnd come back they sent out a search party, and there
she was at the bottom of the quarry, and the poor horse was dead.o

Laura was speechless. She gazed white-faced at Cousin Sophy, whose pretty
pink colour had not faded at all. It was just an old story to her, but to Laura it felt
like all the terrible and unhappy things and all the unkindness in the world brought to
afocus.

Cousin Sophy stroked her hand with a soft fluttering touch.

fDond look like that, my dear. It was a long time ago, and if Oliver had gone on
with the engagement and married her, they would both have been most unhappy;,
because Agnes was aways very intelligent, and she would have known quite well
that he didnd really love her.o

Miss Sophy went to bed at half past nine. At a quarter to ten the telephone
startled Laura from her book. She picked up the receiver, and heard Carey
Desborough say,

fiCan | speak to Miss Fane?0



fOh, Carey!o

She sounded warm and pleased, and all at once she hoped she didnd sound too
pleased. That was the worst of the sort of things Tanis had saidd you pushed them
out of your mind and tidied it up, and then you found some lurking trail of slime.

Carey was asking, fAre you alone?0

fAY es. Cousin Sophy& gone to bed.o

My head spy told me she went at half past nine. Laura, are you going down to
the Priory?0

fives, | ano

fAranis said so. She doesnd tell the truth unless it suits her, so | thought 1@l rather
have it from you. Because 16m not going unless you are.o

The little trail of dlime caught the light in Lauraés mind. She said easlly,

AThank you. What a lovely compliment!o

At wasnd a complimentd just a plain statement of fact.0

Laura said nothing. It was absurd that a voice travelling along a wire should
reach the strings of your heart and shake them

The voice said her name insistertly.

fLaurad 0O

Y es?0

fHave you seen Tanis?0

fAY es. She came in just before dinner to fix up about going down to the Priory.o

Al thought so. What did she say about me?0

fAbout you?o

fiYes, darlingd me. | know she said something. What was it? She didnd by any
chance warn you against me, did she?0

fWhy should she? | mean, is there any reason why she should warn me?o

Laurawas rather pleased with this. Then she heard Carey laugh.

fiShe didd | knew it! Kind cousin warns debutante.0

fidm not a debutante! 0 said Laura, revolted.

fiCompared with Tanis you are, my child. 1&m sure she did it with the utmost
charm and delicacy. What did she say?0

Lauras voice changed. She stopped trying to be light and indifferent, and spoke
with simplicity.

fiShe said you were never serious.0

There was a pause.

He said, Al seed 0 And then, fiShe didnd by any chance say or suggest thet |
was engaged to her?0



fiShe said, AN ot exactly.do

There was an angry laugh.

fWhat a convenient phrase! Laurad listen. | asked Tanis to marry me six
months ago. | was under the impression that she had accepted me. A month ago
when | came out of hospital | found out that | was not the only man who was under
that impression. She said then that she couldnd imagine how | had got it. She had
never intended anything of the kind. She didnd want to marry anyone, but why not
be friends? Well, | was fool enough to agree. Since then 16ve been gradually coming
to my senses. When | met you last nightd 0 He paused, whilst they both gazed
astounded at the fact that it was only last night that they had met.

Laura found the receiver shaking a little in her hand. She heard him say, fit
doesnd seem possible,0 and she heard herself say, fiN0.0

He gave an odd eager laugh.

fvell, thank God it happened! Laura, when | met you it was like coming out
into the open air. | woke right up, and | shand go to deep again. Now, about
tomorrow. 16ve got some petrol. Let me drive you down.o

ATanis suggested that | should go down with Petra North.0

She heard hmwhistle.

fAirhat means she®s annexed Alistair.o

A think 16 better go with Petra really.o

A dl take her too, and wedl collect Robin. 14l fix it. 18l be round for you about
half past two. Is that all right?0

Laura said, fiY es.0 It was rather pleasant to have it all taken out of her hands.

AAll right. Wait a moment, dond hang up. About this business of my not being
serious, an important announcement follows immediately. Are you listeningd Miss
Laura Fane?0

Laurasaid, fives.0

Well then, my intentions are serious, honourable, and dreadfully premature.
Goodnight!0



CHAPTER 9

Four people and their suitcases were a tight fit in Carey& car, but they piled in,
Laura behind with Petra, and the two menin front. It was Laura who had insisted on
this arrangement. She wanted to talk to Petra, and there would be more room for
the luggage. But the real reason was that she couldndd no, she redlly couldnd sit
there in front with Carey under the eyes of a girl who was losing her lover. She felt
most desperately sorry for Petra, who appeared, vividly made-up, in a scarlet
leather coat and a green and scarlet bandeau round her dark curls. Her eyes were
the unhappiest things in the world, but she laughed and chattered nineteen to the
dozen until they were clearing London, when she fell silent and sat staring at the long,
straight road.

In front of them Carey and Robin were deep in Air Force shop. To al intents
and purposes the two girls were alone. Presently Petra looked sideways and said,

fiSheds gone down with Alistair.o

Laura didnd say anything, but she had a very speaking look. The air was
suddenly full of kindness.

Petra bit a scarlet lip.

A expect you know al about itd everybody does. And | expect yoube
wondering why | go tagging after them.0 There was a note of defiance in the voice
which hardly rose above a whisper. Laura was reminded of the kitten againd a
Kitten at bay, ready to scratch and fly. She said,

fiN0.0

Petra looked past her.

fivyou dond waste wordsd do you?0 She laughed. fiém a fool to play her game.
She loves an audience, and 1Gm helping to provide her with one. Do you know
why?o

Laura nodded gravely.

A think 0.0

fHeGs dreadfully unhappy t00.0 Petra looked at her. Her eyes dazzed with tears.
She put out a hand, clutched for a moment at Laura®, and let it go. She looked
away and nodded. fiShe tortures him. | can@ bear it. | could give him up if she really
wanted him, or if there was any chance that hed be happy. But she doesnd warnt
himd she doesnd@ warnt anyone, except to play with, and maeke fools of, and pull
them about on a string. Shes had enough of being married.o

Laura exclaimed, fMarried?0



fDidnG you know? It was when she was on the stage. She married an actor, a
man called Hazeltond he used to be quite well known. They kept it quiet for a bit,
and then she found out he doped or something. | expect she drove him to it.
Anyhow she was through with him, and she got a divorce. The aunts threw a
thousand fits, and then settled down to being thankful shedd got rid of him. 1t about
SiX years ago now, and no one ever mentions it. | expect you were at school and
they kept it from the child.0 There was a délicate darting malice in voice and look,
but no sting.

Laura laughed, and said, A expect they did. What happened to the man?0

Petra shrugged.

fOh, he® around somewhere. Someone told me hed cropped up again. As a
metter of fact he was at the Luxe last night. He came up and spoke to her.o

fWhat did she do?0

fOh, nothingd got rid of himd it& the sort of thing she® particularly good at. |
wonder what he thinks abot it all. He used to go about saying hed get even with
her some day. He® got it in for her all right. | know someone who used to know him
awfully well. She says he like the elephantd you know, the never-forgets touchd
and that some day hedl make Tanis wish she hadnd. But people dond do thet sort of
thing six years afterwardsd do they?0

A shouldnd think s0.0

Petra laughed.

i wish someone would do her in! | cand think why they dond. | cand think why
| dond myself. 1@ like to, but there would be nobody left to hold Alistair® hand.c
Her laughter ran up to an odd high note.

It was LauraGs turn to put out a hand.

fOh, dond!o

Petra dropped to a low murmur.

AThat& why | go tagging round. Sometimes, even now, he wants me. If it wasnd
for this damned war, | might get a little proper pride together and let him want, but
you cand do it when you never know which time is going to be the last.0

Laura didnd say anything at al. The men& voices went on all the time, loud,
cheerful, argumentative. They seemed to be discussing a gadget sponsored by one
Nicolson which Robin thought well of, whilst Carey considered it rotten. They were
obviously perfectly happy to go on arguing abott it.

Petra made a sudden movement. She wisked open her bag, got out her
compact, and busied herself with repairs. Presently she said,

fi ve really got a bit too much on, havend 170



Laura nodded.

fdust a bit, but ités awfully well done.o

Petra made a face like a cross kitten.

Arhat® the snagd it gives you confidence, but if you overdo it, it gives you
away. |&ve put on so much that Tanis will know why.o

filake a little off. Not the lipstickd youd only make a mess of thet.... Yes,
thetGs a lot better.0

Petra snapped the compact to.

fiyou must think 1&m pretty odd, talking to you like this after only seeing you
once. | wouldnd believe it myself. 1t& not the sort of thing | do as a rule, but |
suppose |6ve got to the point when |&ve got to talk or blow up, andd yoube easy to
talk t0.0 She laughed suddenly. A stranger is really much the best person, because
they don@ give you advice like a relation would straight away. Dond you hate your
relations?0

Laura laughed and said, fiN0.0

Al do. TheyGe ful of good advice, and it all the samed d_et him alore till he
comes to his senses.6ANnd the reason | hate them is that it& damned good advice....
Letds talk about cooking. Can you cook?0

ACan you?0

fA treat! | do an omelette that would meke a French chef turn green.0 She
reached forward and poked Robin in the back. fDond 170

fDond you what?0 He looked over his shoulder with an interrupted air.

fDond | cook beautifully? Arend my omelettes the catGs whiskers?o

Al hope notd it sounds foul.0 He turned back to his conversation.

Petra put out her tongue at him.

fvell, they are! 6 She flung Laura a gay smile. fiDond men like talking about the
most extraordinary things?o



CHAPTER 10

Laurads first sight of the Priory was etched indelibly upon her mind. There was
no sun. The clouds hung low. The January day was darkening aready, though it was
not four oéclock. They came up a drive between sombre evergreens and under
leafless trees, and then out upon a great rectangle of gravel with the house on its
farther sded a grey house with a central block and two wings enclosing a paved
courtyard with a fountain in the middle, and the right-hand wing was the ruined
Priory church. She looked at it with all her eyes, letting down the window and
leaning out.

The ruined arch of the east window faced them as they turned into the court.
Sky and trees showed briefly through the empty windows. The effect was startling
and graceful. The ruins were grey and clean and bare, but the house was dark with
ivy and festooned with the light dry stems of Virginia creeper and the large trunk of a
huge wistaria whose branches ran right up on to the roof and sprawled there.

Carey turned round as he stopped the car and said, speaking to her for the first
time,

fLikeit, Laura?0

She met his eyes. Hers were shining.

Al loveit'o

flLove at first Sght? How unreliable! 0 His look teased her, asked a question.

Laura said, fDreadfully. But | always know at onced dond you?0

And then they were all getting out, and she had a moment to stand and look at
the ruins before the door opened and they were coming in to the hall with a big fire
of logs blazing on the hearth and a broad stairway running up out of the shadows
beyond it. Coming out of the daylight and the cold, she thought the hall was like a
caved darkd warmd enclosed. There was a little lignt from the three narrow
windows set rather high on either side of the door, but where it met the firelight it
seemed to fade, and the shadows had it their own way.

Then al in a moment there was lightd bright, warm, and glowing. It came fron
high up, where crystal sconces were held above the line of the dark panelling. The
stairway, rising by a dozen shallow steps and then dividing to sweep up to right and
left, sprang into view. Tanis Lyle was coming sowly down from the right. She
reached the half-landing, smiled, put out both hands, and ran down the rest of the
way. In a high-necked cinnamon jumper and a rough tweed skirt to match, she was
the country hostess to the life. If her entrance had been planned, it was certainly very



effective. If it had not, she was the darling of coincidence. Laura had not the dlightest
doubt that it had all been planned to the last detail, from the sudden burst of light, to
the suggestion that it was Tanis who was welcoming her guests, and welcoming them
with the greatest possible charm.

Laura found herself crossing the hall with a guiding hand upon her arm.

AThe aunts are longing to see you. Come along before the others disentangle
themselves. The drawing-room is at the back. It looks south and west across the
garden. Aunt Agnes adores her flowers, and it has all been planted so that she can
see as much as possible without going out.0

fDoesnd she go out at all?o

fiOh, yesd every day. As soon as itGs warm enough shedl be in and out al day in
her chair. She has one of those self- propelling ones, and sheés really very clever with
it.o

She opened a door as she spoke, and brought Laura into a long room panelled
in white, with violet curtains already drawn across the three windows facing west
and the two at the far end which looked to the south. The effect under the light of
electric candles set in old gilt sconces was sombre and unusual, but it was relieved
by chintzes gaily flowered in purple, blue, and rose, and by the Persian rugs of which
the prevailing shade was a deep-toned rose melting into ruby.

There were two women in the room, sitting on either side of the rather chilly-
looking marble hearth with its white pillars rising to support a narrow dab which
might appropriately have adorned a tomb. Upon this slab there stood two bronze
horses with lashing tails, and a black marble clock. But at the moment Laura was not
really aware of anything except Agnes Fane, who sat watching her approach from an
invalid chair.

There were no shawls or mufflings, no appearance of invalidism, about the fine
erect figure. She wore what any other lady might have worn in her own house at tea-
time, a dress of some wine-coloured woollen stuff and a loose corduroy coat of the
same shade. She had pearl studs in her ears, a string of pearls at her throat, and a
fine ruby on the third finger of her right hand.

She put this hand out dowly as Laura came up. It took hers, and was cold to her
touchd very cold. The dark eyes under their strongly arched brows were lifted in a
long regard. Laura thought them as cold as the hand which had just relinquished
hers.

She returned the look with an interest which heigntened her colour and
brightened her eyes. She did not know what she had expected, but whatever it was,
Agnes Fane was differentd quite different.



She was a very handsome womand handsomer now than she had been when
she was young. The high dominant features, the proud carriage of the head, sat
better on the woman in her fifties than they had ever done on the girl. She had the
same fine, white skin and springing dark hair as Tanis and Laura herself, but there
were deep lines about the eyes and mouthd lines of pride and sufferingd and the
hair was frosted. It framed her face in waves, beautifully arranged.

With skin and hair the resermblance ended. The features were of a bolder type,
the face narrower, the line of cheek and jaw a harder one, and the eyes under their
beatifully modelled brows a very deep brown, instead of Tanists green darkening to
grey, and Laurads grey brightening into green.

fHow do you do, Laura?o

The voice was the voice of the telephone, grave, and deep, and rather cold.
Something in Laura admired its dignity, its restraint.

There was a polite enquiry for Theresa Ferrers, and then Tanis was introducing
her to Lucy Adams.

Laura saw a plump woman of middle height and middle age. Cousin Sophy&
remark sprang unbidden to her mindd fi_ucy always was a very stupid worman.o For
stupid was just what Cousin Lucy looked. She had a flat, well cushioned face of no
particular colour, small blinking grey eyes, and a very papable auburn front. She
wore grey, of al colours the least becoming. A gold-rimmed pince-nez hovered
uncertainly on her nose. It was attached to the right-hand side of her bodice by a fine
gold chain and a gold bar brooch. Her noticeably thick ankles were encased in grey
woollen stockings, and her feet in rubbed black glac®shoes with ribbon bows. She
shook hands frigidly with Laura and turned at once to Tanis, her voice gushing and
her manner exuberart.

fBut where are the others? | am simply longing to see them. Fetch themin, and
0 oh, yes, | will just ring the belld for 16m sure they must all be simply dying for their
tea. The car wasnd open, was it? Oh, no, of course notd in January. Even Carey
wouldnd do that, though | remember his bringing you down on a very cold autunn
day with everything open, and | told him he ought to be more carefuld and so he
ought.0 She turned towards Laura with a jerky movement. fiDo you know Carey
Desboroughd but of course you came down in his car, didnd you?0

Laura said, Al met him last night,0 and thought how strange that sounded.

Tanis took her up to her room after that. They took the right-hand turn of the
stair and came by way of a short gallery to a corridor with doors on either side.

AAuUNt Agnes is at the end there, on the left. Her roomis over the drawing-room.
Her maid, Perry, has the dressing-room, and Aunt Lucy the room beyond. 1am



opposite Aunt Agnes, next to the octagon tower. It is the only bit of the old house.
That the door, at the end of the passage. 1t& very convenient for Aunt Agnes,

because, owing to the octagon shape and the very thick walls, theyéve been able to
fit in a lift between my bathroom and the tower. It just takes her chair, and there are
doors through to my sitting-room and the drawing-room on the ground floor. She
can manage it all herself, which is what she likes to do with everything. Here you are
0 | hope you will be comfortable. Petra is just beyond you. Therefs a bathroom
between the two roomsd you wond mind sharing it with her, will you? Aunt Agnes
has put in bathrooms wherever she can, but it doesnd quite run to one for every
room. Miss Silver is over on the other side of the house, and so are Carey and the
Maxwells. She® a girl friend of Aunt Lucy®. They were at school together. She
started life as a governessd and does she look like one! Just wait till you see her! |
believe shefs a detective or something now. Conpletely useless, | should think, but
not a bad old thing. Youdl see her at tea. Her name is Maud! Can you find your way
down all right?0

Laura said she could. As a matter of fact only a mentally defective person could
have faled to do so. She was very gad to be left alone. Her first overwhelming
feeling that here was a house which she could love and which was friendly to her had
given way to a lonely sense of estrangement. It was only the outside of the house
which had any welcome for her. The inner self, the presence which lives in every
habitation, was formidably antagonistic and aloof.

The room in which she found herself, with its pale blue chintzes patterned with
ivory scallop shells, was a stranger & room. It was charming, and it charmed her, but
it had nothing to do with Laura Fane. Like all the rest of the house, it rejected her.

She went to the left-hand window and looked out. The curtains had been drawn.
She put one of them back, noticing that it had been lined with black sateen to make
it light-proof, and wondered whether they had had any raids down here. She looked
out upon the courtyard. The dusk was gathering fast. There were shadows
everywhere. The line of the ruined Priory church ran out on her left, with the last of
the light coming over and through the shattered arches. She stayed looking at it for
aslong as she dared. Then she tidied herself in a hurry and wernt down.



CHAPTER 11

The drawing-room was full of people having tea. Lucy Adams was pouring out
from an immense silver teapot. Laura went up to take her cup, and was introduced
to fimy friend Miss Silver.0 She beheld a little middle-aged person with small, neat
features and a great deal of mouse-coloured hair neatly disposed in a coiled plait at
the back and severely restrained by a net in front. She received the impression that it
was never let out even at night. She thought, fiYyou couldn@ possibly take her for
anything but a governess.o Only it was a governess of the early Edwardian days, or
perhaps something earlier still. Aunt Theresa had possessed Victorian books, and
Laura had been brought up on them.

Miss Silver, like Cousin Lucy, wore glac®shoes with bows, and strange thick
stockings. She was dressed in one of those flowered garments which saleswomen
press upon unresisting elderly ladies for summer wear. In Miss Silver® case it
consisted of a dark green dress lavishly patterned with a kind of Morse code of dots
and dashes in orange, magenta, and green. The accompanying coatee was mercifully
of a plain dark green. The collarless neck had been filled in with a twist of cotton
lace, and was fastened by a heavy oval gold locket-brooch bearing in seed pearls
the entwined initials of Miss Silveré father and mother, now some forty years
deceased.

Laura had not time to do more than say how do you do before she was directed
to a chair which had apparently been kept for her beside Agnes Fane. She was
received with a surface tinge of graciousness and questioned about her work, her
interests, her friends. It was a little alarming, because she had the strongest feeling of
being explored, weighed, brought up for judgmert.

Presently Agnes Fane was talking of Tanis.

fiShe has been very glad to meet you. | am pleased that you were able to come
down. It seemed such a good opportunity as the Maxwells and Petra were already
coming, and of course Carey Desboroughd but we hardly count him as a visitor. He
is the son of a very old friend, and we hope he and Tanis will be announcing their
engagement very soon. | dond@ know if Tanis told you, but there is really no reason
why there should be any secret abolt it.0

Laura® colour rose and failed. She had the sudden sickening sense of just whet
atrap she had walked into. No wonder her reluctance had warned her not to come.
Whatever happened now between her and Carey was going to look like a repetition
of the old storyd And thaté how Tanis meant it to look.



Lilian Ferrers had taken Oliver from Agnes Fane. Laura saw herself being
pushed on to a lighted stage where she was to re-enact her mother & part. Whatever
happened, Agnes Fane wouldnd believe that it wasnd Tanis who had been outwitted
and betrayed. The realization was the matter of an instart.

fwedre so fond of him,0 said Agnes Faned feand so very anxious that Tanis
should marry and settle down. | dond at all like this talk of Hollywood. 1t would be a
great grief to Lucy and myself. She® been like a daughter to us, you know, and we
would like to see her children here.0 The dark eyes were bent on Laura. A sudden
and quite charming smile changed the line of the lips. Al promised that | wouldnd talk
business to youd or no, | do not think | did promise anything of the sort, for after all
that is why you are here, is it not? And | believe in frankness. It has never been nmy
way to hint or beat about the bush. This has been my home since | was a child, and
it has been Tanis® home since she was a child. It is my dearest wish that it should be
her childrenés home.o

She was 4till smiling as she finished speaking. It was the smile of the great lady
who needs only to alow her wishes to be known.

fANd now | would like to talk to Alistair Maxwell for a little. Will you tell hin20

When Alistair had been reluctantly detached from a group of which Tanis was
the centre, Laura found herself being invited to a seat beside Miss Silver. When she
had taken it she was looked atd kindly, firmly, thoroughly. It was exactly like
arriving at school and being inspected by the headmistress. She felt that she might at
any moment expect to be put on her honour and told that she must aim at being a
credit to the school. Instead Miss Silver said in a precise, pleasant voice,

A knew your father and mother.o

Laura flushed into warmth.

fOh, did you?0 Her voice meant more than the words.

Miss Silver nodded.

A was in the neighbourhood when they were here before their marriage. | was
still engaged in the scholastic profession at the time, and | had a young charge at
Fairholme Lacy, which is only a couple of miles from here. Your mother was friendly
with my employer & sister. | saw a good deal of her, and of your father. You are like
them both.0

fiNot my mother.o

fiNot her colouring of coursed she was so fair. But there are expressionsd
when you smiled and the turn of your head and the tone of your voice are exactly
hers. | hope Miss Fane will show you the portraits which Amory did of her and your
father. You could not very well ask to see them, but she may show them to you.



They are in her bedroom.0

Laura caught her breath. In her bedroomd through all those years of resentment
0 hanging there for her to see by night and by day.... She said inalow voice,

fHow strangel 0

Miss Silver nodded.

fFor some people, but not for Agnes. She had commissioned the three portraits,
and they are considered very fine.0

frhree?0

fHe painted her too. Her portrait is hanging between those two end windows.
Y ou can see it without moving.o

Laura looked past the tea-table, past Tanis and Robin, past Carey Desborough
who was laughing with Petra North, to the wide ivory panel which separated the two
south windows with their heavy folds of violet brocade and their deep pelmets edged
and fringed with gold. The canvas was long and narrow, set in a frame of tarnished
gilt. It showed Agnes Fane bare-headed and in riding-clothes, coming down a flight
of steps. A light switch dangled from one hand, and in the other she held an apple.
The whole thing looked so natural that Laura was carried back a generation. This
wasAgnes Faned thistall, handsome, imperious creature, coming down the steps to
feed her horse, Black Turban perhaps, whom she had ridden over the quarry.

Laura looked quickly away. She was very pale. Her thoughts clamoured. Why
does she do it? Lilian and Oliver in her bedroom to look at always, and this picture
here for everyone to see. It was a parading of something which should have been
hidden, a wearing of tragedy as if it was a garment thrown on carelessly and worn
for all the world to see. And with what pride, what stubborn determination, through
how many bitter years. It hurtd it hurt dreadfully. To say something, she spoke
falteringly.

At®d a wonderful portrait. We have copies of my father® and motheré at
home. | dond know who did them.0

There were a great many questions she would have liked to ask, but Miss Silver
picked up a brightly flowered knitting-bag from the floor beside her and got up.

A promised to show Agnes a new knitting stitch,0 she said, and moved away
towards the invalid chair.

Laura joined Petra and Carey, but she had no sooner done so than Petra
whisked round and went to meet Alistair, who had given up his place to Miss Maud
Silver. It was the last thing that Laura would have planned, but having the
opportunity thrust upon her, she had an overwhelming impulse to make use of it. She
said low and quick,



fCarey, it dreadful. Cousin Agnes has been talking to me, and she thinks you
and Tanis are engaged.o

He laughed, but his eyes were angry.

fHow do you know she thinks so?0

fBecause she told me. She said you would be giving it out almost at once.0

fOh, will we? Shedl have to think again!0

Lauraés hands held one another tightly.

fiYou mustnd speak to me, or come near me, ord anything. Dond you see how
dreadful it is? Whatever happens, dond you see, it going to look asiif | had come
between youd just like my mother did. Careyd 0

He said quickly, fDond get worked up.0 Then, raising his voice, fiYou can see
the end wall of the Priory from those windows. Come and have a look.o

Laura said, fBut it will be darkd 0 She was frightened and bewildered.

Carey took her by the arm.

AThat® the best way to see a ruin. There® always some light from the sky.
Come dong!o

Lucy Adams turned her head to say, fltGs much too cold to go outside.o

Carey sent her a laughing, fiOh, wede not going out.0 He took Laura to the end
of the room and, parting the curtains of the left-hand window, made way for her to
pass between them It was so quickly and publicly done that she could think of no
way of holding back. He followed her and dropped the curtain behind them. They
were aone, with darkness veiling the world beyond the window. An icy chill struck
inward from the glass. Carey said, still in that raised voice,

fiyou must give your eyes a minute or two, then theydl begin to see again.0 He
dropped to something that was only just sound. fiYoude not to worryd do you
hear? 1tGs going to be all right.0

Al dond see how.0

His armwas round her shoulders.

fvWell, I do. Tanis has got us into this messd she must do something abot it. 14l
have it out with herd tonight if I can.0 His voice rose again. fAre you beginning to
see anything? There® the west end of the church on your right. A little later in the
year the moon shines through whatGs left of the rose window. It looks very fine.0

Dark shapes began to emerge from the general goomd the high shape of a
broken wall, and a black heaped mass of trees. Carey& arm held her close, and felt
that she was trembling. His hand came under her chin, and his lips came down on
hersin along kiss. When he let her go he said in a hard, determined whisper,

Arhat® to remember me by. 1a kill anyone who came between us. Youde



mine, and dond you forget it.0

The next moment he was holding the curtain again and they were coming back
into the room

Laura felt dazed and shaken. She had the sensation of having been caught up in
a sweeping tide which without any will or volition of her own was carrying her along.
She had neither the wish nor the power to resist. She could not look at Carey, but
she had to face the room She saw Petra standing alone, looking at a book which
she had taken up. With a feeling of relief she joined her.



CHAPTER 12

Carey Desborough walked straight up to Tanis and said bluntly,

fiCan | see you for a moment? ThereGs something | wart to talk to you about.0

She and Alistair were over by the piano at the north end of the room. She threw
him a queer look and said,

Al was just going to sing.0

Carey said nothing. His eyes, angry and determined, held hers.

She said with a laugh, Al suppose the house wond fall down if you have to wait.0

At might. Come alongd you can sing afterwards.o

They went out together. Alistair stared gloomily after them. Agnes Fane watched
them go and turned to Miss Silver with an approving smile.

fA handsome couple, Maud.o

Miss Silver gave a slight deprecating cough.

AV ery handsome, 0 she said in a dry little voice.

AANd just what do you mean by that?0

Miss Silverés needles clicked above a cloud of pale pink wool.

fOh, nothing.0

fiviaud!0

Miss Silver looked up placidly.

fwell, I would not call them a couple.0

fANd pray, why not?0

fBecause | see no signs of their being in love with one another.o

Miss Fane smiled in a superior manner.

fPerhaps, my dear Maud, you will allow me to know a little more about that
than you do.o

Miss Silver smiled too.

A do not think so. You are too much interestedd wishes are apt to be
misleading. Let us change the subject. My niece Milly Rogers is expecting another
baby. | was most fortunate in finding this pretty pink wool in Ledlington.o

Miss Fane surveyed it with disfavour.

fAY ou should be knitting comforts for the troops.o

Miss Silverés needles clicked.

fBabies must have vests,0 she remarked in amild but stubborn tone.

Tanis Lyle led the way into the charming small sitting-room which had been her
own from the time she had left school. The walls were panelled in some pale modern



wood. The furniture was modern tood couch and chairs wide-armed cubes; pale
green curtains, green cushions; pale coverings to match the walls; a clever use of ice-
green glass for the fireplace and the pelmetsd the whole thing an admirable setting
for Miss Tanis Lyle.

She had switched on the light in a heavy block of glass beside the couch, but
Carey, following her, pulled down another switch. A bowl in the ceiling sprang into
brilliance and flooded the room with light. She looked over her shoulder as if she
were going to speak, but she said nothing, only turned, held out both her hands, and
amiled. It was the smile which had enchanted many men. It had enchanted Carey
once, but it would never enchant him again. She said, till smiling,

fwell, darlingd what isit? Don@ you wart to kiss me?0

Carey smiled too. He had an extraordinary sense of freedom, of release. Laura
had set him free. He was completely and satisfyingly immune. He had no more desire
to kiss Tanis than he had to kiss Lucy Adamsd impossible to put it more strongly
than that. He could say in quite a friendly tone,

Al warnt to talk to you.0

There was a green gleam between the black lashes. She went over to the couch,
leaned against one of the wide ends, and said,

fA bit cave-man, aren@ you, dragging me out of the drawing-room like this?
What is it all about? My idea was that you wanted to make love to me and simply
couldnd@ wait another moment. Obviously a mistake. Now ités your turn.o

fAiranis, | warnt to talk to you.0

fiYesd you said that before. Y oudl end by boring me.o

He came and stood over her, his eyes grimly amused.

fOh, no, 1Gm not going to bore youd youdl be quite interested. Look here, Miss
Fane seems to be under the impression that wedre engaged.o

She looked up at him.

fANd arend we, darling?0

fiNo, darling, we are not. You made yourself particularly clear on that point
when | came out of hospital.0

She shook her head.

A dond remember about that.0 She laughed. AWho told you what Aunt Agnes
thoughtd Laura?0

Carey blundered.

fiShe told her we were engaged.o

fiVleaning that Aunt Agnes told Laura, and that Laura told you. Quick worker,
arend you, Carey? Well, where do we go fromthere? Do | tell anyone?0



AY ou tell Miss Fane that we are not engaged.o

fReally?0

fANd that we have no interntion of being engaged.o

fiDo 170

fANd that we are, in fact, nothing but very good friends.o

fAre we?0 Her eyes blazed suddenly with green fire. fis that all?0

A think so. | should like you to do it at once. We are all in a false position.o

Tanis straightened up.

AY ou mean that Laura is in a false position. That is what you mean, isnd it?0

A said all of us.0

fBut you meant Laura. And of course, my dear, how right!0 Her face lit up
suddenly with a smile which had no enchantment this time, but a kind of vivid
mockery. fHow conpletely, entirely, delightfully right! Laura is for itd she is the
vamp who has separated two loving hearts! 1t& a marvellous stuation, isnd it? And
wond the aunts just lap it up! It should go down particularly well with Aunt Agnes,
you know. @e thou chaste as ice and pure as snow, thou shalt not escape calumny.6
That® what | learned at my school of drametic art. And how true! In other words,
darling Laurads name is going to be mud. And she wond even have had her fun first
0 or will she?0

The dark colour rushed into Carey® face. He stood rigidly still for a moment,
and then put his hands down into his pockets. His eyes stared at her with a kind of
raging contempt. There was a furious tension between them. He said,

fAY oudl go too far some day.o

Tanis went on smiling.

fiVieaning that youd like to murder me?0

At would be a pleasure.0

The words had a quiet edge to them They got under Tanis® skin. Anger,
passion, jealous rage, were so much incense at the shrine of her vanity. Contempt
pricked her. Her smile wert rigid. Her eyes stared.

He swung round and went to the door, but with his hand on it he turned again
and came back.

flLook here, Tanis, what@ the good of all this? Losing our tempers and having a
danging match doesnd get us anywhere. Wedre had some good times together,
havend we? And you dond wart to marry me any more than | want to marry you,
so whatés the use of stirring up trouble?0

Tanis dill had that queer fixed look. It came to him that there was something
familiar about itd familiar, and rather horrible. He had seen a cat look like thet,



watching a bird that had got away. Something about the rigid pose and dlitted eyes
brought the likeness too vividly to mind for comort.

She said quite slowly and clearly, fivyou have a nerve, Carey, havend youd even
if youbve logt it for flying?0

Her voice stopped, and everything stopped with it. There was a moment of
deadly silence before he said,

AThank you, Tanis, | think that& about enough. Dond you?o
This time he went out of the room and shut the door.



CHAPTER 13

When all the events of that evening were raked over and sifted out, there was to
be a curious changing of values. Some things that had appeared importart at the time
just dlipped away and were lost. Some which had hardly been noticed came under a
magnifying glass. A few things remained as they had seemed. It mettered to no one
that Laura and Carey had kissed behind the curtains, because no one but themselves
was ever to know of it. The fact that the door between Tanis® sitting-room and the
ground-floor room of the octagon tower had been carelesdy closed by the maid
who had been into draw the curtains was to assume a terrible importance. The bit of
gossip which Petra North brought hot-foot to Laura when she was dressing for
dinner maintained its significance.

There had been some music. Tanis had sung. She had a lovely limpid voice
worthy of better music than the dance tunes which she sighed or crooned to her own
flashing accompaniment. It was all very clever, very finished, very modern.

Miss Fane looked across the room and said in her deep-toned voice, AThat®
enough of that horrible stuff. Sing something civilized for a change.0 Whereupon
Tanis, smiling, struck a familiar chord and sang Who is Sylvia? with great sweetness
and delicacy.

fAiThen to Sylvia let us sing.
For Sylviais excelling.

She excels each mortal thing
Upon this dull earth dwelling.
To her let us garlands bring.0

As the words tripped out, Miss Fanes eyes rested upon the singer, and not hers
only. Alistair Maxwell, propping the wall, fixed her with a gaze of such intensity that
it was plain enough thet, for him at least, here was Syivia with each excelling grace.

It was after this that the party dispersed. Miss Fane wert to her room, and
Laura thankfully to hers with the immemorial excuse of a letter to write. The
dressing-gong had sounded, when there was a knock on the door immediately
followed by the appearance of Petra North.

fiCan | come in? Laura, guess who here! But you wondd not everd 18l have
to tell youlo Her grey eyes were round and dancing. fiYou know, we were talking
about Jeff Hazelton, Tanis husband, only of course he isnd nowd well, heds herel 0

Laura looked up from the stocking she was changing, leaving it half on, half off a



pretty bare foot.

fHow do you mean here? They havend made it up, have they?0

Petra leaned on the rail of the bed.

AOf course they haven@d theyGre divorced. But | didnd mean here in the house
o | meant down in the village.0

Laura pulled up her stocking and fastened it.

fWheat is he doing there?0

fiStaying at the Angel.0

fHow do you know?0

Petra straightened up and did a couple of dance steps.

fAhal Wouldnd you like to know!d She gave quite a good high kick. fDid you
know | once had a dancing part in a play with Tanis? Not professional of course, but
| dond dance badly. | did have leanings towards the stage, instead of which | put in
umpteen hours a day sorting out the most revolting clothes for the bombed.o

Laura fastened the second stocking.

fis that what you do?0

Petra nodded mournfully.

AGrHMY isnd it?0

fAre the clothes really revolting? What a shame! 0

AANything® revolting when youdve been sorting it for umpteen hours.0 She took
a flying jump on to the bed by Laura and caught her hand. fiDond leté talk about it
0 |1&mhaving a holiday. Letés talk about Jeff.0

Laura couldnd help laughing.

fBut it was you who changed the subject.0

Arhat was only to get you al worked up. You dond know the rules. Now we go
back to you asking me how | know about Jeff.0

fwWell, how do you know?0

fBecause Robin told me.o

fANd how does Robin know?0

Petra let go of her hand and settled herself against the rail at the foot of the bed.

fvWell, after you went upstairs Carey and Robin dragged Alistair off for a walk
0 and about time too, if you ask me. They said they wanted exercise, so they wert
the long round to the village and fetched up at the Angel. And there was Jeff,
drinking himself blindd he does, you know.o

Al thought you said it was dope.o

Petras face sharpened.

Al told you Tanis said so. She did. | didnd say anything. But everyone knows he



drinksd thered no light under a bushel about that. Well, there he was, all lit-up and
talking big about why should he be out in the cold when there was a party up at the
Priory, and he wasn@ an outcast, was he, and things like that. Robin says he
wouldnd@ put it past him to come along up and crash the gate. Dond@ you hope he
does?

Laura looked appalled.

fiOh, no!o

Petra jumped up, laughing and mimicking her.

fiOh, no! Oh, no! Oh, yes, yes, yes, yes, yes! Dond be such a mimsy, Laural
Wouldng you like to see Tanis taken down a peg or two? Wouldn& you like to see
her up to her knees in mud? Wouldnd you like to rub her face init?0

Ad smply hate it,0 said Laura frankly, fand so would you. And wede both
going to be late if we dond hurry up and dress.0

She got down in time to see Miss Fane make her entrance. The door to the
octagon room stood wide. She could see a background of crimson curtain, and then
out through the doorway, alone and unassisted, came Agnes Fane in her self-
propelling chair. She wore a long robelike garment of black velvet with fur at the
neck and wrists, and she had changed the pearls at her ears for long ruby and
diamond drops which winked and caught the light. The rugs were so arranged as to
leave an open lane of parquet. Just short of the hearth there was a left-hand turn.
Miss Fane took it dexterously and came to rest in the place which she had occupied
a tea-time. A tall, thin woman in grey stepped into the room for a moment and
stepped back again, closing the door.

Laura approached a little timidly. It seemed to her that in this house for one right
thing you might do or say there were a hundred wrong ones, and that any one of the
hundred might do irreparable harm. 1t was a thoroughly unnerving thought.

But Miss Fane was pleased to be gracious.

fATanis will show you the house tomorrow. It is better seen by daylight. | always
think a room without the view from its windows is like a blind person, and to be
more practical we have not completely blacked out some of the rooms which are not
in use. There are only a few, now that we have evacuees in the north wing.... Oh,
didnd Tanis tell you that? She® not very pleased about their coming, but they are
really no trouble at all. These things are just a matter of arrangement. There are a
dozen of themd two families, really very nice peopled and we have been able to fit
them in very well. The servantsdquarters are in the north wing, you know, with the
kitchen and offices on the ground floor and a separate staircase. | have fitted therr
up a kitchen of their own where they can cook on oil and not be in Mrs. Dean



way. It works perfectly.o

Laura thought, PAnything she arranged would work perfectly.0 There was so
much poise, so much certainty about Agnes Fane. It was quite easy to believe that
everything in her household would be ordered with unsparing efficiency.

The others came ind Tanis in a gold house-coat, her eyes very green; Lucy
Adams in one of those black satin dresses which look as if they had been dept in for
years, Miss Silver in brown velveteen; the three men; and, flying in as the sound of
the gong was dying away, Petra in sealing-wax red with her lips and nails made up to
meatch.

After dinner Miss Fane and Miss Adams played chess and Miss Silver knitted.
The rest talked, played games and talked again, with the exception of Alistair
Maxwell who sat silent and moody with his eyes on Tanis Lyle. Petra talked enough
for half a dozen. Her colour rose, her eyes shone, and egged on by Robin and
Carey, she gave them flashing imitations of the great lady who was the very nominal
head of her Clothes for the Bombed; the anxious, nervous little secretary who did
everyone® work and got nobody® thanks, the stout lady who explained in
embarrassing detail just how she felt and what she looked like when the blast of a
bomb blew her clothes fclean off of herd and me in my you-know-wheats, and
blimey if Jerry didn@ send another one along and strip me bare!o

She had got to the meek little man who wanted to know if they could help hir
with a rabbit-hutch because his was all broke-up, when the door opened and the
butler was seen to be standing there. If the word could be used in connection with
anyone so solid and respectable, Dean was flurried. Without coming into the room
he fixed an entreating gaze on Tanis and said across the space which separated
them,

Af | might speak to you for a moment, missd 0

She got up, and had almost reached the door, when there appeared beyond it a
tall, shaking figure. Head dumped forward, long hair falling dishevelled across a
brow glistening with sweat, Jeffrey Hazelton stared over Dean® massive shoulders
at the girl who had been his wife.

He made a forward lunge. Dean stood his ground, and in a moment Tanis had
reached the door. She said,

fHow do you do, Jeff?0 And then, AiThat will do, Deand you neednd wait.0

The group she had left saw the butler step aside, saw her put a hand upon
Hazeltonds shaking arm, and saw no more. The door closed.

The ladies in front of the fire continued their game of chess. Miss Silver knitted.
The door being in line with the hearth, she was the only one of the three far enough



out in the room to have seen Mr. Hazelton® brief appearance. She knitted, but her
eyes remained fixed upon the door, and she had afterwards to unravel a couple of
rows.

Petra said in a breathless whisper, fiThat was Jeff Hazelton! o and all of a sudden
there was a loud crash from the halld the sound of a shot and the ring of breaking
gass. Lucy Adams, the white queen in her hand, looked up, drew a sharp breath,
and screamed at the top of her voice. Miss Silver dropped her knitting and reached
the door only a shade after the three men, Laura and Petra behind.

The hall was brightly lighted. It smelled of smoke. A barely discernible hint of
blue hung on the upper air. One of the ring of lighted sconces was missing. There
was a glitter of shivered crystal on the parguet floor, thin dlivers that looked like ice,
and scattered grains like sugar. Tanis was standing in the middle of the open space,
and, holding to the left-hand newel-post of the stair, Jeffrey Hazelton swayed and
shook with a pistol hanging limply from his hand.

fArold you I& do itd and 16ved done itd havend I? Who saysd | cand shoot
straight?0 He raised the pistol and described a wavering half circle, finishing up with
a dtraight enough aim at Tanis. fiShoot youd before 10 let anyone elsed have you.
Whatés divorce? | say youde my wife! Anyone says youdre notd 18l shoot himd
greatest of pleasure.0

Alistair Maxwell mede a thrust forward, but Carey and his brother Robin pulled
him back.

Tanis said sweetly, fDond be a damned fool, Alistair!o She began to walk
towards the stairs. f/And dond you be a fool either, Jeff! We all know youde a
crack shot without your breaking Aunt Agnes® glass. | thought you said you wanted
to talk to me. Well, 16m not talking to anyone who@ flourishing around with a gund |
dond like them.0

She was within arm@ length of him, when he let go of the newel, reached out,
and caught her by the shoulder. Leaning there, shaking, he brought the pistol up and
pressed the muzze hard against her breast. Six people watched him do it. Three of
them were young, active men, and they might just as well not have been there at all.
Worse. It needed only a movement, an outcry, even a caught breath, to bring
catastrophe. The shaking finger halted on the trigger, but jangle those driven nerves
and it would fall. Even Alistair, blind with passion, knew that.

Tanis lifted her eyesin a steady look.

fwell, Jeff? Dond you wart to talk to me?0 She smiled a little and put up her
hand to the one which held the pistol. Her fingers moved on it caressingly, her voice
dropped and changed. She said, fideff darlingd how silly!oand all at once he broke.



His hand wavered and wert limp. The pistol fell. He put his head down on her
shoulder and began to sob in alost, bewildered way.

Airanisd Tanisd Tanislo

And then they were on him. He made no resistance at all. There was no need for
any force. A broken creature, saying Tanis® name over and over between
heartbroken sobs.

Carey bent to pick up the pistol. As he straightened himself he came face to face
with Tanis standing on the bottom step, the tall newel behind her, a look of triumph
on her face. Her gold dress shone. Her green eyes glinted. She had never been so
nearly beautiful. The poor sobbing wretch whom Robin was shepherding back to the
Angel was nothing more to her than the occasion for this triumph. She had had her
big scene with him, and she had played him right off the stage. Nunc plaudite, as
they used to say in the old comediesd and now for the applause.

They went back into the drawing-room, and she got it in full measure. Lucy
Adams was hysterical in endearment, and Alistair suddenly full of words with which
to praise and exalt her. If Agnes Fane was pale and stern, there was a high pride in
her bearing as she turned to Carey with the brief comment,

fATanis does not know what fear means.0 Then, in a lowered tone, AWhat has
been done with him? There must not be any scandal.o

fAThere wond be any. Robin will see him to bed. Hed going to get old Jones to
come over and give him something to put him to deep. Then wedl go down in the
morning and pack him back to town. | take it Dean wond talk.o

Agnes Fane said, fiNo,0and then, AiThank you, Carey.o

She turned to Tanis, who had taken the pistol from Carey and was balancing it
on the palm of her hand as she talked.

fAranis, put that thing down! There has been quite enough playing with firearms. |
suppose it is Mr. Hazelton property, but he is certainly not fit to be trusted with it.
It had better be locked away.o

Tanis said, fitGs mine.o

fHow isit yours?0

fHe had a pair. This one is mine. He gave it to me.0

Miss Fane looked down her nose.

fWhat a singular present! Do you mean to tell me that Mr. Hazelton has
probably got the other one?0

Tanis laughed.

Al should say certainly.0

fAirhen ités most unsafe.0



fOh, he won@ do anything nowd he was all in. All right, Aunt Agnes, 18l put it
away.o

She went out by the door to the octagon room, and through it to her own sitting-
room

Laura thought, fiShe® very, very brave. | ought to admire her, but | can@. That
poor creature had been her husband, and she doesn@ cared she doesnd care a bit.0
Petra, beside her, hummed under her breath:

fAThen to Sylvia let us sing,
For Sylviais excellingd o

Her cheeks were scarlet and her eyes brightly mutinous.
Alistair was saying, iWhere sheds so marvellousd 0

And then Tanis was back again, and Agnes Fane broke inin her deep voice.
fWhat have you done with it?0

fPut it in my bureau, darling.0



CHAPTER 14

Laura undressed and got into bed. It had been the longest day she had ever
known. She seemed to have travelled a thousand miles from the Laura Fane who
had come up to town to stay with Cousin Sophy and see her solicitor, not much
more than forty-eight hours ago. That there were other longer days ahead waiting to
drag out interminable hours of anxiety and pain, she fortunately did not know. She
had had a deliciously hot bath, she was relaxed and warm. The thought of Carey
was like something shining in her heart.

She was about to stretch out her hand and switch off the bed-side light, when
there was a knock at the door and Tanis Lyle came in. With a brief, A thought you
wouldnd be asleep yet,0 she crossed to the foot of the bed and stood there in a long
black dressing-gown over pale green pyjames. They were the sort of pyjamas which
suggested the bedroom scene in a West End play. Laura, who had never imagined
that they existed in private life, gazed at them entranced. The dressing-gown was
also very intriguingd a tailored garment of heavy, dull silk with a gold and green
curlicue on the pocket which was probably intended to be a monogram

She said, AWhat is it, Tanis?0 and Tanis Lyle came round the bed-post and sat
down with her back against it.

flust a talk,0 she said. AThered always such a crowd, and | want to talk to you
about Aunt Agnes and the house. SheGs mad keento buy itd you know that.o

Laura sat up straight against her pillows. She really did feel that this was the last
straw. It was bad enough to have quasi- parental pressure brought to bear upon her
by Mr. Metcalfe in his office, and to have Cousin Agnes being pathetic in the
drawing-room about wanting to see Tanis@ children grow up at the Priory, but to be
pursued at midnight and cornered in bed when you couldn@ possibly get away was
really the limit. Her eyes brightened and her colour rose as she said,

fiYes, | know she wants to buy itd but | dond think it& any good talking about
it, because | haven@ made up my mind. You cand do a thing like that ina hurry. 16ve
got to think first.0

AANd talk it overd oh, not with me, but shall we say with Carey Desborough.0

There was certainly no beating about the bush with Tanis. Whatever the situation
might be, she was right in the middle of it. In a way it made things easier, because
you knew where you were.

Laura kept a steady look and said,

fWhy do you say that?0



Atés true, isnd it?0

fWhat makes you think so, Tanis?0

Tanis laughed.

fiYou neednd fence, my dear. For the moment, and for what it& worth, Carey
seems to have fallen for you. It wond lastd his affairs never dod but here and now
he® gone in off the deep end, and you wond get me to believe that he hasnd told
you S0.0

Laura had turned rather pale. She said,

Al &m not trying to make you believe anything.o

Tanis swung a bare foot from which the soft black dlipper had fallen.

fWell, that being that, suppose we get down to brass tacks. As | was saying,
Carey has certainly told you that he has fallen for you, but | dond suppose it has
occurred to him to tell you that he has quite a big income. Old Desborough was in
iron and steel. There used to be pots of money, and | believe itds still quite a tidy sur
0 infact our Carey is a catch. [t& one of the things he® modest about, so | dond
suppose hes mentioned it.0

Laura said, fiN0.0 She had a bewildered, driven feeling.

fin fact, you were prepared to love him for himself alone. Too romeartic! What a
pity heGs engaged to me.o

Laura said nothing. Her eyes spoke for her. Wide and indignant, they gave Tanis
the lie. And Tanis laughed.

fiVly dear, do you really believe every word he says? Anyhow the poirt is that if
| say we are engaged, everyone will believe me, and the aunts will swear to it. If
Carey backs out, there will be the most awful stink, and your name, my dear, will be
simply and utterly mud. | dond think youdre stupid, so you can probably see that for
yourself. You come in from outside, you smash up my engagement just as your
mother smashed Aunt Agnests, and what do you expectd that people will receive
you with open arms? All right, you just go ahead and try! Only dond say | didnd
warn you.o

fAilanis!o

Tanis bent down to retrieve her shoe, soft and black like the coat, with the same
green and gold monogram. She dipped it on and turned a sudden smile on Laura.

fDond go up in smoke. Theres away outd if youdl take it.0

For a moment Laura had been angrier than she had ever been in her life before.
Now suddenly she was cool. She thought, fiShe did that on purposed she wanted
to make me angry. Why?0 She got the answer to her own questiond fivyou dond
think when youdre angry. Sheés got something up her deeve. She doesnd wart me to



have time to think.0 She said,

A dond know what you mean.o

Tanis nodded.

fiNot yet. But you willd 16m going to tell you. If you and Carey mean business
youde in a jam, and 1Gm the only person who can get you out of it. As it happers, |
dond mind doing a deal. You and Carey want my help. If | go to the aunts and tell
them that Carey and | made up our minds months ago that wed hate being married
to each other, there wonG be any stink. They wond like it, but theydl have to lump it.
Well, 16m prepared to do that if youdl do something for me.o

Laura thought, What& coming? What she going to say? | dond like it. Wheat
am | going to say?0 For the moment she said nothing, only kept her eyes on Tanis,
sitting straight up against the white pillows in her pink night-dress.

fiYou dond ask what it is? Well, ité this Priory business. You can have Carey if
00

Af | sell the Priory to Cousin Agnes.o

Tanis leaned back. Her eyes were wide and smiling. Her lips smiled too. She
said in a gracious, easy voice,

fOh, no, my deard it®& not that way at all. You can have Carey if you promise
not to sell.o

It was so unexpected that Laurads rising anger just fell down flat. Astonishment
left her with nothing to say but a primitive, childish,

fwhat 2?0

Tanis was smilingly pleased to explain.

A dond want Aunt Agnes to buy the Priory. 1ad much rather have the twelve
thousand pounds.o

Laura said filOhd 0 She thought, Al ém behaving as if | was half-witted. | suppose
she knows what shes driving at. She can do the talking herself.0 She waited with an
air of grave expectancy which exasperated Tanis to the very quick of her bones.

AWell?0 she said a little sharply. Asit adeal?0

Laura shook her head.

A want to know why.o

Tanis laughed.

fiCards on the table? All rightd | dond mind. But | should think it was fairly
obvious. The aunts want me to settle down. They want to bring the brat here and
bring him up at the Prioryd o

Laura said, AWhat brat?0

fDidnG you know that Jeff and | had produced one? That& what gave the show



away. Rotten luck, wasn@ it? Well, anyhow there he is, up in the north with Jeff&
sister who is married to some ghastly parson. | havend seen him since he was about
amonth old, but Aunt Agnes keeps in touch. She® getting keener and keener about
the wretched bratd | believe she thinks he like your father. That® why shed dead
set on my marrying Carey. You seg, it al right for Mrs. Desborough to have a son
by a former marriage, but when it comes to Miss Lyle and her little boy, Aunt Agnes
mercifully blanches. So 16ve been able to stave it al off up to date, but if she bought
the Priory shed never rest until she got Bill here and me married to someone, just to
put us on the County map. You dond know what shed like when she® set on
anything. 16se a pretty good will of my own, but I1Gm simply not in Aunt Agnes®
class. Besides she® got the whip hand of me over the money. She knows perfectly
well that if it comes to the pinch | wond risk being cut out of her will.o

Laura went on looking at her. She was horrified, fascinated, and intensely
interested. Her face showed only a grave attention. It would have given Tanis a lot of
pleasure to smack it. It was not civilization that restrained her, but a determination to
get her own way. Laura, slapped, would certainly prove recalcitrant. She therefore
exercised considerable seif-control, and after a silence which Laura showed no signs
of breaking returned to the charge.

fWell, there you ared if she can@ have the Priory, shedl let up on getting me
married and having the brat. Isit a deal?0

Even then Laura did not speak at once. She continued to look thoughtful. At last
she said,

Al dond likeit, Tanis.0

fWhat do you mean?0

Al dond like any of itd going behind Cousin Agnes® back, andd andd making
abargain. | dond likeit.0

Tanis got to her feet. The movement was a graceful oned al her movements
were gracefuld but it came a thought too quickly upon Laurads words. She said,

fiSqueamishd arend you. Better think it over. If you sell youdl get twelve
thousand pounds and you wond get Careyd unless youd like to steal him and take
the consequences like your mother did. If you dond sell, even the aunts cand say
very much, for after al the darned place does belong to you, and 1dl smooth out the
Carey business. Think it over. 1Gn going to bed.o

Laura lay awake a long time in the dark. There was a high wind moving outside.
The casement which she had set open creaked. She could see the shape of the
window where she had drawn the curtain back. The wind and that faint creaking
sound ran like an accompaniment below her thoughts and kept them moving to an



odd reluctant rhythm. Careyd the Prioryd Tanisd the child who was somewhere up
in the northd Lilian and Oliverd the little boy who was like Oliverd Agnes Fare,
with her heart set on himd threads shifting, tangling, lacing and interlacing.... Only
one way with atangled cut it out and start al over again. Drifting into her thoughts
the phrase, read somewhere or heardd fAtropos with the shears.a.. The drift wert
on and took her into Seep.

She dreamed she was walking with Carey in the ruined church. The air was
dark. Someone was crying. They went among the fallen stones towards the broken
atar at the east end. It was thelr marriage, but she wasnd dressed as a bride. She
was wearing her black lace dress and the Chinese shawl. It was very cold. She put
out her hand to find Carey, and he wasnd there. She was alone with that desolate
weepingd

She woke, shuddering, and it was a long time before she dept again.



CHAPTER 15

Next morning Tanis took her round the house. There were a great many roons,
afew of which were permanently unused, and others only in occasional use as guest-
rooms. The north wing besides accommodating a staff of five also found place for
two families of evacuees. Each family had a large room fitted with bunks as a
dormitory, and a smaller one which they could use as they liked. There was a
bathroom at their disposal upstairs, and a bathroom and a kitchen below.

Laura met Mrs. Judd, small and wiry, coping cheerfully with communal life in the
country and controlling an aged grandmother and four lively children with brisk
efficiency. She also met Mrs. Slade, a limp person with a mother-in-law, three
children and a flapper sister. The mother-in-law was bedridden but dynamic, the
flapper sister as pert as they come, the children spoiled and vociferous. Mrs. Slade,
whose husband was at sea, yearned for Rotherhithe with its crowded, noisy streets,
and conffided in all and sundry that if it came to a choice between being bombed and
having to do another winter in the country, she was going back and she didnd care
who knew it.

Tanis was not disposed to linger. She took Laura down the back sairs,
remarking, fivyou wond want to see the kitchen and all that sort of thing,0 and led the
way back to the hall.

fiyoudre seen the dining-room. Aunt Agnes has a sort of office in this room
opposite. She only uses it for business. You can look in if you liked she wond be
there. 1tGs all filing cabinets and things like that. Too bleak.o

They went through the hall to the drawing-room.

fiYou can see the view now, such asit is. 1t quite good in the summer when the
roses are out, but ités grim at present.o

The three west windows looked upon a paved terrace which ran the whole
width of the house. Beyond were rose-beds, dark against clipped green turf.
Beyond the beds there was a wide green lawn with a magnificent cedar, the whole
enclosed by a yew hedge, tall and black, with arches cut in it here and there. It was
not the best of days for seeing a garden. The wind had dropped. The sky was grey.
A mist obscured the distant view.

Laura moved on to the south window from which she and Carey had looked last
night. The west wall of the Priory church ran level with the inner wall of the drawing-
room, and the terrace turned the corner to meet it, forming rather a charming little
courtyard. Pressed into the angle between the church and the house, and partly built



into the latter, was the octagon tower running up to a pepper-pot roof topped by a
weathercock. The ruin, seen in the daylight, was very picturesque. The stone
traceries of the rose window had by some miracle remained intact. A yellow jasmine
bloomed against the wall. Across the tower a great camellia spread its shining
emerald leaves. It was thick with bud. Near the middle of the bush a half-expanded
flower shore like a scarlet jewel. Laura was enchanted. The place was an enchanted
place. If she could only have been there aloned

She turned reluctantly from the window and followed Tanis to the door through
which Miss Fane had made her entrance the night before. Open, it disclosed an
empty room with a polished floor, whose octagon shape showed only on the side
towards the church, the right-hand side being flattened off to take the lift. On the left
two archaic lancet windows flanked by straight crimson curtains looked into the
church, and between them, partly concealed by the velvet folds, was a stout oak
door with a heavy ironlock and hinges.

Tanis pushed aside the curtains, turned a portentous key, and pulled the door
towards her. 1t opened without a sound. Somehow Laura had expected the hinges
to groan and the key to grate in the lock, but there wasn@ a sound. She was to
remember that afterwards.

She moved, and found herself at the top of eight or nine steps leading down into
the church. Immediately she had the feeling that she had seen this place before. Only
there was something wrong about it. She ought to be standing down there on the
rough grass looking up at the steps. It came to her that she had dreamed about
standing at the bottom of the steps, and that the dream had frightened her.

Tanis was saying, iThe drop to the church is a bit of a surprise, isnd it? But the
house is built up on a plinth to make room for cellars underneath. The seventeenth
century was great on cellars.0

As she spoke, the telephone bell rang. She stepped back and went through the
door which had faced them as they came from the drawing-room, leaving it open
behind her. Laura caught a glimpse of pale, unusual panelling and sea-green curtains
o windows looking to the front of the house and into the church. She stood where
she was, not liking to follow, and heard Tanis say in a warm, pleased voice,

fOh, Timd ités you!lo

She moved towards the drawing-room, but before she could reach the door
Tanis was speaking again.

fOh, yes, youde going to see me. Come over and dance tonight. Wedve got a
houseful.... Yes, of course | mean Sylvia too. Better come to dinner. | expect the
food will go round, and if it& rabbit you wond@ know, because Mrs. Dean



camouflages it till nobody can swear theyGre not eating pheasant or anything else she
likes to call it. Actually, | believe, webve really got pheasant, so how you can just
keep guessing.... Well, youdl be over at eight?... That will be divine. Love to Sylvia.C

She rang off, and found Laura in the drawing-room.

fiHow tactful! But | never talk compromising secrets with the door open. That
was Tim Madison. He and Sylvia are dining, and wedl dance afterwards. Hets Navy
0 waiting for a board to pass him fit for sea again after being bombed or torpedoed
or something. HeGs practically all right again. Irish, and the most perfect partner.o

AANd Sylvia?0

Tanis shrugged.

fHis wife. ThatGs the trouble with sailorsd they will marry.o

fDond you like her?0

Tanis laughed with genuine amusement.

Al should adore anyone Tim had married.0



CHAPTER 16

Tanis went away, and with suspicious promptness Carey walked in.

fiGo and get a coat and 18l show you the ruins.0

He saw her hesitate. She said,

Al dond knowd 0

A do. Go and get that coat. Wedre got to talk, and ités quite a good excuse.0

She ran upgtairs feeling a little as if she were playing hide-and-seek. But it was
no good, she had got to talk to Carey. Quite as passionately as Mrs. Slade she
longed to be back in London where nobody noticed where you went or whom you
met.

In the passage outside her bedroom she almost ran into Miss Adams, who was
emerging from her own room opposite. Stopping to apologize, she found herself
unwillingly engaged in conversation. Since Cousin Lucy quite obviously didliked her,
it was impossible to guess why she should wish to converse. It was equally
impossible to escape.

In the cold tone which was in such marked contrast to her usual way of
speaking, Miss Adams began with what might have been either a question or a
statement.

ATanis has been taking you round the house.0

Laura assented, and Lucy Adams wert on.

At& a fine house, and interesting to those who value its associations, but of
course it is not a cheap house to run, especially nowadays.o

Laura supposed not.

fVery expensived very expensive indeed. And meids are so difficult to get in the
country nowadays. This is my room. | think you havend seen any of these rooms. |
will show them to you.0 There was a suggestion of effort in voice and manner, as if
she had set herself an uncongenial task and meant to carry it through.

Laura beheld a room which she found distressingly pink. Victorian furniture,
grave and heavy, appeared at variance with rose-coloured Axminster on the floor
and rose-coloured damask at the windows. There was a pink bedspread which was
a little out of key, and rose-flowered china which reminded her of the set in Cousin
Sophy& guest-room. There was some kind of flowered paper on the walls, but
amost every inch of it was covered by innumerable sketches, photographs, and
engravings of famous pictures. MillaisbHuguenot hung above the mantelpiece in a
frame of yellow maple. From it Laurads bewildered eye wandered over every sort of



picture in every imagnable sort of frame. The furniture vied with the walls in
supporting photographs of every relation and friend Lucy Adams had ever had.
Above all there were pictures of Tanis as a baby, Tanis as a child, Tanis in her teens,
Tanis as a debutante, Tanis up to date.

Laura got no farther than the threshold. The room repelled her. She murmured
something, and Miss Adans knocked on the next door and then opened it. The tall,
thin woman in grey whom she had seen for a moment the night before looked up
from her fine sewing. She had a long nose and pale bitten-in lips without colour.
There was no colour about her anywhere. The eyes she turned on Laura were sharp
and pale.

fAirhis is your Cousin Agnes® maid, Perry. She has been with usd for forty
years, isit?0

fForty-one, Miss Lucy.0

Laura came forward to shake hands, but somehow Perry®& hand was not there
to shake. That appraising stare and some dlight inclination of the head were her limit
of response. Laura thought of Carey waiting below. She had a sense of time
prolonging itself indefinitely in this unwilling company.

But Miss Adams turned to the door on the right.

fAgnes has gone down, so | can show you her room.0

Laura felt a reluctance beyond her power to conceal. She hesitated, began to
say something, and was caught in the tide of Miss LucyGs offence.

fReally, Laural Perhaps you will allow me to know what Agnes would wish. But
since you are so scrupulous, | will tell you that she asked me to show you these
rooms.o0

Laura coloured faintly, murmured something which never really got into words,
and followed a dtiffly erect Miss Adams into a room as unlike her own as it was
possible to conceived fine old furniture; rich, quiet colours, no fuss, no frills, no
photographs, walls covered with a heavy cream paper; marble mantelpiece
supporting a modern atmospheric clock; and, hanging above it to the right and left of
the chimney-breast, Armoryés portraits of Lilian Ferrers and Oliver Fare.

Laura had grown up with the copies, but here in the space and austere dignity of
Agnes Fane® room the originals rather took her breath away. She felt soothed and
charmed by their beauty, and then deeply and painfully moved. What had kept the
portraits there? Was it courage, pride, stoic endurance, or the perverted instinct
which sets pain above pleasure and presses it home to the self-tortured heart? For
twenty-two years Oliver and Lilian had hung where Agnes Fane must see them
morning by morning and night by night, they in their youth and strength the world



before themd this world or anotherd lovely and pleasart in their lives and divided
for so short a time by death. And Agnes barren and a cripple, deserted and
betrayedd how had she looked at them through al the mornings and evenings of
those twenty-two years?

Lucy AdamsGs voice struck in coldly.

AThey are valuable portraits, but | do not care for oil paintings in a bedroom.
They are Agnes property of course. They do not go with the house, but if you sell
the house, they will remain here. It would be very much to your advantage to accept
Agness very generous offer. 1 hope you will do s0.0

Laura was embarrassed, and under the embarrassment angry. Cousin Lucy had
no business to try and corner her like this. It wasn@ fair. She said in a hesitating
Voice,

A dond knowd | dond thinkd please, Cousin Lucy, need we talk about it?0

There was sharp offence againd very unpleasant and trying. As soon as she
could Laura escaped.

She found Carey very impatient indeed.

fAY oudre been hours!o

fiCousin Lucy caught me.o

He took her to the octagon room and down the steps into the ruined church,
where the place was rough with fallen masonry, but up the middle of what had been
the nave there was a clear grassy path. As they walked on it together Laura thought,
Até& what | dreamt last nightd Carey and | walking up the aide to be married.o She
said quickly,

A dreamt about us last night. We were being marriedd here. Only | was in my
black lace dress and my Chinese shawl.0

A&l love you to be married in thet.o

She laughed.

fldn afraid it wouldn@ do.o

flLaura, when will you marry me?0

She looked up, and down again. Something in his voice had shaken her heart.
She said,

fY ou dond@ know me.o

Al love you.0

fBut you dond know me, Carey.o

She was looking up at him again, letting him see what was in her eyes and
reading love, amusement, tenderness in his.

fDond |, my sweet? | think | do. Shall | tell you what | knew after half an hour



a the Luxe? | knew that you were kind, honest, and justd dreadfully honest,
scrupuloudly just. | knew that you were very, very sweet, and | wondered if you
were going to be sweet to me. | knew that you couldnd tell a lie to save your life, or
act one that would deceive a month-old baby. You didna talk very much, but you
thought quite a lot. The things you were thinking showed in your face and in your
eyes. 1tGs the nicest way of talking | know. When are you going to marry me?0

She said very soberly, i dond know.0 And then, ATanis came to My room last
night. She said she would tell Cousin Agnes that she wasnd engaged to you and
never had been, if | would promise not to sell the house.0

Carey whistled.

fiNot to sl it?0

Laura nodded.

fiShe doesnd warnt it. She doesnd warnt to live here. Shed rather have the
twelve thousand pounds. She said s0.0

flust what did she say?0

Lauratold him. When she had finished, he said,

AWell, it not really very surprising. | can see her point of view all right. This
place is all very well as a background with Miss Fane to run it. It& no bother to
Tanisd she can come down whenever she likes, bring a party whenever she
chooses. But she doesnd want to meke it her life work. She wants to go to
Hollywood.o

Laura looked unhappy.

A dond know what to do. | cand bear making a bargain with her behind Cousin
Agness back.o

fNod | see. But nobody& going to make Tanis live here if she doesn@ wart to.
Shed sell the place as soon as Miss Fane was gone.0

Laura said, il dond know what to do. | wish | had never come here.0



CHAPTER 17

When Laura had left her, Lucy Adams remained in her cousinG bedroom. She
was looking up at the portraits, when the door from the dressing-room was pushed
open and Perry stalked in. She came up close and said in an angry whisper,

fwWell, what did | tell you, Miss Lucy? She® not a Fane for nothing, nor a
Ferrers neitherd not in her looks nor in her ways! &hedl be glad enough to sell the
housebwas what you said to me. And what did | say to you, Miss Lucy? d~anes
isnd as easy as that,0that® what | said and you cand get away from it. And |
havend lived with them going on forty-one years without knowing. @ond you count
no chickens, Miss Lucy,6l said, Gor maybe you wond hatch none.6And now there
isnd any maybe about it. She wond sell, and youd best be making up your mind to
it.o

fiShe didnd say that she wouldn@ sell,0 said Lucy Adams in a vacillating tone.

PerryGs long nose twitched in a sniff.

fiShe didnd@ say that pigs wouldnd fly neither. There® things that dond need
saying. She didnd say she wouldnd sell. dNeed we talk about it, Cousin Lucy?®
that® what she said, as | couldn@ help hearing, seeing youd left the door on the jar
0 and | dond know what more you wart than that. Them that& willing to sell is
willing to talk.o

fiOh, | dond@ know.o

fiYou can put wond for dond, Miss Lucy. There® none so deaf as those that
wond hear. Wedl best make up our minds to it, and be ready to turn out when Miss
Laura gives the word.o She stalked out of the room without waiting for an answer.

About ten minutes later Miss Adams, who had returned to her own bedroom,
heard a very perfunctory knock which was immediately followed by the entrance of
Perry, in a state of repressed triumph.

Af | could trouble you, Miss Lucyd 0

Lucy Adams was startled and annoyed. She had been caught with her front off,
and Perry had eyes like gimlets. From now on every time Perry looked at her she
would be seeing, not the decorous auburn waves, but the sadly widened parting
which they concealed.

Awhat isit, Perry?0

fWell may you ask! Seeing® believing, and when youdre seen with your own
eyes what 10ve seen, perhaps youdl believe me. When Miss Agnes told me she was
asking Miss Laura to come down here, | said to her then, dMiss Agnes,61 said,



avho brought the trouble into this housed Miss Lilian Ferrers. And if you ask Miss
LilianGs daughter here, itGs my belief youdl be asking trouble again.do

Miss Adams fixed her front with a couple of hasty pins, and said in a fluttered
voice which she tried to make repressive,

fWhat is it? Really, Perry, you startled me very much.o

Perry stood aside from the door.

fiYou come with me, Miss Lucy, and youdl see for yourself. Nobody& ever
called me a tell-tale yet, but seeing® believing. If youdl just step into the octagon
roomd 0

They came into it together, Perry a step behind. Like the room downstairs it was
empty of furniture, with a bare floor and the lift on the inner side, but instead of the
oak door and the lancet windows of the ground floor there was one large recessed
window with a deep window- seat cushioned in red damask to match the curtains.

flLook for yourself, Miss Lucy!0

Lucy Adams came up to the window and looked out. What she saw had been
familiar to her al her life. The whole length of the ruined church lay before her, but
about a third of the way up the nave Carey Desborough was standing with Laura
Fane. They stood by a broken pillar with the grass under their feet and the grey sky
overhead. They were not speaking. They were not standing very near together. They
were looking at one another. And if they had been strained heart to heart, lips
meeting in some ardent kiss, their love could not have been more plainly shown. It
was there as a presence, as a fact. It flowed from them and surrounded them. It was
in the look that each had for the other. It was tenderness, confidence, passionate
dadness, a wellspring of hope. There was no need of word, or touch, or kiss.

Perry said with that note of austere triumph,

fiYou can see for yourself, Miss Lucy. Miss Lilian al over againd that® what
sheisd 0O

A faint familiar sound checked the words upon her lips. She turned, stepped
back a pace. Lucy Adams turned too, with the hurried movement of a child caught
doing some forbidden thing.

The sound was the sound of the lift gate opening. Agnes Fanes chair came out.
She drove it straight to the window, passing between her cousin and her maid
without a look at either of them. Sitting there, controlled and upright with a crimson
leather cushion at her back, she could see what they had seen. Carey and Laura had
not moved. The tranced moment held them

Agnes Fane looked for as long as you might draw a breath. Lucy Adams held
hers. Her face twitched and she put up her hand to it. But Agnes Fane showed



nothing at al. She looked, and then she put her chair into reverse and, turning, went
through the open door, across the passage, and into her own room.



CHAPTER 18

In the late afternoon as the dusk began to fall, Laura escaped to the garden and
walked there. She had a longing to be in the cold air and to be alone, and she had a
fancy to walk just once, just by herself, in this place which had belonged to so many
Fanes and now was hers. She could not feeld she wondered if she would ever feel
0 that the house belonged to her. It was full of adien thoughts, alien livesd thoughts
which rejected her, and lives in which she had no part. But a garden was different. It
dept its January deep, but its thoughts and dreams were its own. They belonged to
something older than Agnes Faned older than any of the Fanes who had walked
here, touched its surface with their whims, and passed away. She thought there might
be something for her in the garden if she looked for it.

She found grass that was green in a sheltered spot about a sundial scarred with
lichen. She could not read what was written on the dial. The words had lapsed into
the dumb stone again. She found snowdrops in a drift under a leafless tree. It was
cold. She went bare-headed with a coat over her green dress. She found a holly
clipped to the shape of a peacock. She found great trees, and thought what they
must look like in their summer green.

She was on a path which twisted through the heart of a shrubbery set with
rhododendron, holly, and all manner of trees and bushes that would be sheeted with
bloom in the springd syringa, lilac, thorn, laburnum, currant, forsythiad when at a
turn of the path she came suddenly upon the sound of voices. There was a man®
racking sob, and then Petra speaking in a tone muted to utter tenderness.

fOh, my darlingd do you love her so much?0

For the moment Laura was too startled to move. She could not see where Petra
was. She could only guess that she and Alistair must be somewhere in the shrubbery,
and it was certain that they thought they were alone. She came back from her
shocked moment and turned to go. Alistairés voice followed her, suddenly loud.

fiSometimes | think | hate her!o

She put her fingers to her ears and ran breathlessly back along the path urtil it
Cleared the trees.

It was when she had gone up to dress for dinner that Petra knocked at the door
and camein.

fWas it you?0 she said without any preliminaries. Aln the shrubberyd just before
tea?0

She had been gay and vivacious downstairs. Now she looked pale and



determined.

Laurasaid, ives.o

Petrass face relaxed.

A thought it was, but | couldnd be sure. | didnd think anyone else would have
run away. How much did you hear?0

Laura answered quite simply.

Al heard you ask himif he loved her so much, and | heard him say sometimes he
hated her. Then | put my fingers in my ears and ran. 16m terribly sorry, Petrad |
didn@ mean to listen.o

Petra smiled. It was just a flash, there and gone again.

A dond mind you. |6 better when someone knows.0

Laura hesitated. Then she said,

fiDo you want to talk about it?0

Petra nodded.

AYesd it helpsd if itds the right person.o

Laura opened her lipsto speak, and then shut them again.

Petra laughed at her.

fiGo ond say it!0

Laura sad it.

MAlistair said hed hated her sometimes. But he is always saying how marvellous
sheis.0

The red sprang vividly into Petrats cheeksd red flames, and her eyes very bright
above them.

fDond you see, he® got to think her marvellous, or he® sunk. He minds about
med about hurting med about our engagement, and the way he® behaving. He
cand just do it and not care. He minds dreadfully. So he® got to think how
wonderful and marvellous and beautiful she is, or else there® nothing left. And
sometimes he cand hold on to it, and then 16ve got to be thered 16ve got to. It isnd
because | cand take it, or because 16m trying to keep himd it& for him. She does
something to mend they go crazyd something gets wrenched, twisted.0 She was
very pae again, her voice low and rapid, her eyes on Laura® face. fiaura,
sometimes 16m frightened of what he might dod 0 The last word failed as if her
breath had failed. Then with a sudden flashing change she flung her arms round
Lauraés neck and gave her alight, laughing kiss. AY ouGre nicel 0 she said, and ran out
of the room.



CHAPTER 19

Petra came inin her scarlet frock, and the two girls went down together.

Adm gad youdre wearing the same dress again too. But it wouldna really matter
what either of us wore, because Tanis would meke it look like something off a
bargain counter anyhow.o

Laura considered the gay little figure and laughed.

it would be a marvellous bargain counter.o

fiSoothing syrup! 1té& all very well for you, with that lovely Chinese shawl. But
youwaitd Tanis will go all out tonight. The Madisons are coming.0

fAY es, she told me about them.0

Petrass voice sharpened.

fDid she tell you she was smashing up their marriage, and that Sylvia is pretty
well off her head with jealousy, poor kid?0

fiN0.0

The Madisons arrived early. They came into a room which contained neither
Tanis nor Agnes Fane. They seemed to know the Maxwells and Carey Desborough
very well. Laura was the only stranger. By the time Petra had explained her Miss
Fane was making her entrance, very fine indeed in ruby velvet with the twinkling
earrings, and a great ruby and diamond jewel at her breast.

Laura had time to consider the Madisons. She saw a stocky man with a sailor &
walk, a hot blue eye, and a perfect conflagration of red hair. He hadnd a tenth of
Alistair Maxwell& good looks, but when he came into the room something came in
with himd something daring, resourceful, stick-at-nothing. The nearest Laura got to
it was, fHe looks like a pirate.0 The little Sylvia was quite eclipsed. She was young,
and she had no manner to cover her obvious unhappiness. She had been pretty in a
blond, fragile way, and she would be pretty again when she was happy again. Her
looks were not of the kind to stand a strain. She wore a pale blue dress which was
neither smart nor very well cut. The colour, which had once been flattering, now
emphasized a pallor which she had done nothing to mitigate.

Laura® eye, travelling from her to Petra North, approved her defiant scarlet and
the make-up which accompanied it. If you must wear the willow, it is better to carry
it gallantly.

Tanis Lyle came in. She wore a white chiffon frock. It was of a breath-taking
simplicity, and, as Petra murmured, it had probably cost the earth. It was a young
girlé dress. Tanis, wearing it, was a young girl again, her hair in smpler waves, a



string of pearls her only ornament. They were all to remember her like that.

She came smiling to the Madisons, laid a caressing touch on Sylvia® shoulder,
and bert to kiss a pale averted cheek. Laura had never seen her kiss anyone before.
It went through her mind as sharply as a knife that the kiss was a weapon, as surely
as the knife would itself have been. The hand, with its emerald and diamond ring,
stayed for a moment where it had rested. In that moment Tanis raised her eyes to
meet Tim Madisonés.

Laura felt rather than saw the spark which leapt between them. She wanted to
do something, say something. But it was the entry of Lucy Adams which broke the
tension. Flushed with hurry, on the edge of being late, clanking with chains, bangles
and assorted brooches, she plunged into the midst of the situation without the
dightest idea that it existed.

fHow do you do, Sylvia? Are you quite well? Youdre looking dreadfully pale.
You should drink more milk and go to bed early. You really look quite run down.
She quite lost her colourd hasnd she, Tanis? Mr. Madison, you should make her
go to bed quite early, and she should have a cup of milk at eleven, and another the
last thing. You mustnd let her lose her colour, you know. | remember it was the first
thing | noticed about her when she came here.0

The gong sounded in the hall as Miss Silver made a composed and unhurried
entrance, knitting-bag in hand.

After dinner they rolled up the rugs and danced in the drawing-room. Tanis had
all the latest records, and the floor was good. Laura danced with Carey. Tomorrow
she would be gone. All day long she had been counting the hours, but now for a little
while in Carey& arms she could have wished them to stand still. She said in an
almost soundless voice,

fl & going back to Cousin Sophy tomorrow.o

fdl drive you up.o

fBetter not.0

A dl drive you and Petra then.o

Laura nodded.

Arhat might do.o

Tanis danced with Tim Madison. Three dancesd then one with Carey. And then
Tim Madison again. Carey, with Sylvia Madison, saw Miss Fane look up and frown,
then back to her game of chess again. Miss Silver had finished her baby® vest and
was starting another. Alistair and Petra had disappeared. Laura was dancing with
Robin, whom she liked very much. They were laughing.

Sylvia said in a small, tired voice,



A didnd want to come. He made me.o

fWWould you rather not dance? We can go and Sit out somewhere if you like.0

She shook her head.

At wouldnd be any goodd | should go on seeing them. | do, nearly all the time,
you know. | think it worse when it isnd real, because then | fedl as if 1Gm going
gueer inthe head. Do you think | am?0

fNod of course not.0

fSometimes | think | must be. | hear themtalkingd when 16m quite aone. That®
why | came tonight. |16 better than being alone.o

Carey was desperately sorry for her. He said very kindly,

At wond last, you knowd ité just a flare-up. Stick it out. She doesnd really
want him.0

They were moving to the rhythm of the dance. Her next words came on a faint
fluttered breath.

fHe comes up hered to see herd at nightd o

AN onsense! 0

fNod it true. Not last night, because | wouldnd go to bed. He wanted me to,
and | woudn@. We had a dreadful row. That& why 1Gm so tired. It kills me to have
rows with Tim. | shall go to bed tonight, and hedl come up here to her.0 Her thread
of a voice had taken on a kind of dreamy finality. She might have been talking in her
deep.

fVly dear girl, youde al in. Get him to take you home early, and go off to bed
with the cup of hot milk Miss Adams was prescribing.0

Sylvia said fairtly,

e wond talk about it any more. Can you think of something to say? Tim&
looking at us. | dond want himto be angry. | get frightened.o

Carey beganto tell her about Laura.

fAThe place belongs to her, but | dond suppose shedl ever live here. [t6& too big.
This sort of house was out of date after the last war, and when this war & over wedl
al be doing quite different things and living quite different lives. The old-country-
house tradition has been dead for a generation. There® nothing left of it except a
ghost or two. Laurad 0

His voice changed on her name, and Sylvia caught him up.

flLaurad are you inlove with her?0

His face changed too, softening, breaking into a smile as he nodded.

fiDead secret. Dond tell anyone.o

She looked up at him, her blue eyes suddenly wet.



fAvoudve got away. |Gm glad.0

It was a little after this that Alistair came back into the room alone. He had the
look of a man under a heavy strain. Even to Laura® inexperience it was obvious that
he had been drinking, but instead of being flushed he was exceedingly pale. He
walked straight up to where Tanis was standing with Tim Madison and said in a
voice which anyone could hear,

fWhen are you going to dance with me?0

She gave him a fleeting glance, green and bright between black lashes.

AY ou havend asked me.0

He said, AThatds a lie! 6 And then, A &m asking you now.o

Her fingers closed about Tim Madison® wrist. She said AiNO!0 to him in an
emphatic undertone. And then, with her sweetest smile, she said it to Alistair,

fiNo, thank you, darling.0

Just for the moment the thing hung in the balanced it might blow up, or it might
not.

The moment passed. Alistair turned and went out of the room, walking as if he
were drunk. Between the opening and the shutting of the door Laura, at an angle to
it, caught a glimpse of Petrads scarlet in the hall beyond. The door shut heavily.

As Robin Maxwell put on another record, Miss Fane caught Carey
Desborough® eye and beckoned imperiously. He came round to the far side of her
chair between her and the fire, because Miss Silver was on the nearer side. She
turned, and as he bent towards her she said, not whispering but low and deep,

fHave you and Tanis quarrelled?0

Carey smiled.

fWhat makes you think so? | was dancing with her just now.o

fOnce, 0 said Agnes Fane. Then, with a further drop of the voice, fiYou should
be dancing with her now. Mr. Madison never leaves her alone. He® making her
conspicuous. Go and get her away from him! Who are you dancing with?0

He thought, fiShe knows perfectly well.o

His hand had been at Laura waist and the music starting when she beckoned
him.

He said, ALaura,0and felt the dark eyes searching him.

AY oude very friendly with her all of a sudden.o

He said, iiYes.0

The dark eyes held his. They were stern. He felt a fixity of purpose, an

inescapable will.
He was dismissed.



He danced with Laura, and was solaced. They moved to music which was in
their hearts. The moment was a brief, enchanted one.

He danced with Tanis, and was at once aware of a change which took him a
long way back in time, and a longer still in mood. That hers was heightened,
quickened, was plainly to be seen. She had an air of victorious expectancy. It was
not for hmd he knew that with reliefd but it brought a return of her old smiles and
gances, a softening of the voice. If he had not been in love with Laura he might have
been in danger. Her hand pressed his. She said,

AY oudre not angry with me? Wedre friends?0

Carey laughed.

fExcellent friends. Thaté what youdve got to tell your Aunt Agnes.o

She nodded.

fiYes, of course. We mustnd quarrel, must we? Wedre had good timesd letés
remember them. But, darlingd you wond let Laura stick me with this place, will
you? Shedl listen to you. @ die if | was tied up here, or else |a bust the whole
place wide open with some frightful scandal.o

AY oudre doing that now.o

She looked up, vividly amused.

A know. 1t& marvellous, isnd it? But that@ just what | meand you dance three
times with a man and youGre damned, in a place like this.0

AThree timesd O He smiled agreeably.

That pleased her too. He thought to himself, fiGood lordd has she gone off the
deep end about the fellow?0

She said in a melting voice, fPoor Tim There® nothing in it, you knowd just
Irish fireworks. Too amusingd while it lastsd 0 Her voice went suddenly down and
away.

The music stopped. She stood leaning against him, her hand till on his arm, and
shivered.

Carey said, iCold?0

Her fingers tightened and clung, then let go. She stepped back, smiling and
shaking her head.

fiSomebody walking over my grave,0 she said.



CHAPTER 20

The evening ended. Alistair had not returned. Petra came back to the drawing-
room about twenty minutes after Laura had seen her in the hall. She stood for a
moment with Carey and Laura, and said lightly,

fAlistair & walking it off. Hedl come back like a lamb. How bad was it? Did he
make a scene?0

Carey said, fit might have been worse. He called Tanis a liar, and marched out
of the room when she wouldnd dance with him. | don@ think Miss Fane heard what
he said.o

fiSomeoned bound to tell her,0 said Petra briefly. flet@ look on the bright side.
Theydre had some awful row, and he fit to cut her throat. Perhaps they wond
make it up.o She gave a small forced laugh and added, AWhat a hopel o

The Madisons made their farewells and went out into a cold, windy night.
fBlowing up for rain, but it wond come before morning,0 was Tim Madison®
comment as a swirling gust came in at the open lobby door. He took Sylvia by the
arm, and they went off together to walk the quarter of a mile between the Priory and
thelr cottage.

By ones and twos the others said goodnight and went upstairs, Robin Maxwell
last, with Alistair, who walked in without explanation or apology at a little after one.
The house quieted. There were no sounds except the wind like a rising tide coming
out of the distance and thundering by, rocking the straining trees, beating against the
ruined church, dying to a moan, and then hurling itself against the house in some
tremendous gust of sound.

Laura dept, her last waking thought relief because the visit was over. She would
look back on it and remember only that Carey and she had found each other. And
everything elsed the strain, the old cousins disliking her, Tanisd would all be
forgotten. She did not know that they would never be forgotten by her, by Carey, or
by anyone else.

She woke some time late in the night, coming suddenly broad awake, and
remembering that she had left her Chinese shawl downstairs. It seemed so odd to
wake up like that and remember it, when she had not thought abot it at all before
she went to deep. She had come upstairs with Petra, but they had not talked. She
had undressed, and got into bed, and gone to sleep without ever remembering the
shawl. And now it filled her mind, urgently and to the exclusion of everything else.
She thought, fiHow sillyd but | shand go to deep again unless | go down for it.0



She got out of bed without putting on a light, because the curtain was drawn
back from a partly opened window. It blew in the wind, the casement creaked. But
the thunderous gusts had ceased. The gale had passed. There was no more now
than a high wind blowing. She found her dressing-gown and dlippers, put them on,
and came out into the corridor. A light burned dimly at the far end.

Laura went the other way, towards the stairs, holding the banister rail and feeling
before her with a dippered foot. Once round the turn, there was a gimmer of light
fromthe hall.

She considered where the shawl might be. The drawing-room ... no ... she had
had it after they all came out of the drawing-room, because she remembered Robin
looking at it and saying something about one of the embroidered butterflies. He was
keen on butterflies and he knew this one® name. Well, if she had hed it in the hall,
why hadn@ she taken it upstairs? It came to her that she had left Robin standing
beside the newel, turning the embroidery this way and that, butterfly hunting, whilst
she said goodnight to Lucy Adams and Miss Silver. And then Petra had caught her
by the arm with a quick fiCome along, Laural0 and she had gone up without giving
another thought to the shawl, because she was afraid that Petra had suddenly come
to the end of what she could beard ghastly under make-up, and her hand shaking on
Laurads arm. The shawl just went right out of her mind.

And now she could think of nothing else. She thought how odd that was. But
when she came to the newel where Robin had stood, the shawl wasnd there. It
wasnd anywhere in the hall. She switched on the lights and looked everywhere. It
wasnd in the hall, and it wasn@ in the drawing-room. Robin must have put it
somewhere. He might have taken it upstairs. She began to fedl rather silly, hunting
for a shawl in the dead end of the night, and quite sure that it wouldnd go down at all
well with Cousin Agnes and Cousin Lucy.

She switched off the lights and began to climb the stairs. The big hall clock
struck three. She regained her own room with relief.

There is something strange about being the only person awake in a seeping
house. It is al right if you are in your own room, but to go out and wander in
untenanted places whilst those to whom they belong are withdrawn in sleep is the
loneliest thing in the world.

She stood inside her door and closed it softly. Standing there in the dark for a
moment before she turned away, there came to her, fant but unmistakable, the
sound of another closing door.



CHAPTER 21

At twenty minutes past eight next morning Dean, the butler, came out of the
north wing and entered first the dining-room and then Miss Fane@ study in order to
draw the curtains and admit the slow, cold beginning of the day. It was till so dark
that he switched on the dining-room light and left it burning. The actual moment when
the black-out regulations allowed of an uncurtained light was 8.24. He considered
that summer time extended to the winter was doubtless of use to people in towns
who hoped to get home before the nightly air-raids began, but that it was very
inconvenient not to be able to open up the house before pretty near half past eight.

Continuing on his way, he came to the hall. He crossed it and opened the door
of Miss Lyle& sitting-room, switching on the light as he did so. The room sprang into
view, the wide window facing him and the two other windows which looked
towards the front of the house all curtained in pale silvery green. The heavy folds
hung straight till. But from somewhere there was a cold wind blowing, and it didnd
take him more than a moment to tell where it was coming from. The door to the
octagon room stood in at an angle, and through the half open doorway the wind was
blowing.

It was at this moment that Dean became alarmed. Because there oughtnd to
have been anything open in the octagon room. The windows had been closed all
day, and the door had been locked when he made his round after Mr. and Mrs.
Madison had gone and Mr. Alistair had come in. With the idea of burglars in his
mind, he cast an anxious glance about the room, and noticed that the top drawer of
Miss Lyle& bureau had been pulled out. He went over to look at it and saw,
tumbled into the corner upon a pile of letters, a small automatic pistol. He considered
it to be the pistol which Mr. Hazelton had so carelesdly fired off in the hall the other
night, breaking a sconce which was going to be very difficult to replace. Drunk, of
course, but that wasnd any excuse for frightening ladies and destroying property. As
he had told Mrs. Dean at the time, fif a gentleman cand behave like a gentleman
when heés drunk, well, to my way of thinking heés no real gentleman at all.o

He frowned at the pistol and thought Miss Tanis was a bit too casual, leaving
firearms about like that. Suppose thered been a burglar, or one of those German
parachutistsd well, she was making them a present of it, as you might say.

He left the curtains and went through into the octagon room. The wind met him,
The door to the church stood wide. The grey daylight came in, and that cold wind
blowing. He stood at the top of the steps and looked down. Something was lying



there. The steps ran down to the angle between the house and the west wall. The
shadow mede it difficult to seed it was still nearly half an hour before sunrised but
something was lying there. No, someone. A woman. He began to feel cold and a
little sick.

He went down the steps, going slowly because he was afraidd only going at all
because it was his duty, and he had always tried to do his duty.

He came to the floor of the church.... Yes, it was a woman. It was Miss Tanis,
and he thought she was dead. She was wearing those black pyjamas which had
aways rather shocked his sense of what was right and befitting in a young lady, and
her black dressing-gown over them, and she was lying on her face with her right arm
flung out as if she had pitched forward off the steps.

His mind felt stupid and tiff. 1t went through it to wonder whether she had
walked in her deep, and so fallen. He wondered whether she had broken her neck.

And then he saw the hole. A small round hole in the silk of her coat a little below
the left shoulder-blade. Everything inside him seemed to turn over. He went down on
his knees because they were giving way, but after a moment he reached for the out-
flung hand and lifted it and felt the wrist for the pulse which he knew very well would
not be there. As soon as he touched her he knew that it would not be there.

He laid the hand back on the grass and got stiffly to his feet. His duty sustained
him. It was his duty to notify the police that Miss Tanis Lyle had been murdered, and
when he had done that, to break the news to the household.

He went back up the steps into Tanis Lyle® sitting-room and rang up the
Ledlington police.



CHAPTER 22

The first stunning shock was over. The dreadful routine which waits on murder
ran its accustomed course. Police surgeon, fingerprint expert, official photographer
played their parts and went away. Finally, all that was left of Tanis Lyle went away
too, in an ambulance.

The Superintendent from Ledlington, Randal March, sat in Miss Fane® study
checking over the statements which he and Sergeant Stebbins had been taking. He
was a tall, good-looking man in his middle thirties, with a pleasant cultivated voice
and a manner in which authority was agreeably velled. The eyes, the line of the jaw,
the set of the head, asserted its presence, but the pleasant veil was thered for as
long as he desired it to remain.

Miss Maud Silver, entering the room, was very warmly received. She addressed
the Superintendert, to Sergeant Stebbins® edification, as fiMy Dear Randal,0 and
enquired affectionately after his mother and his sisters. In fact compliments were
exchanged. Sergeant Stebbins was sent to interview evacuees who might possibly
have heard the shot, and Miss Silver took a chair.

In the days when she was a governess she had been governess to Randal March
and his sisters. Her friendship with the family had been maintained. Some three years
previously Randal March had had to confess that he owed his life to her skill and
acumen in the rather horrible case of the poisoned caterpillars. And they had been
very closely associated in the auturn of @9 over the mysterious Jerningham affair.
But in spite of these up-to-date contacts his first sight of Miss Maud Silver invariably
carried him back to the days when she was the unquestioned dispenser of law and
knowledge to an inky little boy with a marked distaste for acquiring informeation or
for doing what he was told. In spite of this distaste he had learned and he had
obeyed. Respect for Miss Silver had entered into his soul. He found it there still.

As she took her seat and extracted some pink knitting from a brightly flowered
work-bag, he reflected that the years which had made him a superintendent of police
in a country town had apparently left her quite unchanged. She must have been much
younger in those old schoolroom days, but she had not seemed any younger to hirr
then than she did now. She had always been terrifyingly intelligent, conscientious,
sincere, religious, dowdy, and prim. She retained a pristine passion for knitting, and
for the poetry of Alfred, Lord Tennyson, and his contemporaries. She was a
perfectly kind and just human being and a remarkably good detective.

With a mind hovering between old and well-merited respect and an amusement



which in no way detracted from it, he sat back in his chair and responded to
enquiries about his family.

fVlargaret is in Palestine with her husband. She managed to get out there at the
tail end of &9. The little girl is with my mother.o

Miss Silver nodded.

fiShe is very like Margaret. Mrs. March kindly sent me some snapshots.o

fAnd Isobel has joined the A.T.S. In fact you may say that | am the only
member of the family who is not inthe Army.o

Miss Silver coughed in dlight reproof.

AThe enforcement of law at home may, | think, be considered quite as important
to our war effort as anything that Isobel or Margaret may be able to do,0 she
remarked. Then, changing the subject briskly, AiThis is a terrible affair. | am very glad
to have an opportunity of talking to you.0

fANd | to you. | have most of the statements now, and | should be glad to know
how they strike you.o

Miss Silver knitted in silence for a minute. Then she said,

Al was sorry to miss you the other morning when | was in Ledlington. The note |
left for you informed you thet | was staying at the Priory. | think 1 must now tell you
that | am here professionally.o

fwhat?0

In that faraway schoolroom Miss Silver would have reproved this unadorned
gjaculation. She let it pass.

fArhis is of course in confidence. Miss Fane would not wish it to be known.o

Randal March looked concerned.

fBut IGm afraid | must ask youd 0

fOh, yesd | was about to explain. Lucy Adams is an old schoolfellow of mine. |
used to visit here when | was a young girl, but after | had entered the scholastic
profession my time was so much occupied, and ny interests so very different fromr
LucyGs, that the acquaintanced it was hardly a friendshipd faded away. We had met
no more than a dozen times, | suppose, in the last thirty years when | came down to
stay with dear Lide Jerningham and she very kindly asked Lucy to tea. Lucy
appeared to be much interested in my change of profession, and later that evening |
was rung up by Miss Fane. She asked me to come over and see her, which | did
next dayd there is quite a convenient bus. She told me that small thefts of money
had been taking place in the house, and that suspicion was being cast upon the
evacuee families she had taken in. She was extremely anxious that the matter should
be cleared up. She asked me whether | would undertake it professionally. | did s0.0



Randal March smiled.

fANd solved the problem?0

Miss Silver said, fiY es,0in rather a grave tone of voice.

He looked at her shrewdly.

fiN ot one of the evacuees then?0

She shook her head.

fiOh dear, no.0

He was conscious of arising interest.

fAre you going to tell me who it was?0

She laid down her knitting for a moment and looked at him.

A think so, Randald | think | must. But it is for your informeation only.o

fWhat do you mean by that?0

A mean that you are not to make a police court case of itd it is not to be dealt
with in that way. If there had not been a murder in the house, | should not have
mentioned it, but after what has happened | do not fedl justified in withholding any
information however remote.0

He said, fivoudre quite right. You had better tell me. | wond use the information
unless it bears upon the murder. Who is the thief?0

Miss Silver got up and went to the door. As she opened it, Miss Fane® maid,
Perry, went past, carrying a small tray. The smell of coffee floated in. Randal March
saw the tall, stiff figure in grey go by.

Miss Silver closed the door and came back to her seat. In a very much lowered
tone she said,

fPerry.o

AY ou mean that that was Perry who went by? Miss FaneGs maid, isnd she?0

fNo, | dond mean that at all, Randal. | mean that Perry is the thief.0

fWhat! | thought shedd been here for donkeyGs years.o

Miss Silver took up her knitting again.

fOh, yesd forty-one years of devoted service. She worships Agnes Fane.o

AANd pilfers from her! 6 He looked and sounded incredulous.

Miss Silver coughed.

At is not quite so sSmple as that. She does not like having the evacuees here. The
thefts were planned to lay them under suspicion and to bring about their removal.o

fWhat a mind! Are you sure?0

fOh, yes. But | have not told Miss Fane. | should have done so today, because,
having accepted the engagement, | should have felt it to be my duty. But | had no
expectation that she would believe me. She has an extremely rigid type of mind.o



Randal frowned.

A havend@ seen her yet, or Miss Adams. | suppose you have. How are they
taking it? They were devoted to the poor girl, werend they?0

The term struck Miss Silver as incongruous. With time at her disposal she could
have moralized upon the themed Tanis Lyle with the ball at her foot come down to
that pitying fpoor girl.o

She gave a faint dry cough. fl have not seen Lucyd | believe that she is quite
prostratedd but | have just come from Agnes Fane. Shall | tell you how | found
her?0

He said, fiY es,0in a voice which showed a trace of astonishment.

She paused briefly to take up a stitch, and then continued.

fiShe was writing a letter to her solicitor.0

fATo her solicitor?0

Miss Silver nodded.

fHe isa Mr. Metcalfe, an old friend of the family. But she was not writing to him
as a friend. Her letter pressed him to push forward without delay the negotiations
which he is carrying on with Miss Laura Fane for the purchase of this property.o

Randal March was redlly startled. He said, fily dear Miss Silver!0and there for
the moment words forsook him. She nodded, and went on knitting.

After a short pause he said, fWell, youbre answered my question. Devoted!0 He
gave a short laugh. At hardly seems to be the right wordd does it? | suppose it
about three hours since she heard of her nieceGs death! 0

Miss Silver raised her eyes to his face.

fiyou must not misunderstand me, Randal. It would be perfectly true to say thet
Agnes and Lucy were devoted to Tanis Lyle. They built their hopes on her. She
meant everything to them that they had missed themselves. Especially to Agnes. To
her, | think, she also represented a weapon.o

fWhat do you mean?0

Miss Silver paused for a moment. Then she said,

fHow much do you know about Agnes Fane?0

A suppose what everyone in the county knowsd that she was jilted by her
cousind that she rode her horse over Blackneck quarry and has been a cripple ever
since. 1tés too dramétic a story to be forgotten, isnd it?0

fAY es. It has never been forgotten. Agnes has never forgotten it.0

At must have been along time ago.o

ATwenty-two years. | was staying in the neighbourhood at the time. | knew Mr.
Oliver Fane and the girl he eloped withd a Miss Ferrers. She was a cousin also.



They were very charming people. It made a terrible split in the family. From that time
| believe that Agnes has had but one idead to acquire the property which would
have been hers if she had married Oliver Fane, and to divert it from his daughter to
TanisLyle.0

AThe daughter being Laura Fane, the girl who is staying here now?0

fives. She is just of age, and she has not seemed very much inclined to sell.
Agnes asked her down here in the belief that she would be able to influence her. She
is a woman of strong will and inflexible purpose.o

Randal March made a sudden movemen.

fNow, just why are you telling me all this?0

fVly dear Randal!0

Miss Silverés tone expressed reproof, but he shook his head.

fAY ou have an ulterior motive. What isit?0

Her needles clicked.

fit is a very simple one. A violert crime has been committed. As | am familiar
with the background against which the motives and actions of everyone in this house
must be viewed, | thought it my duty to give you some impression of it.0

He said, il seed 0ANd then, fiMiss Fare is il set on purchasing the property?
Why?0

fAilo divert it from Laura Fane. You know that Tanis Lyle had been married?
There is a child, a little boy of six. If she could buy the Priory, Agnes would adopt
him and bring him up to succeed her.0

Randal March looked at her meditatively.

fSurprising thing human natured isnd it? Yes, | knew of the marriage. The
husband is, of course, this Hazelton fellow who figures in the shooting affair of the
previous night. 16ve got five statements about thatd Desborough, two Maxwells,
Laura Fane, and the butler, Dean. Now what have you got to say about it?0



CHAPTER 23

Miss Silver gave him her account of Jeffrey Hazelton& brief meteoric irruption
into their midst. It was lucid and remerkably to the point. Randal March, with the
sheaf of statements in his hand, glanced sometimes at them and sometimes at her.
When she had finished he said,

fHGMO yes. No difference of opinion as to the facts. What did you make of the
fellow? Was he really dangerous? Or showing off? Or just too drunk to know what
he was doing?0

Miss Silver considered. Then she said,

fAll three, | should say.o

fWwould you like to amplify that?0

She took a moment. fiHe is il very fond of her, and he has a grievance. | gather
that he had been seeing a certain amount of her lately. He spoke to her the other
night at the Luxe. | believe he asked her to dance, and that she refused. It would
have made her rather conspicuous, though | do not know that she would have cared
about that. He evidently followed her down here. The Maxwell brothers saw hirr
drinking at the Angel some time before dinner. Then a good deal later he came up
here. He was drunk, and obsessed with his feelings and his grievance. He was out of
his own control and on the edge of a collapse.0

fY ou think that he might have shot her then?0

AUndoubtedly. He had the pistol actually pushed against her chest and his finger
shaking on the trigger. If she had shrunk away from him, or cried out, or done
anything to stimulate his nervous excitement, he would, | am quite sure, have shot her
then. She behaved with great coolness and presence of mind.o

fANd you don@ admire her for doing so. Will you tell me why?0

Miss Silver dropped her knitting in her lap and looked at hm

A never saw anyone show less feeling,0 she said. fiEven a stranger would have
experienced some pity for Mr. Hazeltond he broke down so completely, sobbing,
and saying her name over and over. And she had not a thought for him. She was
excited, pleasedd amost openly triumphant. | considered it a very panful
exhibition.0

Randal March laid down the papers he was holding.

AYour sympathy seems to be entirely with the criminal,0 he said drily. fiRather
unusual for you, isnd it?0

Miss Silver picked up the pink infant® vest she was knitting, measured it



carefully against her hand and wrist, and began to cast off. She said then in a quiet,
Serious Voice,

Al should be very much surprised to learn that Mr. Hazelton was the criminal.o

Superintendent March did not exactly start, but he came very near to doing so.

Al should have thought it was sufficiently obvious.o

Miss Silver coughed and said,

fiMy dear Randal!o

He laughed, but he changed colour.

fWell, you know that nine times out of ten the obvious person redly is the
criminal.o

She repeated the cough.

A would not put it as high as that myself. But even with one chance in ten |
congder it inadvisable to close the mind to other possibilities by assuming one
obvious personds quilt.0

Incontinently his mind went back some twenty-six years. In the dockd in this
case his father® studyd Randal March aged nine and a month or so, accused of
stealing plums from old Gregoryé orchard and very much the obvious criminal. Miss
Silver, then as now, declining to accept the obvious, sticking it out, proving her poirt,
bringing Isobel, the real culprit, to repentance, getting him offd all in the primmest,
driest manner imaginable, without fear or favouritism.

He turned an affectionate and respectful look upon her now.

fivyoudl admit, | suppose, that Hazelton is a suspect. 1dl be interested to know
why you wond consider him as the murderer.o

She cast off a couple of stitches.

A think he might very easily have shot her on Wednesday evening. But he was
seen off to London next day by Mr. Desborough and Mr. Robin Maxwell. | do not
find myself readily able to believe that he returned that same evening, induced Miss
Lyle to admit him to the Priory, and then shot her in the backd she was shot in the
back, was she not?0

fiOh, yes. Why do you think he wouldn@ do it?0

The pink stitches were dropping evenly and methodically from the needles. Miss
Silver said,

fHe was very fond of her, very much in love with her. It would have required
some strong stimulus to make him shoot her. She would have had to be facing himd
quarrelling, or arguing, or resisting him. | feel quite sure that he would not have shot
her in the back.o

As she spoke, the door opened. The maid Perry stood there. Seeing her full face



for the first time, March found her one of the least attractive of the female sex. Such
aflat, ironed-out figure. Such a fleshless, bloodless face. And those pale eyes.

She kept a hand on the door, long, thin and bony, and said with a certain acid
restraint, addressing the Superintendert,

fiVliss Fane will see you now.o

If he expected a fsirg, he didnd get one. He never would from Perry. The police
were the police. They had their work to do, and it was better not to get on the
wrong side of them, but they were, and remained, the dirt beneath the feet of Miss
Agnes Fane. He said in a pleasant authoritative voice,

fAirhank you. | will come up in a moment. Miss Silver will show me the way. You
need not wait.0

When she had gone and the door was shut, he said,

A havend been able to find anyone yet who heard the shot. | must have
everyone asked whether they heard it. When we go up | want you to go in to Miss
Adams and just ask her that one question. Will you do that?0

Miss Silver broke off her wool, passed the end through the last stitch, and drew
it tight. She put the needles and the completed vest into her knitting-bag and rose to
her feet.

fCertainly, my dear Randal.0

They came up the stairs and turned into the corridor.

fin the rooms on the right,0 said Miss Silver, fare, first, Laura Fane, then Miss
North, with a bathroom between. Then Miss Lyle, another bathroom, and the
octagon room, which as you see, juts out into the corridor. On the left there isfirst a
bathroom. Then Lucy Adams, another bathroom, a small room occupied by Perry,
and Agnes Fane® room, which is much larger than any of the others. Of all the
people in the house she is the most likely to have heard the shot, since her room has
two windows looking that way. It is, in fact, barely possible that she did not hear it,
whereas Lucy is very unlikely to have done so. There are three rooms between hers
and the side of the house where the murder was committed, and | happen to know
that she would not dream of having a window open at night at this time of the year.
But if you wish me to ask her whether she heard anything, | will do so0.0

Af you dond mind.o

Miss Silver tapped at the door and, receiving no articulate reply, opened it and
wernt in, leaving it gjar behind her. She found herself in a confusing pink dusk, the
curtains being completely drawn across both windows. As she advanced towards
where she knew the bed to be, a voice came to her choked with sobs.

fWho isit? | cand see anyoned | cand!o



Her eyes adjusting themselves to the semi-darkness, Miss Silver made out the
bed and, prostrate upon it, Miss Adams, her face half buried in the pillows. She said
inakind, firm voice,

Al am not come to disturb you, my dear Lucy. | am sure you know how much |
feel for you in your grief. The Superintendent has deputed me to ask you a question.
He has no wish to intrude upon you, but it is his duty to find out whether there is
anybody in the house who heard the shot. Perhaps you will just tell me whether you
did hear anything.0

Miss Adams sobbed into the pillow. A hand was laid gently but firmly upon her
shoulder.

fiCome, Lucy, you have only to say yes or no. Did you hear anything?0

The head turned. The eyes blinked against tears. The weak voice said,

fiNot ashotd how could 16 the windows were shutd | didnd hear any shotd 0

Something in the faint, wavering emphasis upon the twice repeated word made
Miss Silver say quickly,

AY ou didnd hear the shot? Did you hear anything else?0

As soon as the words were said they seemed absurd, for what else was there to
hear?

Lucy Adanms became till and rigid under her hand. Then she pushed the hand
away with violence.

A cand talk about itd | cand! You mustnd ask me! | cand tell youd | cand tell
anyonelo

Miss Silver came out of the room and shut the door behind her.

AY ou heard what she said, Randal?0

fiyesd no shotd but something else. It seems to have had a very upsetting
effect. | wonder what it was.o

Miss Silver said without any noticeable expression,

fiShe is greatly upset. It has been a severe shock. But she will be better
tomorrow. Y ou can question her then.o



CHAPTER 24

Randal March found himself a good deal impressed by Miss Agnes Fane. She
was sitting in a large armchair beside her bedroom fire. The curtains were drawn
back and the light came in. There was none of the disorder or dishevelment of grief.
She sat upright and composed, her hair in its accustomed waves, a string of pearls
relieving the plain black of her dress.

He received a dlight inclination of the head and a request that he would be
seated. She understood that he desired to see her, but she was afraid that she could
do very little to assist the course of justice. Her voice was deep and strong. She
spoke with authority and condescension. But though she carried it with an air she
was plainly a woman who had received a very great shock. She held her head high,
but the tension of the throat muscles was to be discerned. The hand which had laid
down the pen at his entrance now rested upon the wide arm of her chair. The
fingers, dightly curved, had an appearance of rigidity. One of them wore a very fine
diamond solitaire.

He put his question, and received his answer.

fNod | heard nothing.0

His eyes went to the two south windows, one on either side of the bed. They
came back to her expressionless face.

fAY ou are a sound seeper, Miss Fane?0

There was a faint flicker of a smile.

A very poor one, | am afraid. So poor that | am sometimes obliged to take a
deeping-draught. | did so last night. | am an invalid, you know.o

She might have been claming some prerogative. He felt a dight unwilling
amusement. Pride, yesd but pride in her own disability? He thought Agnes Fane had
been made for better things than that.

He rose to go, but she detained him with a lift of that rigid hand. The diamond
flashed.

fHas he been arrested?0

fAiThere has been no arrest as yet. May | ask whose arrest you were expecting?0

A spark like contempt came into her eyes. He found it galling.

fWhose arrest? Why, the murderer&. Has no one told you that Jeffrey Hazelton
would have shot my niece on Wednesday night if she had not saved herself by her
own courage and presence of mind? He is, of course, not responsible for his actions
and should have been placed under restraint. | am very much to blame for not having



insisted on it.0

fiyou think Mr. Hazelton returned here last night, and that it was he who shot
Miss Lyle?0

Again the contempt which set him definitely in the moron class.

A should say it was obvious.0

He said a little iffly,

fiVir. Hazelton has naturally not been overlooked. He will have to give an
account of his movements after leaving here. | am expecting a call at any time now.
You may be quite sure that everything is being done, Miss Fane. But the surgeon®
report and that of the ballistics expert will have to be taken into consideration.o

She regarded him for the first time with interest.

Af the bullet had been fired from the pistol which was taken from Jeffrey
Hazelton on Wednesday night, the expert would be able to prove it. That is what
you mean?o

fYes. A bullet is marked by the rifling. No two firearms would mark a bullet in
quite the same way.0

Her face changed.

AThat proves nothing in this case. He may have shot her with that pistol, or with
another one. It proves nothing. He had another.0

fiYes, | rememberd Desborough mentioned that in his statement. Miss Lyle said
sod didnd she?0

fives.0 Her hand clenched on the arm of the chair. Before he could speak she
said in an indgtent voice, fiVir. Desborough was engaged to my niece. Did he
mention that in his statement?0

If Randal March was surprised he contrived not to show it. It had certainly not
occurred to himto regard Carey Desborough in the light of a bereaved lover. In their
short interview he had displayed the gravity and concern of a friend, but nothing
more.

He said, after what he hoped was not a noticeable pause,

fiNo, he didnd mention that. Was there an engagement?0

fives. They had had an understanding for some time. The engagement would
have been announced shortly.0

After a moment he said,

Why do you tell me this, Miss Fane? Are you suggesting jealousy as a motive
for the crime? Was Mr. Hazelton known to be jealous?0

She said, il dond know.0 And then, My niece obtained her divorce for
infidelity. Mr. Hazelton had no rights where she was concerned.o



Well, he had obviously had feelings. There was no more to be said. He took his
leave.

As he passed the maid Perry& door it opened and she came out. Her pale eyes
dwelt on him with a flicker of something which he thought was didike. She said in
her acid voice,

A& like to have a word with you if itGs convenient.o



CHAPTER 25

Carey and Laura walked across the fields when the day had dipped into
afternoon. As far as the light went, it might have been any time between dawn and
duskd low cloud, no visible sun; no colour in sky, or grass, or hedgerow; a desolate
greyness everywhere. It was cold. Not with the stinging cold of wind or frost which
whips the blood to the cheeks. The wind was al gone, there was no frost. The path
was soft and miry. A chilly damp which might be fog by nightfall oozed from the
ground and clung about them. But it was better than being indoors. Here at least they
could be alone together and could speak freely.

Até frightful in the housed like being shut up in the dark, you dond quite know
what@ there.0 Laura® voice was still hushed, as if it hardly redlized its freedom. Al
wouldnd mind if one could be any use to anyone, but one cand. Theya be thankful
to be rid of us. How long do you think we shall have to stay?0

fFor the inquestd and the funeral. The Maxwellsbleave is up on Sunday night. If
the inquest isnd@ tomorrow, | suppose theydl have to come back for it. | dond know
how long these things take.o

fiNor do I. It will be a good thing for the Maxwells to get away. Alistair looks
awful, doesnd he?0

fA dozen murders and he® done them all. It® just as well everyone® so sure
it Hazelton. Petra and Robin have dragged Alistair out. | dond envy them their
walk. But ité no use his mooning round, setting everyone talking.0

fiNod they had to get him out. But | dond know about usd 16ve got a feeling
that we oughtnd to have come.o

fWhat harmis it doing anyone?o

She managed rather a piteous laugh.

fDarlingd there are such heaps of things that dond do any harm and you cand
do them, because it simply isnd worth upsetting people like Cousin Agnes and
Cousin Lucy. | dond think weGre really supposed to go out before the funeral. Aunt
Theresads like that, so | know.o

Carey said something sharp and short. He added that they would have to go to
the inquest anyway, so as well be hanged for a sheep as a lamb.

fAnyhow there® no sense in our all being boxed up there together till we go off
our heads.0

Laura nodded.

fCarey, it frightfuld isnd it? | dond mean just about Tanis, but what it does to



everyore else. If you speak, you feel as if someone were listening at the door. Perry
does, you knowd Petra says she® practically caught her at it. And Cousin Agnes
frightens me.o

Carey dlipped an arm through hers and held it close. Conorting to feel that
strong arm and the rough thickness of his coat.

He said, fHave you seen her?0

A little shiver ran over her as she said, fiYes.0

fiWhen?0

fdust now, when | went up to get my coat. Perry came and knocked on my door
and said Cousin Agnes wanted to see me. And there she was, with boxes of things
she had had sent out from Ledlingtond mourning, you know. And she gave me a
black dressd 16ve got it ond and said she would be glad if I would wear it. She said
she didnd@ expect me to go into mourning for a cousin whom | scarcely knew, but
she thought it would be better for me to be in black as long as | was at the Priory.
She thought | should have to stay for the inquest, and that she would appreciate my
presence at the funeral. It was all frightfully grand and condescending. And right at
the end she said that this wasnd of course the time to talk about business, but she
would like me to realize that her plans with regard to the Priory were unchanged.o

fiShe didnd!o

fiShe did.o

fiShe still wants to buy it? Nowd after this?0

He felt her shiver again.

A tés frightful, isn@ it?0

Atés a bit inhuman. What will you dod let her have it?0

fOh, yesd anything she wants! And 16m thankful she warnts it. We couldnd live
there, could wed not nowd not ever?0

He said in a meditative voice, A suppose notd 0 And then, with a lively change
of manner, it doesnd metter where we live, does it? But let® plan it. There isnd any
Hitler and there isn@ any war and weGe getting married next weekd what sort of
house shall we have?0

The cold, dark current which was carrying them sank away out of sight. Their
raft of make-believe hid it for one of those short enchanted hours which makes
amends for al. That it was still there, that its tide rocked the very fabric of their
happiness, that its spray would presently chill themto the bone again, they knew, but
for the moment they did not greatly care. There was so much to give, to learn, to
shared all those inner treasures of the heart which are increased by such a giving.

They made a wide circuit and were coming home, when a solitary walker passed



them at no more than a twenty-foot distance. It was Tim Madison, walking fast and
furiously, hands deep in the pockets of a Burberry. He was bare-headed. The red
hair flamed. His chin was thrust out and his face lifted. His eyes, blank and blue,
stared at the sky. He looked like a blind man, or a man walking in his deep. He wert
past them without a sign and on down the reaches of the field.

Carey said, fPoor devild hels taking it hard.o



CHAPTER 26

AY es, Randal?0

Miss Silver advanced into the singularly bleak room which was so much more
like an office than a lady& study. The floor, doubtless for the convenience of Miss
Fane® invalid chair, was quite uncarpeted, and the furniture, for the same reason,
restricted to such stark necessities as a wide, plain table and some bookcases and a
number of filing cabinets standing flat against the walls. At ordinary times it also
contained a couple of straight-backed chairs. To these a writing-chair had now been
added for the Superintendentcs use.

He looked up at the sound of his name and said abruptly,

AY ou were quite rightd he didnd do it.0

Miss Silver altered the angle of one of the upright chairs and sat down.

fif you are aluding to Mr. Hazelton, Randal, | believe what | said was that it
would surprise me to learn that he had returned here last night. He did not seemto
me to be in a condition to pursue any course of action which would require
premeditation. | suppose fromwhat you say that he has an alibi.0

fAN alibi! 0 He lifted a hand and let it drop again upon the table. fit is more than
that. It is a cast-iron physical impossibility. He was taken off to a nursing home
raving with D.T. at about eight o&clock yesterday evening, and he® been there,
strapped down to his bed and under a strong narcotic, ever since. Short of a criminal
conspiracy on the part of a highly respectable doctor, the matron, a sister, and at
least two nurses, it smply couldn@ have been done. Holroyd saw them all. Saw
Hazeltond took someone along to identify him. And there we are. You were quite
rightd it was too easy, too obvious. Now perhaps you will oblige by being right
again and telling me who did murder Tanis Lyle.0

She said soberly, i dond know, Randal.0

He had a quick sardonic smile for that.

AY ou surprise me. Who had a motive then? Perhaps you can tell me that.0

She said, iNo0d 0inrather an absent voice.

AWhat! Y ou cand tell me anything?0

Al did not say that. | think a good many people might have had a motive.o

AY ou mean she had enemiesd a beautiful young wormen like that?0

fOh, my dear Randal!0 She looked at him very much as she had been used to
look when he broke down in the muitiplication table. A mean that she made enemies.
| would not go out of my way to disparage the dead, but you should, | think, know



something of Tanis Lyle® character. She was brought up to consider nobody but
herself. Agnes and Lucy denied her nothing. She was extremely attractive to men,
but they only attracted her in so far as they ministered to her vanity and self-esteem.
Her aunts were very anxious that she should marry again, but she did not wish to do
s0. She had just completed a film over here, and she was ambitious of a career in
Hollywood. She was one of those people who have a violently disturbing effect on
other peopled lives and relationships. The French, | believe, call a woman like that
une allumeuse. It is not difficult to imagine that this might have provided a motive for
her murder.o

He said, fLoved jealousyd well, it is possible. Do you know of anyone who
was in love with her, or jealous on her account besides Hazelton, with his opportune
D.T.?20

Miss Silver paused.

fAf | answer that question, Randal, you must not think that | am accusing anyone.
| am not. | am not even suspecting anyone. | am only informing you of the
relationships existing between Tanis Lyle and some other people in this house and in
the neighbourhood.o

He smiled.

fiYou are always scrupuloudly just. | wond read anything between the lines of
what you tell med if | can help it. | may not be able to help it, you know.o

Al do not ask for impossibilities. | can give you some facts, or what | believe to
be facts, based partly on my own observation and partly on what | have been told.
Alistair Maxwell has some understanding with Petra North. It is, | gather, of long
standing, and urtil recently they were exceedingly happy. For this Lucy is nmy
authority. They are now terribly unhappy.o

fOn accourt of Tanis Lyle?0

fust so. Miss North remained devotedd Mr. Alistair was quite obviously
infatuated with Tanis. That is one case. There are also the Madisonsd Lieutenant
Commander Madison and his wife, living at Grange Cottage about a quarter of a
mile away. You probably have their names aready, as they dined and spent the
evening here last night. Mr. Madison appeared to me to be head over ears in love
with Tanis. She danced with him nearly the whole evening, and his wife and Mr.
Alistair were both in a state of jealous misery.o

fives, Maxwell left the house, didnd hed went for a solitary walk? It& in his
statement. | thought it odd at the time. But he had returned, | think, before the
murder was committed.o

Af you know when the murder was committed.o



fHe is said to have returned at a little after one oéclock.o

She nodded.

fAThat is correct. | heard him come upstairs with his brother. My room is just
across the passage.0

HANd Tanis Lyle was last seen alive during the general goodnights at twelve
o&clock. The time® not long enough. She had undressed and got into those fancy
black pyjames. Theyd never have risked an assignation so soon. Practically
everyone would have been till awake at half past twelve, and youd have to put the
meeting some time before thatd time for them to meet, for them to quarrel, for hir
to shoot her, to wipe the pistol, the door handlesd there were no finger marks on
eitherd and then find his way over her dead body and out through the ruins, and
come in, as he did, by the front door. | say the time® too short. It couldnd have
been done then. Besides somebody would have been bound to hear the shot.o

She said, fAirhe wind was very high. But | agree about the timed it must have
been later than that. And | have no suspicion of Mr. Aligtair. | am merely telling you
that he was infatuated with Tanis Lyle.o

He said quickly, fiVliss Fane told me she was engaged to Carey Desborough.0

Miss Silver shook her head.

Al dond think s0.0

fiShe was quite positive about it.0

PAgnes is always positive.0 Miss Silver & tone was dry. fiShe is unable to believe
that circumstances may be too strong for her. I she sets her heart on anything, in her
opinion the matter is settled. It is, | believe, what is termed wishful thinking.o

Randal March surveyed her with a faintly quizzical smile.

fHaving been at some pains to describe Miss Lyle as such a dangerously
attractive worman, why are you so sure that Desborough wasnd in love with her?0

fBecause he is in love with Laura Fane.0

fOhd and what makes you think that?0

Miss Silver coughed.

fLove and a cold cannot be hid. It is, | believe, a Spanish proverb.o

fiY ou are sure?0

fOh, yes. They really do not trouble to hide it. A most attractive couple.o

His smile became a little more pronounced.

AYour well-known partiality for lovers! Would it surprise you to learn that
Desborough had a serious quarrel with Miss Lyle on Wednesday night, and that the
guarrel was about Laura Fane?0

At would not surprise me in the least,0 said Miss Silver. fl saw them leave the



room together, and they were away for some time. But | would like to know who
told you that they had quarrelled.o

He made a face.

fPerryd the conplete eavesdropper. Well, 1 shall see Desborough when he
comesin.o

Miss Silver got up.

Al should believe very little that Perry says,0 she observed.

March laughed.

A am not biased in her favour. What about Desborough? Is he to be believed
implicitly?0

Miss Silver smiled too, with rather a charming effect.

fAccording to David all men are liars. | am afraid that our profession does not
incline us to disagree with him. But | may at least say of Mr. Desborough that | do
not think he has had much practice in lying, or that he would be able to do it at all
convincingly.o

Making her exit on that, Miss Silver proceeded upstairs to Miss Fanets room.

She found Agnes Fane in the armchair by the fire with a book on her knee, but
she did not think she had been reading it, for she had the impression that the eyes
which were turned upon her entrance had been dwelling upon a ill vividly
remembered past. It seemed to her that Agnes came back from it with a reluctant
effort.

She took the opposite chair and proceeded at once to her errand.

A hope you will not consider me inopportune, but | think you ought to know,
without any further delay on my part, that the work for which you engaged me has
been dore.0

Miss Fane regarded her with some surprise.

fOh, that?0 she said. fit was not important.o

Miss Silver coughed.

At is not always easy to say what is important and what is not. In this case the
reliability of a witness may be in question.o

Agnes Fane said, il see. So you have found out who has been pilfering. Who is
it?0

AY our maid, Perry,0 said Miss Silver.

If she had expected denial or opposition she was to be surprised. Miss Fane®
hand rose dlightly and fell again upon the arm of her chair.

fHow exceedingly tiresome,0 she said.

AY ou are not surprised?0



The pale lips moved into a smile.

A have known Perry for forty-one years. | dond think you could tell me anything
which would surprise me. She disikes my having evacuees here. | suppose she
hoped | should blame them for the thefts and take steps to get rid of them That
would be quite in character.0

fYes. May | ask what you intend to do?0

Miss Fane raised her finely arched eyebrows.

Al shall let her see that | know. She will not do it again. By the way, | suppose
you are quite sure?0

fOh, yes. | talked to her about the thefts. She said you were distressed about
them, and allowed a good deal of animus against the evacuee families to appear. She
asserted that they came prowling into the bedrooms when the family was in the
drawing-room and the staff at supper in the servantsohall. | told her that | intended
to mark some money and leave it on my dressing-table. | let her see me do it. You
will perhaps remember that on Tuesday night | left the drawing-room as soon as
Dean had removed the coffee service. | wert up to my room. The money was still on
the dressing-table. | stood behind the curtains and waited. Presently Perry came in.
She stood listening for a moment. Then she picked up the money and went out
again. She will, 1 am sure, have found an opportunity of hiding it in one of the rooms
occupied by the evacuees.0

Miss Fane said, A see.0 And then, rather abruptly, AThis is Friday. Why didnd
you tell me before?0

A did not wish to upset you just as you were expecting a party of Tanis®
friends. As they were only coming down for a couple of nights, | thought it would be
better to wait until they had gone.o

AThat was very considerate.0 The deep voice had a note of irony.

Miss Silver drew herself up as she replied.

A did what | thought best. But now that my professional engagement is at an end
00

Miss Fane interrupted her with energy.

fWho said it was at an end? | most certainly did not.0

Miss Silver coughed.

Al do not quited 0

She was again interrupted.

fOh, yes, you dod you understand me perfectly. What? Do you think | take
steps to discover a petty theft, and stand aside and do nothing when my niece has
been murdered?0



Miss Silver contemplated her with calm

fAThe policed 0 she began, and heard an angry echo of the words.

fAThe police! Grinding their own axe and keeping their mouths shut! K eeping me
in the darkd me! Have you seen the Superintendent? Do you know what he came
up here to tell me not half an hour ago?0

A think 0.0

Miss Fane stared at her.

fHe came up to tell me that Jeffery Hazelton is out of it. He was fool enough to
suppose that it would be a relief to my mind.o

Miss Silver said quietly, fif you think of the child, Agres, it should be a relief.0

The white face went rigid for a moment. There was some strong control. She
said more quietly,

At leaves us in a terrible uncertainty. | wish you to work upon the case as ny
representative.0

Miss Silver said very serioudly indeed,

fAgnes, this is a murder case. | cannot be anyone® representative. | can only
work to discover the truth.0

fAilhet is all | am asking you to do. | am asking you to find out who shot Tanis.
And why. You may work with the police, or you may work separately. | lay no
obligations on you. | ask neither fear nor favour. | ask that the murderer should be
discoveredd and punished.o

Miss Silver looked at her.

fHave you considered that the murderer may be someone whom you know,
with whom you are on ternms of friendship, relationship evend a family connection, a
member of your household? All these are included among the possible suspects.o

fi am not a fool. | make no reservations. The murderer is to be discovered. Do
you accept?0

Miss Silver inclined her head.

fOn those termsd yes.o

Agnes Fane relaxed dlightly. That same ironic smile just touched her lips.

Af it is Perry, | shall have to find a new meaid. It would be incredibly tiresome.o

fAgnes! 0 Miss Silver permitted herself a shade of reproof.

AANd if it is 1,0 said Agnes Fane, still smiling, fthen Perry will have to find herself
a new mistress, which will be almost equally tiresome for her.o



CHAPTER 27

The curtains were drawn in Miss Fane® study. They were of a handsome
golden brown damask, a shade lighter than the woodwork. In combination with the
gowing fired the police are aways handy with a fired they made the room a good
many degrees less bleak. Light came from a bowl in the ceiling. It showed
Superintendent March, pleasant but official, at the writing-table, and Carey
Desborough facing him across it in as easy an attitude as a hard and upright chair
alowed. March had just said,

A believe you and Miss Lyle were engaged.0

The statement was a little disingenuous. Or perhaps that is putting it too politely,
since he believed no such thing. He merely wished to observe Mr. Desborough
reactions. They were displayed in a lifted eyebrow and a faint stiffening of manner as
he replied to what he chose to regard as a question.

fiOh, nod thatGs a mistake. There was no engagement.o

The Superintendent wondered whether this was a quibble. He said,

fAY ou would prefer to call it an understanding?o0

This time Mr. Desborough frowned. The expression suited him very well. A fine
looking young fellow, if you liked them on the dark and goomy side. This was of
course not the moment to be wreathed in smiles.

Carey said, il dond know where you got your information. We were not
engaged, and we had no understanding. We were merely friends.o

March moved some papers which lay at his right hand, bringing one of them to
the top and leaving it there.

fiMy information comes from Miss Fane. She tells me that there was an
understanding, and that the engagerment would have been announced very shortly.o

Carey nodded.

A thought so. It& what she wanted, and when she wants anything she makes up
her mind sheds going to get it. But in this case she was all out. We were just friends.o

AY ou knew that she had this idea?0

fOh, yes.0

fDid you do anything to disabuse her of it?0

fN0.0

fWhy not?0

The eyebrow went up again.

fiNot a very easy thingto do. As a matter of fact | told Tanis she ought to do it.0



AANd what did Miss Lyle say to that?0

fiShe didn@ warnt to at first, but afterwards she said she would.0

fWhy didnd she warnt t0?0

Carey frowned. He was aware of delicate ground under his feet. He wanted to
tell the truth. But how do you convey the truth about a very complicated Situation to
someone who knows nothing about it, without embarking on a three-volume novel?
You have to eliminate, but what you eliminate is part of the truth. What he wanted to
do was to eliminate Laura. Yet as far as he was concerned the whole situation
pivoted on Laura. He did the best he could, saying after no more than a momentary
paLse,

fiVliss Fane was very keen on our marrying. She hated the idea of a film career.
She wanted her to settle down here and have a family. Tanis was dependent on her.
She didnd wart to offend her, but she definitely didnd want to marry me or anyone
else. If she had told Miss Fane, it would have upset her very much.o

March put out his hand to the paper he had extracted. This time he put it down
infront of him on the blotting-pad. He said,

A dond think you are telling me very much. You havend, for instance, said
anything about a quarrel with Miss Lyle on Wednesday evening.0

fA quarrel?0

fONn Wednesday evening at about a quarter to six you left the drawing-room
together and went to Miss Lyle® sitting-room, where, | am informed, you had a
violent quarrel.o

Carey sat back and put his hands in his pockets. The attitude was an easy one,
but the unseen hands were clenched. Fatal to lose the temper. Under the pressure of
a very considerable self-restraint his dark skin flushed a little. He said with quite a
good effect of nonchalance,

fViolent is a bit strong. | wanted her to tell Miss Fane, and she didn@ want tod
for the reasons | have just given. We both lost our tempers a bit, but | shouldnd
have called it a violent quarrel.o

fNo?0 March touched the paper before him. AiThis statement does.o

The flush deepened.

fiSomeone listening in? Who was it?0

fiVliss Fane® maid, Perry. She came down in the lift, meaning to go out through
Miss Lyled sitting-room to the hall on her way to fetch something or other from the
kitchen wing. She says she always comes down that way to avoid the stairs because
she® got a stiff knee. Anyhow she was there in the octagon room when you were
talking, and she seems to have heard a good deal of what you said. She says the



door was gar, and she doesnd deny that she listened. Would you like to add
anything to your account of your relations with Miss Lyle?0 The Superintendentés
tone robbed the words of as much offence as was possible.

Carey pushed back his chair and stood up. He walked a few paces, stopped,
turned, and came and sat down again. There is a time to speak and a time to be
slent. The voice of common sense became insistent that this was a time to speak. It
IS, infact, better to go than to be dragged. He said,

AAll righnt, 18l tell you the whole thing. There® nothing in it, but when it comes to
eavesdroppers you never know how things are going to be twisted. You can have
the facts. My people and the Fanes were old friends. My mother used to bring me
here when | was eight or nine. Tanis and | were about the same age. My mother
died, and | didnd come here any more. | didnd see Tanis again till last summer, then
| saw alot of her. | came down here once or twice when | had leave. Miss Fane
was very kind to me. It ended in my asking Tanis to marry me.o

fANd she accepted you?o

This was the difficult bit, because he had believed himself to be accepted. It was
Tanis who had, a good deal later on, dealt summarily with that belief. He said,

fi thoughtd | wasd encouraged. Afterwards she told me | had been mistakend
she only wanted to be friends with me.o

fHow long afterwards?0

Al crashed in Octoberd | was in hospital for a couple of months. It was after |
came out.0

fANnd while you were in hospital?0

Carey was slent. The bitterness of that time came back.

fiShe came to see you?0

fN0.0

fWrote?0

fN0.0

Al see.... And after you came out of hospital you asked for an explanation, and
you were given to understand that you were just a friend? Was there any quarrel?0

fiNo. We went on seeing each other. | had alot of time on my hands.o

Al see. Perry says she heard Miss Lyle claim that there was an engagement
between you. She says that you wanted it broken off, but that Miss Lyle was not
willing to release you.0

Oh, well, it had got to comed he had known that all along. He said,

AThat®& what | meant when | said things got twisted. If | was Perry 1& swear to
every word we said. Asit is, 16ve only got a sort of general impression. | took Tanis



out of the drawing-room because | wanted to talk to her. She had shown me as
plainly as anyone can that she didnd care for me, but it suited her to let her aunts
think that there was some understanding between us. It didnd suit me, because | had
fallen in love with someone elsed with her cousin, Laura Fane. That® what she was
angry about. She didn@ want me herself, but she didn@ want to let me go.o

Randal March turned a leaf in Perry& statement, glanced down the page, and
turned back again.

Al think | had better read you some of this,0 he said.

A dMliss Tanis was talking to him very loving. She called him darling
and said they were engaged, werend they, and didnd@ he want to make
love to her. And he spoke very hard, and said she was to tell Miss Agnes
that the engagement was broken off. And she said that would be all on
account of Miss Laurad and a bad day she came into this house, the
same as her mother, breaking off other peopleé engagements.do

March glanced up.

fiThe last bit is, | gather, Perry® own comment. | dond know whether you
would care to add yours?0

Carey Desborough smiled. The smile changed his face quite a lot. He appeared
for the moment to be genuinely amused.

A most ingenious liar, you know. Because nearly al of thet® trued with a twist.
Tanis used pretty well those words, but she wasn@ being loving, she was being
sarcastic. And | certainly didnd ask her to tell Miss Fane we had broken off an
engagementd because there wasnd any engagemernt, and | asked her to tell Miss
Fane that there wasnd.o

March returned to the statemen.

Adrhey began to quarrel very hot about Miss Laura. Miss Tanis said
she wasn@ any better than she ought to be, and Mr. Carey he fired right
up, and he said, Y oudl go too far one of these fine days.do

fDid you say that?0

Carey nodded.

fiSomething like that. | told you we lost our tempers.0

fBut it wasnd a quarrel?0 The Superintendentd tone was pleasartly ironical. He
wernt back to the statement.



AdANnd Miss Tanis said, | suppose youd like to murder me? And he
said there was nothing hed like better.do

He looked up.

fAny comment on that?0

In a split second of astounded redlization Carey saw what those idiotic
quarrelling phrases could be made to suggest. He kept his voice cool as he said,

fPerryGs got her knife into med you can see that.0

fDid you use those words?0

fiNot those words. As far as | can remember, she said wouldnd | like to murder
her, and | said it would be a pleasure. We were both being sarcasticd not quite
Perry® line of country. | suppose she doesnd mertion that after | started to go
away, and came back to try to make it up?0

fiNo, she doesnd.o

Carey squared his shoulders.

Avell, 1 did. Wedd been pretty good friends, and wedd had some good timesd |
said something like thet. | didnd want to quarrel with her.o

fANd what did she say?0

The dark colour came to Carey® face. He took a longish breath before he
spoke.

fiShe said something pretty foul. | expect Perrys got it down.o

March read from the statemert.

A dMiss Tanis, she up and told him he might have lost his nerve for
flying but hedd got plenty when it came to treating her the way he was.do

s that correct?0

Carey met his look.

fNear enough. It got me on the raw. | havend lost my nerve, but | cand fly yet
because | cand judge distances properly. 1t& coming right, but 16/e been feeling
pretty badly about it, and when she said thet, | told her that was about enough, and |
went.o

Randal March put down the statement, observing drily, fiSo Perry says.0

He was thinking that a woman with a tongue like Tanis Lyle® might very easlly
get herself murdered, and thet it was a good thing for Carey Desborough that his
quarrel with her had taken place in the early evening of Wednesday and not on the
night of the murder. 1t would require a very revengeful disposition to brood for from



eighteen to twenty hours over a bitter word and then shoot a woman in the back.
Unless there had been some fresh provocation. He looked across the table in a
meditative manner and said,

Adm afraid | really cand accept your view of this scene as a mere exchange of
sarcasms. On your own showing it seems to me to have been a quarrel, and a pretty
serious one at thet.o

Carey smiled again with disarming frankness.

fWell, | suppose it was. But it didnd mean a lot, becaused 0 He hesitated and
looked appealingly at the Superintendent. fiYou know, | dond like saying things
about Tanis, but | think theydve got to be said. As far as she was concerned she
could flick that quarrel away, because there werend any feelings involved. She really
didnd care a scrap, but she saw her way to getting something she did care about,
and she set out to make the best bargain she could.o

March began to wonder what was coming next. When it came, it surprised hirr
considerably.

fiShe went to Laurad room that night and offered to do a deal with her. She
would square things up with Miss Fane and get her blessing on our engagement if
Laura would undertake not to sell the Priory.0

fiNot to sl it'o

fiYes. She didnd warnt to be tied up hered she wanted to go to Hollywood. But
she couldnd afford to offend Miss Fane.0

March found himself a good deal interested.

fANd what did Miss Laura say?0

fiShe didnd like it. She hadnd made up her mind to sell, but she didn like the
idea of a bargain behind Miss Fane® back. She® about the most honest person |16ve
ever met.0

Randal March had a momentary picture of Miss Laura Faneds steady eyes.

Carey went on speaking.

fiShe said she must talk it overd with me. Well, we talked about it, but we
hadn@ come to any conclusion. But | want you to understand that we were both on
perfectly friendly terms with Tanis that last dayd anyone will tell you thet. | danced
with her in the evening, and she told me that she wanted to be friends, and that she
would tell Miss Fane there wasn@ anything in the engagement idea.0

March looked at him.

fArhat was last nightd a few hours before the murder.o

Carey said, fiYes.0

AY ou were on friendly terms when you partedd when you said goodnight?0



Carey met the look with composure.

fYesd anyone will tell you that.0

AY ou said goodnight to Miss Lyle in the presence of the others?0

fYes.0

fDid you meet her again after that?0

fiN0.0 There was the faintest half hesitation before the word came out.

fDid you see her again that night?0

There was no half hesitation this time, but quite a long pause. Then Carey
Desborough said,

Y es.0



CHAPTER 28

It was some time later that Carey was called to the telephone. A woman& voice
said his name, but it was so strained and choked that it took him a momert to
recognize Sylvia Madison.

fiOh, Careyd is that you?0

fAY es. Good lord, Sylviad whats the matter?0

The voice shook, and choked again.

fCareyd 16md so frightened.0

fWhatés the metter, my dear?0

She gave a helpless little sob.

Até Timd he went out hours ago and he hasnd come back. 1Gm so frightened.o

He got a vivid flash-back to Tim Madison going past them in the field above the
Grange. How long ago? Three hoursd three and a half? No great meatter anyhow if it
hadn@ been for his face. He said,

fiyesd | met him when | was out with Laura. All set for a good long tramp, |
should say. | shouldnd@ worry, Sylvia.0

There was a breathless fOh! 0 And then, fDid he speak to you?0

Carey made his voice as casual as he could.

fiOh, no. He was a good way off. We were coming back. He didnd speak.o

Sylviaés voice became a wall.

fHe doesnd. Itd it frightens me. He sits and stares and doesnd@ say anything.
And hes been gone for hours.o

Carey became uneaslly conscious of the fact that a telephone conversation is not
always private. If the girl at the exchange was at a loose end she might at this
moment be hanging on SylviaGs every trembling syllable. He said,

flLook here, my dear, youdre just got the wind up. Whatever it is, hedl walk it
off and come home like a lamb. | tell you what, 18l give you a ring about half past
eight, and if everything isnd@ O.K. by then, 18] come over. Like me to bring Laura?0

fOh, nod | mean, | liked her awfully, butd well, perhaps youd better. Tim
might thinkd oh, | dond know, Careyd perhaps you wond have to comed but do
just what you think.0 She sounded helpless and distracted.

Carey, a little tickled at the idea that Tim Madison might regard an
unchaperoned visit with suspicion, found himself thinking, fiHed raise Cain if he was
jealous. A scene about Sylviawould put the lid on. 18l take Laura.o

When he called up again, it was to hear that Tim had just come in. In a hardly



audible whisper Sylvia said,

fAtds all right. Bring Laura some other time. Goodnight.o

It was a relief, though he had been looking forward to the walk in the dark with
Laura. They had now a perfectly ghastly evening before themd Alistair staring
moodily at nothing at all; Robin with a volume of the Encyclopedia Britannica in
which he read with admirable pertinacity; Petra talking too much, too brightly, and
then falling into a distressed silence; Miss Silver knitting placidly and conversing with
steady cheerfulness; whilst he and Laura got what comfort they could from the fact
that they were in the same room, and that occasionally their eyes could meet.
Everyone was glad when ten dow strokes from the clock in the hall made it decently
possible to go to bed. It seemed incredible that it was not yet twenty-four hours
since those other goodnights had been said in which Tanis Lyle had had her part. It
must have been in everybody thoughts, but no one spoke of itd in fact they hardly
spoke at all.

Carey® hand rested for a moment upon Laura® shoulder. The hard pressure
said more than words could have done. They went up sowly and in silence to their
rooms.

Miss Fane and Miss Adams did not appear at breakfast next day, but by the
middle of the morning both were downstairs again, taking up their accustomed
routine. Miss Fane® chair made its way to the north wing, where she held her usual
interview with Mrs. Dean in the housekeeper® room Tearful sympathy was
gracioudly accepted and then set aside. After the first few minutes there was nothing
to distinguish the conversation from that of any other Saturday morning. Miss Fane
wished a couple of economy dishes recommended by the Ministry of Food to be
substituted for those suggested by Mrs. Dean.

fiCarrots are extremely rich in vitamins, and this potato and onion curry should
be palatable as well as nourishing. Wedre really most fortunate in having such a good
stock of oniors....0

Mrs. Dean agreed as to the onions, but maintained a considerable reserve on the
subject of the Ministry& recipes. The dishes, having been ordered, would duly
appear, butd fidmsure | dond know how theydl turn out, maGam.o

Miss Fane passed to another subject.

fHow is Florrie Mumford doing? Do you find her satisfactory?0

Mrs. Dean bridled a little, emphasizing a double chin. Her large fair face lost the
look of passive resistance which it had acquired at the merntion of an entr® made
chiefly of carrots, and became human again.

fWell, matam, satisfactory is a lot to say about any girl these days. 16ve no fauit



to find with her work.o

fwith whet then, Mrs. Dean?0

Well, matam, it® the way she carries on outside. Shed quick at her work, and
she dond have to be told anything twiced 138l say that for her. But shed taking up a
kind of a giggling friendship with that girl upstairsd Gladys Hopkins, Mrs. Sladet
Sister.0

Miss Fane said, fOh, welld 6 with dignified indulgence. fiTheyée only girls after
al.o

Mrs. Dean tossed a head whose abundant sandy hair was tightly and neatly
coiled after a fashion long extinct.

Af it stopped at thatd 0 she said darkly.

Neither of the grls was seventeen. Miss Fane considered it her duty to probe
farther.

Al dond like hints, Mrs. Dean. | think you had better tell me what you mean.o

Mrs. Dean responded with alacrity.

Arhat Gladys, she off down to the village every evening and doesnd care who
she picks up with. |dve told Mrs. Slade she ought to keep a tighter hold on her, but
it no goodd she® a poor thing and the girlé& beyond her. Florrie® afternoon out
they go off together dressed up to the nines, rouge and lipstick and all. And Florries
got into a way of being late back. Ten sharp is the rule, and she® been anything five
to twenty minutes over it regular. And that boy of hers that brings her home, young
Shepherd, he comes right up the drive with her and round to the back door, and the
two of them there in the yard, giggling and whispering. If girls wasnd so hard to get,
Il have asked you to give her her notice. But there it is, we might go farther and
fare worse. And sheés good at her work.o

Miss Fane observed that the Shepherds were respectable people, and that she
disliked unnecessary changes in her household.

Al asked you about the girl because | passed her in the passage just now. There
was something about her expressiond | hope you dond find her impertinent?0

Mrs. Deand buxom form appeared to expand. In a few well-chosen words she
gave Miss Fane to understand that impertinence from girls was what she never had
put up with and never meart to.

This concluded the audience. Miss Fane departed as she had come, in her self-
propelling chair. She betook herself to a room not as a rule in use. The study having
been allotted to Superintendent March, she had given orders that this small morning-
room, which was next to the dining-room, should be prepared.

She found Miss Silver there reading the Times, and enquired,



fWhere is Lucy? | hope she has come down. The longer she shuts herself away,
the harder she will find it to come back to ordinary life again.o

Miss Silver assented.

Arhat is quite true. But it is not so long, Agnes. Y ou must remember that.o

fAmM | likely to forget it?0 said Agnes Fane. fBut if | can appear as usual, Lucy
cantoo.0

fAiYou have great strength of character,0 said Miss Silver. fBut as a matter of fact
Lucy came down just after you did. She is with the Superintendent in the study. He
wished to see her.0

As she spoke she folded and proffered the Times, which was graciously
accepted. It was Miss Fane invariable practice after glancing at the headlines to
read first the correspondence, and then the three leading articles.

She was half way through a letter from a gentleman with whom she cordially
disagreed, when the door opened and Lucy Adams came in. Like her cousin, she
was in black, but in her case the garment had obvioudy done service before.
Shapeless and unbecoming, it had the rusty, battered look peculiar to old mourning.
Her auburn front sat dlightly awry. Her brooch of Whitby jet was crooked. But her
face, though still puffed with yesterday® weeping, was composed, and the reddened
eyes were dry. She was straightening her gold-rimmed pince-nez as she entered. It
occurred to Miss Silver that there was a faint tinge of triumph in her manner.

fVly dear Maud, what a charming man your friend isd the Superintendent. An
extraordinary profession to choose, but he redlly is a very charming man. Dond you
agree with me, Agnes?0

Miss Fane raised her eyes from the paper for as brief a space as possible.

Al have no doubt that he is an efficient officer,0 she remarked, and returned to
the Times.

It was observable that Miss Maud Silver sat up very straight. There was an
unwonted tinge of colour in her cheeks. After pressing her lips together and saying
nothing for a moment, she got up and went out of the room

Across the passage at the half open study door stood the charming man and
efficient officer who had just been damned with faint praise by Agnes Fane. He
beckoned to Miss Silver, and she went over to him

A was just wondering how | was going to get hold of you. Come along and
listen. 16ve got plenty to tell you.o



CHAPTER 29

Miss Silver did not hurry herself. She took a seat, but her carriage remained
extremely upright. Her first remeark appeared irrelevant.

fReally, Agnes Fane can be extremely rude.o

Randal March made a good enough guess. He could not help laughing as he
exclaimed,

fWwhatd has she been calling me a policeman?0

Miss Silver took no notice of this. She was opening her knitting-bag, from which
she produced an embryo bootee. The wool was of the pale blue dedicated to male
infancy, and the pattern intricate. She busied herself with it for a moment before she
said,

flLucy considers you a most charming person, my dear Randal.o

He made awry face.

AThere are people whom | would rather charm. But 1Gm sorry for her, poor
thing. Now listen. The ballistics man says there® no doubt at all that the bullet taken
from Tanis Lyle® body was fired from the pistol found in the open drawer of her
bureau. The medical evidence is that it was fired on the level from not less than a
yard away, and that death must have been instantaneous. You see what that means
0 she was shot whilst she was standing at the top of that flight of steps leading to the
church. If she had been on one of the lower steps, the bullet would have entered at
an angle. She had opened the door, and she was standing there looking out. She
could have been shot from the lift, or from the drawing-room, or from the doorway
to her gtting-room. A variation in her own postion would meke any of them
possible.0

Miss Silver knitted. Then she said,

fWwhy should the door have been open?0

A think she opened it herself.0

fProbably. But why?0

AThe obvious answer is that she was expecting someone.o

She nodded.

fANd then?0

Al don@ know. Someone came up behind her and shot her dead. | don@ know
who it was.0

Miss Silver frowned.

fiShe came downstairs to admit someone to her sitting-roomd that is what you



suggest?0

fwWell, it seems obvious.0

fANd someone elsed | think you did mean someone elsed came in through her
sitting-room and shot her from behind?0

March nodded.

AThrough the sitting-room or the drawing-room, or from the lift. | don& think the
drawing-room at all likelyd the door was shut and the handle had not been wiped.
But there are those three possibilities.0

She shook her head.

fiShe would have heard the lift coming down. And what about the handle there?6

fPerry® prints all over it. She came down that way as soon as the alarm was
gven.o

fANd the sitting-room door?0

fiDean® prints on the outside handle of the door from the hall. He came in that
way. Fortunately he didnd touch the inner handle or any part of the door between
Miss Lyled sitting-room and the octagon room, or of the oak door to the church.
The inner handle had been wiped clean. The other two doors had not been wiped.
They both show Miss Lyle& own fingerprints. The same with the bureau drawer.
She opened it and those two doors herself, but the murderer had wiped the pistol
and the inner handle of the sitting-room door. You see the picture that givesd she
comes downstairs in her pyjamas and dressing-gownd 0

Miss Silver coughed. fivou say the stairs, Randal, but she might have used the
lift. Unlikely, | grant you, as even the best kept machinery will make some sound.o

fiShe used the stairs,0 said Randal March. fiDesborough saw her.o

Miss Silver narrowly escaped dropping a stitch. She said,

fDear melo

AAh! That interests you. It interests me guite alot. | told you 1 got things to tell
you. He says the wind kept him awake and he read till he had finished his book.
Then he thought hedd go down and get another. When he came out on the gallery
overlooking the hall he saw Tanis Lyle on the bottom step of the stairs. There is a
low-powered bulb burning in the hall all nightd he could see her quite well. She was
in her black dressing-gown, and she was just stepping down into the hall. She went
across it, opened her stting-room door, and went in. All this | am prepared to
believed he could have no possible motive for making it up. But here we come to
debatable ground. He says he went no farther. He didn@ want to meet her, so he
gave up any idea of getting himself a book and went back to bed. He looked at his
watch, and, he says, the time was five minutes to two.o



Miss Silver said, iVery interesting indeed. But | find no difficulty in believing that
he did in fact go back to his room. If he had anything to conceal he had only to hold
his tongue about the whole episode. It seems to me that he had every possble
reason for wishing to avoid an interview with Tanis at such a compromising hour.o

March looked at her.

fiSome reasons,0 he agreed. \Ve know what they were. But there may have
been others which forced him to an interview. We have only his own word for it that
there had been a reconciliation. 1 don@ know if | told you about that. He says they
danced together on the Thursday evening, and that she gave in all along the lined
promised to tell Miss Fane there was no engagement and al that. But, as | said,
wedve only got his word for it. A woman like Tanis Lyle would not allow an open
quarrel to spoil her house party. She might dance with him, play the perfect hostess,
and yet be threatening himd or Laura Fane. Perry heard her say something on the
lines of dvour Laurads name will be mud.6BY the way here®s her statement. You had
better read it.0

She took it from him, read it through, and laid it down with an expression of
distaste.

firhe type of witness who would twist the most innocent remark into something
sinister,0 was her comment. At is curious and salutary that hatred should invariably
betray itself.0

fWhy should she hate Carey Desborough?0

Miss Silver shook her head.

fiNot Carey Desborough, Randald Laura Fane.o

But why?0

fiShe has been with Agnes for forty-one years. She was with her when Laura®s
father broke their engagement to marry Lilian Ferrers. The present situation bears a
mideading resemblance to that unhappy affaird she sees Laura as another Lilian.
She hates her, and her hatred puts a twist on everything. As Lord Tennyson so truly
says, A lie that is half a truth is ever the hardest to fight.61 do not think that Perry
can be considered at all a reliable witness.o

He had a quizzcal, affectionate look for her quotation.

fN0,0 he said. fBut Desborough admits to a good deal of what® in that
statement of hers. They did quarrel, and he was pressing her to tell Miss Fane that
there was no engagement between them. She did call him darling and invite him to
make love to her. He says that this was sarcasm and over PerryGs head.0

AThet is very likely. Tanis Lyle had a cynical, sarcastic vein.o

Randal March made a kind of sweeping gesture with his right hand.



Well, there you are. It® like that all through. He admits the bit about saying
hed like to murder her too, only he says it wasnd a threat, just sarcasm.0

A expect he felt like wringing her neck,0 said Miss Silver placidly. fHe had
considerable provocation according to Perry. But since he restrained himself at the
time, | am unable to believe that he went downstairs more than twenty-four hours
later in the middle of the night and shot her in the back. That would imply an
assignation, andd 0

He interrupted her.

fNot necessarilyd infact not at all. He admits to having seen her go downgtairs.
Suppose he followed her down, pressed her again about this engagement businessd
the quarrel flared up. She had a very offensive tongue, you know. That bit in Perry&
statement about Laura Fane and the piece at the end where she twitted him with
having lost his nerved they got him on the raw all right.0

Al am not surprised.0

fNor am,0he said. AWell, it might have happened that way.0

fiMly dear Randal! 0 Her tone was one of mild reproof.

fHANd why not?0

fAirhe door,0 said Miss Silver more in sorrow than in anger id the door into the
church. If she was quarrelling with Mr. Desborough, can you think of any reason
why she should have opened that door and stood there on the top step with her
back to him looking out?0

He frowned meditatively.

Al cand think of oned 0

Her needles clicked.

fiNor can 1.0

fBut neither you nor | are omniscient. We cand think of everything.o

Miss Silver pressed her lips together. It was not her place to reprove a man of
thirty-six, but she considered this use of the word omniscient dightly profane. She
allowed the silence to speak for her.

Randal March broke it.

Arhered something else,0 he said. AAN that® why | called you in. You know |
have just seen Miss Adams. Well, she has made a statement which brings Laura
Fane into the picture.0

Miss Silver said nothing. Her lips remained pressed together.

He said in good- humoured exasperation,

fOh, | knew you wouldnd like itd but there it is. 16ve got to see the girl, and 16l
like you to be here, if she doesnd object. She can of course. Is she likely to?0



Miss Silver said, iNo,0and said no more.

They sat in silence after he had rung the bell. A maid camed a dark-eyed girl
with a sidelong look, Florrie Mumford the under-housemaid, the girl Agnes didnd
very much care about. She was sent to ask Miss Laura Fane if she would come to
the study, and presently Laura came, in the black dress which Agnes Fane had given
her.

March said, fiCome in.0 And then, A want to ask you some questions, Miss
Fane, and if you have no objection, | should like Miss Silver to be here. You are not
obliged to answer me, and you are not obliged to have Miss Silver hered you can
do just as you please about that.0

Laura stood just inside the door, which she had shut behind her. She looked
very white, and there were smudges under her eyes. She said in a young,
defenceless way,

fOh, | should like her to stay. And |4l tell youd anything | can.0

He pulled up a chair for her, and she came round the table and sat down there
with her hands in her lap. He took up one of the papers which lay before him and
said,

fiVliss Fane, did you leave your room at any time during the night on which the
murder took place?0

She lifted those beautiful candid eyes to his and said,

Y es.0

AWill you tell me why?0

fives. | woke up and remembered that | hadnd brought my Chinese shawl
upstairs. | went down to get it.0

fin the middle of the night?0

Something in his tone brought a little colour to her cheeks.

A knowd it sounds silly. But | couldn@ get to deep again. | kept wondering
where | had left it, and then | remembered, so | went down.o

Miss Silver knitted steadily, but she was watching them both.

fANnd where had you left it?0 said Randal March.

fHanging on the newel-post at the foot of the stairs.0

He came in very quick with fRight, or left?0 But there was no hesitation in her
reply.

AThe right-hand side going down.o

He glanced at the statement in his hand.

fANd you went down, and fetched it, and came back again?0

She shook her head.



fNo, | didnd fetchit. It wasnd there.0

In a way he was relieved. There had been a moment when he thought she was
going to lie, looking him straight in the face with those wide, truthful eyes. Because
Lucy Adanms had said that Laura Fane came back to her room at three odclock in
the morning, and that she came empty-handed. He said gravely,

Arhe shawl wasnd thered 0

fNo, it wasnd there.0

fBut you went on looking for itd 0O

fiYesd inthe hall, and in the drawing-room.0

fiN ot anywhere else?0

fiN0.0

fNot in Miss Lyless sitting- room?0

All her colour went, but the eyes did not waver. She thought, Af | had, | should
have found that open doord and Tanis deadd O

He saw a shudder go over her. She said,

fNo, | didnd go in there. | was thinkingd how dreadful if | hadd because |
supposed | should have found herd o

It was disarming, but he must not be disarmed. He said quickly,

fHow do you know that you would have found her then? What time was it?0

She wasnd frightened. She was puzzed.

fAThe clock struck as | was going upstairs. | think it struck three.0

fAiThen how do you know that the murder had taken place? How do you know
that Miss Lyle was already dead?0

Al suppose | dond. | didnd think about that, butd well, | suppose we all thought
0 it must have beend earlier thanthatd O Her voice trailed away, like a voice that is
being faded out. When it was quite gone March said,

Al see. You are sure you didnd go into Miss LyleGs sitting-room?0

AY es, |Gm quite sure.0

fAY ou didnd open the door from the hall?0

fiOh, no.0

fOr the door between the drawing-room and the octagon room? You were in
the drawing-room, werend you?0o

fiYes, | was in the drawing-room But | didn open the door.0

fWhy didnd you?o

The question leapt at her, but she only looked puzzed.

fWhy should 1? | was looking for my shawl. | thought | had left it in the hall, but
it might have got back into the drawing-room. | never thought of looking arnywhere



else.0

He leaned back in his chair.

fiYou say you thought you left this shawl hanging on the newel-post. Actually,
where did you leave it? Where was it found?0

Laura leaned forward. Colour came into her face and into her voice. She said,

Al did leave it on the newel-postd 16m sure | did. And it hasn@ been found at
al.o

AWhat?0

Miss Silverés eyes became intert.

Laura repeated her words.

At hasnd been found at al.o



CHAPTER 30

When they were alone again March turned in his chair with an abrupt,

AWell?0

During the whole of the time that Laura had been in the room Miss Silver had
knitted peacefully. The blue bootee had made considerable progress. The needles
had clicked without intermission, but Miss Silver & lips had not uttered a single word.
She unclosed them now.

fWhat do you expect me to say, my dear Randal?o

He smiled.

fWhat you think. Y ou always do.0

She gave her little dry cough.

Al hope so. But in this case | would rather hear what you think yourself.o

The smile became a thoughtful one.

fA disarming creature. One would say candour itselfd or one would have said
so if one hadn@ taken up this horrid trade. Do you remember Milly Morrison?0

fVly dear Randal, any woman would have seen through Milly at a glance.o

fiShe was a very pretty girl.0 His tone was drily regretful.

fANd a sadly deceitful one,0 said Miss Silver. She picked up her ball of wool,
which had rolled under the writing-table, and added, fiGentlemen are quite unable to
believe any harm of a young woman who has large blue eyes. If Laura Fane® eyes
were blue, you would not be suspecting her now.o

He laughed.

fOh, she® got lovely eyesd | grant you that. Easy to look at, and easy to trust.
But here we are with a set of awkward facts on our hands. Desborough and his
quarrel with Tanis Lyled a quarrel which drove himinto something uncommonly like
athreat to murder her. His admission that he saw her go downstairs just before two
oéclock on the night of the murder. If he wasn@ the murderer he was the last other
person to see her alive. But suppose he is the murderer. We dond really know what
their relations may have been. We do know that he was breaking with her to marry
Laura Fane. Just now when you asked me if | could think of any reason why she
should have opened the door to the church, | said | couldnd. It was stupid of me,
because there® a perfectly obvious reason. He was threatening her with the pistol,
and she had lost her head and was trying to make a bolt for it.0

Miss Silver shook her head.

Af you had seen Tanis Lyle when she was really being threatened with a pistol



you would not entertain that idea for an instart. It is quite absurd. She would have
faced himwithout a tremor.o

He said, Y ou cand telld people lose their nerve suddenlyd 16ve seen it happen.
But thaté just speculation. Thisd 0 he took out an envelope from a drawer and
handed it to herd fthisis evidence.0

She had laid down her knitting. She now opened the envelope and took out a
folded piece of paper. It contained a couple of black silk threads about eight inches
long. They appeared to be much discoloured. She looked at them gravely and
intently. Then, without speaking, she raised her eyes to the Superintendentds face.

He said, irhose threads were found clutched between the fingers of Tanis LyleGe
left hand. The stain is blood. Do they suggest anything to you?o

Miss Silver took her time. Then she said,

fWhat do they suggest to you?0

The quizzical look just showed, and was gone again.

fQuite a lot,0 he said. fiThe silk threads.... My mother had one of those Chinese
shawlsd she hasit ill.o

Miss Silver nodded.

fOh, yes, | remeamber it. But hers was all whited a very beautiful piece of
work.0

fiYes. It had a deep fringe all around it, about eight or nine inches longd in fact
about the length of those silk threads. But, as you say, my mother& shawl is white.
Laura Faneds, | suppose, is not, and | suppose you can describe it to me.o

Her needles clicked.

fOh, yes. It is black, very beautifully embroidered with coloured flowers and
butterflies.0

AANd it has a black fringe about eight inches deep?0

fiY es, Randal.o

He threw up a hand in an exasperated gesture.

fiyou cand refuse to look facts in the face just because you have taken a fancy
to Desborough and Laura Fane! Desborough was out of his room, and the girl out of
hers and downstairs, round about the time when the murder must have taken place.
Threads from the fringe of her shawl were between the dead woman fingers. They
are stained with blood. And the shawl itself has disappeared. Why? The obvious
answer to that is that it too was stained and had to be disposed of.0

Miss Silver looked up calmly.

fANnd how do you imagine that it became stained?0

fiyou mustnd think that 1 am corvinced of Desborough guilt, or of Laura



Fane®. | only say they could be guilty. They had motive, they had opportunity, and
those threads from the missing shawl and the fact that the shawl is missing are nasty
bits of evidence to explain away. As to how the shawl may have got stained, | think
that is quite easy. There is a quarrel between the three of them. Laura Fane may
have interposed. There may have been a struggle in which these threads were
broken off. They were caught in the setting of a ring which Miss Lyle was wearing.
Well, she gets frightened and makes for the door into the church. Desborough
shoots her, and she falls, as we know she did fall, from that top step. Laura Fane is
horrifiedd 18l grant you that. She runs down the steps, kneels beside the bodyd
someone did kneel thered the grass was all pressed down. When she realizes that
Miss Lyle is dead she comes back. She is concerned to save Desborough. They
wipe the pistol and put it back in the drawer. They wipe the inner handle of the
sitting-room doord probably the outer one too, because there are only Dean®
fingerprints on it. Then one of them notices that the shawl is stained. What are they
going to do about it? What did they do? Burned it in the furnace most probably, in
which case we may whistle for our evidence, though the disappearance of the shawl
isinitself a damning piece of evidence. Laura Fane may have gone back to her roomr
and left Desborough to clear up the mess, or they may have donre it together. The
only thing we know for certain is that she was neither wearing nor carrying the shawl
when she returned to her room. She said so herself, and Miss Adamsd 0

Miss Silver interrupted, a thing quite against her code of manners. She did it
quietly and deliberately.

fOh, yesd may | hear what Lucy has to say about it? | should be interested.o

He said, fOf course. Ités quite short.... Yes, hereit is. 18l read it to you.0

Arhank you. | am just turning the heel of my bootee.o

He read from Lucy Adams(s statement:

A dt was such a terribly windy night that my deep was very much
disturbed. | kept on waking up. | have a congtitutional didlike for the
sound of wind.do

He looked up with half a laugh. iiThere was a good deal more on those lines, but
lGmafraid | cut it out.0

flLucy has always been inclined to think too much about her feelings,0 said Miss
Silver.

Randal March resumed.



A dMy rest became more and more broken. | could only deep in
snatches. No, no, nod | did not hear any shot, | only heard that terrible
wind. | became too nervous to stay in bed, so | got up and walked about
my room.do

He looked up again. fiShe explained at considerable length that movement and a
drink of cold water had a soothing effect upon her nerves and usually enabled her to
go to deep again, but not on this occasion. After walking about her room for a time,
she says, she opened the door. The idea was to walk up and down the passage for a
change.o

flLucy has very little self-control,0 said Miss Silver.

March went back to the statement.

fHere we are. She says,

Ad opened my door and heard a footstep coming from the direction
of the stairs. | drew the door to, but left a crack because | wanted to see
who it was. At the same time | switched out my own light because | did
not wish to be seen.do

fLucy isa prying old maid,0 said Miss Silver.
He very nearly laughed. It might not have been forgiven him if he had. He went
on reading rather hastily.

Ad saw Laura Fane coming along the passage from the stairs. There
is a light at the other end outside my cousing room, and | could see her
quite plainly.do

Miss Silver coughed.

fAThe bulb is a fifteen-watt, and the passage is forty-five feet long. The distance
between the light and LucyG door would be about thirty feet, | should think.o

He murmured, fAY ou are always accurate,0 and went on reading,

A d_aurats door is very nearly opposite mine. She came aong the
passage and wert into her room. She was wearing her night-gown, and a
dressing-gown over it. She had dlippers on her feet. She wasn@ carrying a
candle, or a book, or anything. | couldnd imagine why she should be out
of her room like that, unless she had been meeting Mr. Desborough. |
was very much shocked at the idea. She went into her room and shut the



door. | was so much upset that | was quite unable to sleep.do

Miss Silver lips were firmly pressed together. He looked at her with some
amusement.

fwell, thatés all.o

flLucy ought to be ashamed of herself. That is, | am sure, a most unfounded
imputation.o

He laughed.

fidl take your word for it. | dond think Laura Fane and Carey Desborough
were indulging in a loversd meeting. | wish | hadn@ to suspect them of anything
worse than thet.0

Miss Silver put down her knitting and looked at him earnestly.

fDo you really suspect them, Randal?0

He said very seriously indeed,

A dond know, but 1Gm going to make it my business to know. And the first thing
I&m going to do is to find out what has become of that Chinese shawl.0



CHAPTER 31

Randal March had done his best to be as good as his word, but he had failed.
The house had been gone through with the proverbial finetooth-comb, but there was
no discoverable trace of Laura Fanes Chinese shawl. With its gaily embroidered
blooms, its butterflies, and its torn fringe, it had vanished as conpletely as if it had
possessed only the fantastic substance of a dream. Police superintendents do not
readily believe in the fantastic. March set Sergeant Stebbins and Police Constable
Pollock to the loathly task of sorting through the dustbins and the furnace ashes.

fithey must have burned it,0 he said, encourtering Miss Silver in the hall.
AThereds about a millionth chance of finding a shred or two.0

He put a hand on her arm and walked with her to the study. When they were
inside with the door shut he said,

fWe didnd find the shawl, but we did find something else. Look at this.0

He gave her a shred of crumpled paper. She smoothed it out, looked at it, and
read aloud, her cool, prim voice making a strange contrast with the scribbled words.

A GAll right darling come down to my sitting-room as soon as the
coast is clear. Not before oned Aunt A. reads late.do

He said, Airhereds no signature. Can you identify the writing?0

fOh, yesd Tanis Lylets.0

At® obvious of course from the context, butd you are quite sure about the
writing?0

fOh, quite sure.0 She gave him back the note. iWhere did you find it?0

fin the breast pocket of Alistair Maxwellés dinner-jacket.o

fDear melo

At& undated of course. | am going to show it to him and ask him if he@ got
anything to say about it. You can stay, if he doesnd object. | will explain that you are
representing the family.o

Alistar Maxwell objected to nothing. He had the dazed, half-stupefied
appearance of a man who is exhausted from shock and lack of deep. His usually
fresh complexion was dull and patchy. His fair hair was rough and his eyes set in his
head. They stared at the bit of paper which the Superintendent offered him,

fives, it mine. Where did you find it? | thought | had put it in the fire.0 He
spoke inadry, toneless voice, standing by the table. His eyes never left the paper.



AThis note,0 said Marchd fit was from Miss Lyle?0

He did not look up.

fiY es. It doesnd metter nowd doesit?0

A think it does. We want to know who killed her. This note makes an
appointment with you for one o&clock. The time referred to is undoubtedly the
middle of the night, because she speaks of her aunt reading late. Have you got
anything to say about this appointment? Did you keep it?0

fiYes, | kept it.0 The words were drained of expression.

fWould you care to tell me what happened?0

fOh, yesd it doesnd metter now. We quarrelled.o

fOhd you quarrelled. Seriously?0

fYes. She was tearing everything to bitsd Petrad med everyone. It couldnd go
on.o

March was looking very grave.

fVir. Maxwell, is this a confession? | must warn you that anything you say may
be taken down and used in evidence against you.0

He looked up then in a ow, bewildered manner.

fWwhat do you mean?0

A think you know what | mean. You can make a statement, or a confession, but
it is my duty to meke sure that you understand what you are doing.0

fButd 0

March said quickly,

AThis note has very grave implicationsd you must realize that. When you admit
that you kept the appointment, and that you had a very serious quarrel with Miss
Lyle, you come very near to incriminating yourself.0

Alistairés look of bewilderment deepened. He said,

A dond know what you mean.o

fiMr. Maxwell, | am not trying to trap you. | am here to discover who shot Miss
Lyle. You have admitted to being with her, and to having a very serious quarrel.
Miss Lyle was shot at some time between two oéclock, when she was last seen
aive, and the early hours of the morning. The medical evidence suggests that her
death took place not much later than three oéclock. You must realize that you are in
a serious position.0

The study door was jerked open. Petra North ran in. She banged it behind her
and stood against it, eyes and cheeks blazing. She said in a clear, angry voice,

fHe isn@! He didnd touch herd he wouldnd!o

March turned.



AY ou were listening at the door, Miss North?0

She left it and ran to Alitair, linking an arm through his.

fOf course | listened! Cand you see he® ill? How dare you try and bully hin?
He& ill, 1 tell youd he doesn@ know what he® saying. You might just as well say
that | did it. | wanted to, and | said so dozens of timesd | expect you could get any
number of people to say theydre heard me. Because | hated her like poison. But
Alistair didnd hate her. Alistair loved her. He& breaking his heart for her this minute.
He worshipped her.0

She was quite outside herself, passionate in defence.

Alistair pulled roughly away.

AThat® not true! 0 His voice was thick and unsteady. A think | hated her. Shedd
got me, and | couldnd get away. ThatGs not rightd youdre got to be able to get away
if you want to. She wond let you get away. | expect thaté why she was killed.o

Marchés voice broke in.

fVir. Maxwell, do you wish to maeke a statement, ord a confession?0

Petra called out in a high, shrill voice,

fiNo, no, nod hedidndd hedidnG doit! | did itd | shot her!o

The whole thing had passed at great speed. They were all standing. Miss Silver
had one hand on the edge of the table, leaning on it. At Petra® words Alistair
Maxwell took a lurching step forward and sumped down in the writing-chair, his
arms flung out across the table, his head sunk upon them. The movement was so
abrupt, it had amost the effect of a fall. March looked down at him before he turned
to Petra.

fiyou had better sit down, Miss North. We seem to be a chair short. 1dl bring
one in from the dining-room. You must consider what you have just said, and
whether you would be willing to make a statement. | have to tell you that what you
say may be used in evidence against you.0

Alistair Maxwell& hands clenched one upon the other. A strong shudder went
over him.

Petra said nothing. She remained standing till March returned with the chair.
Then she sat down.

When they were all seated, March said gravely,

fNow, Miss Northd have you considered your position?0

She had lost a little of her look of a kitten at bay, but she was still very much
flushed, very tense. She said in a defiant voice,

Al shot her. It wasnd anyone elsed it was me.o

AANd your motive?0



fiShe was tearing Alistair to bits. | couldnd bear it any longer.o

A see. Will you tell me just what you did? You went up to your room with the
others on Thursday night?0

fAYes, | went up with Laura Fane. We didnd talk. We went to our rooms.o

fArhen will you go on from there? What did you do?0

She sat up very straight and stiff with her hands clasped in her lap and said like a
child repeating a lesson,

Al got into a dressing-gown, but | didnd undress. | knew it was no good going to
bed or trying to deepd | was too unhappy. | thought about al the things that had
been happening, and | couldnd see any way out of them as long as Tanis was dlive. |
hated her, and | wished she was dead. Presently | couldnd bear it any longer in my
room, so | went downstairs. There was a light in Tanis® sitting-room. | remembered
about the pistol being in the bureau there. | went in. She wasnd there. | got the pistol
and wert into the octagon room to look for her. | could hear her opening the door
there. She had just opened it when | came in. | shot her. She fell down the steps.
ThatGs al.o

March said, fiNot quite, Miss North. | should like to ask you a few questions.
When you came down the stairs you were in your dressing-gown. Was it very
cold?0

The clasp of her hands had relaxed. She looked at him with some astonishment.

fiNod | dond think sod | didnd notice.0

Miss Silver had been watching her intently. A very faint smile now changed the
line of her lips.

March said, AY ou didnd feel the need of an extra wrap or anything like that?0

fiN0.0 Her tone was a puzzed one.

AY ou are quite sure of that?0

fOh, yes, quite.0

fWell then, you came down the stairs into the hall. What time was it?0

She hesitated.

A dond knowd | didnd notice.0

AY ou didnd meet anyone?0

fN0.0

fOr notice anything at all unusual?o

fNod | wasnd noticing things.o

fiyou didnd notice whether there was anything hanging on the newel-post at the
foot of the stairs?0

Her flush deepened.



A tell you | wasn@ noticing things.o

AYoude quite sure you didnd see Miss Laura Fane® Chinese shawl, or handle
it?0

AOf course 1Gm sure. What@ the good of all these questions? [dve told you | shot
Tanis. Isnd that enough?0

The severity of his look had relaxed a little.

fNot quite, 1Gm afraid. You say that you came into the sitting-room and got the
pistol. Where was it?0

There was hardly a pause before she said,

fin the bureau.o

fiYesd Miss Lyle had told everyone that, hadn@ she? But the bureau has a flap,
and three drawers. From which of these places did you take the pistol?0

She turned wide, startled eyes on him.

fCome, Miss North!0

She said in a whispering voice, i dond remember.0 And then, fit waso it was
under the flapd | think.0 The last two words were so faint as to be almost inaudible.

March regarded her.

fwell, you shot Miss Lyle. What did you do after that?0

She said with obvious relief,

Al came back to my room.0

His quizzical look showed for a momert.

fAs quickly as all that? You didn@ go down the steps to meke sure that Miss
Lyle was really dead?0

Her eyes were wary now.

A dond knowd | might have doned 0

ACome, Miss North, you must remember whether you went down the steps or
not.o

A dond know.o

fWell, what did you do with the pistol? Do you know that?0

Ad | put it down.o

fdust like that?0

A dond know what you mean.0

He was smiling a little.

fiYou shot Miss Lyle, and you dond know whether you went down the steps or
not. And you put the pistol down, but you don@ know where you puit it. Let me see
if 1 can help you to remember. Do you think you put it back under the flap of the
bureau?0



i dond know where | put it.0

She was frightened now, and afraid of committing herself.

fDo you think you might have dropped it after you fired?0

Al dond know.o

fBut you remember opening the flap of the bureau to take the pistol out?0

Y es.0

fDo you remember opening or shutting either of the doors in the roomd the
door fromthe hall for instance? Y ou came in that way?0

fAiYes, | came inthat way.0

fAiThen you had to open that door.0

fAY es.0

fDid you shut it behind you?0

A dond know.0 Her voice had begun to shake.

fWell then, after you had shot Miss Lyle and dropped the pistold can you
remember whether you had to open the sitting-room door to get back into the hall?0

fi dond know. Idve told you that | dond know. What does it matter? |dve told
you | shot her.o

Randal March leaned back in his chair. He said in his agreeable voice,

fiVliss North, youdre told me a number of things, and most of them are untrue.
To start with, you say you saw a light in Miss Lyle® sitting-room. That would mean
that the door into the hall was open. Later on you say you had to open this door.
Both these statements cand be true. If we are to believe the first of them, we have to
swallow the improbability that Miss Lyle had gone into the octagon room to admit a
midnight visitor, leaving her gitting-room door open to advertise the fact. 1 can@
manage to believe that myself. If, on the other hand, you opened the door, how do
you account for its not having your fingerprints on it? You say you took the pistol
from under the bureau flap. You left no fingerprints there either. You dond know
what you did with the pistol afterwards, but the person who used it had taken good
care to wipe it and put it back in the place from which it was taken, which wasna
under the bureau flap at al. Your trouble is that youdre trying to confess to a crime
without having the least idea of how it was committed. The person who shot Miss
Lyle kept a clear head. Telltale fingerprints were al most carefully removed. If you
had removed them you wouldn@ have forgotten the fact, or where they had beend
where the pistol was, or where the murderer finally left it. You did your best, but you
couldnd tell me these things because you didnd know them. Fortunately for you it is
extremely difficult for an innocent person to prove himself guilty. You see, he doesnd
really know enough about the job.o



Alistair Maxwell& head had lifted. He was looking at Petra. She was pale now,
her expression one of misery. Alistair said in a sudden loud voice,

fPetrad youfool!o

The tears which had been gathering welled up and began to roll down her
cheeks. She sat quite still and let them fall.

Alistair got up and came to her. With an arm about her shoulders, he addressed
himself to March.

fidn sorry, sird she® a damned little fool. But | suppose she thought | did it. |
didnd, you know. 16m afraid | made an exhibition of myself just now. 1t& been a
shock, and | havend been sleeping. 1Gm all right now. And | can explain about that
note. It wasnd for Thursday night at all, it was for Wednesday. If you look at it again
youdl see thet it couldnd have been for Thursday, because it said one oéclock. Well,
the Madisons were coming in on Thursday night. e always dance when they come
in, and they never go away urtil well after midnightd anyone in the house will tell you
that. She would never have said one oéclock if it had been for Thursday night.0

Petra turned in her chair with a quick movement and hid her face against his arm.

Randal March got to his feet and opened the door.

fOh, take her away and pick up the bits, Maxwell! 0 he said.



CHAPTER 32

As the door shut behind them, March turned a half laughing, half vexed face
upon Miss Silver and saw that she was smiling.

AWell?0 he said.

fAs far as they are concerned, it is the best thing that could have happened. |
imagine that he has been under a very severe strain for some time, and the shock of
Tanis® death came very near to sending him off his balance. The counter-shock of
hearing Miss North confess to the murder seems to have had a most salutary effect.
| am convinced that his attachment to her is of a deep and lasting character. He has
been torn in two directions, and has blamed himself bitterly. Miss North is devoted
to hm. Her confession was of course made on the spur of the moment and is quite
ridiculous. Y ou handled her very well indeed, Randal.o

He made her amock serious bow, and then came back to gravity.

fAY ou think Maxwell cleared himself.0

fiDo not you?o

He shrugged.

A suppose | dod as a man. As a policeman, |dm not so sure. His rendering of
the note is possible, even probable. You know aswell as | do that it isnd conclusive.
She might have said one occlock and yet meant Thursday night, if she intended to get
rid of the Madisons early. | know they didnd leave till half past twelve, but then
Maxwell himself had flung out of the house and hadn@ come back. She may have
meant to tantalize him by allowing the party to run on urtil after his return. It was
Mrs. Madison who definitely broke it up, wasnd it?0

fives. She had been looking ill all the evening. She was evidently very unhappy
indeed about her husbandés attentions to Tanis.0

He looked at her sharply.

fiNow do you mean anything by that, or dond you?0

Her faint colourless eyebrows rose a little.

fVly dear Randal, | was merely answering your question.o

He smiled.

fiSo you were. Madisonds attertions were marked?0

Miss Silver gave her little cough.

fExtremely marked. They danced together nearly the whole evening. | could see
that Agnes was uneasy.o0

fiShe didnd interfere in any way?0



Miss Silver coughed again.

At depends on what you would call interference. She beckoned to Mr.
Desborough. | was so placed that | unavoidably caught some of their conversation.
She asked him if he had quarrelled with Tanis, and when he said no she said Mr.
Madison was making her conspicuous and urged him to put a stop to it. It was after
thet that he did dance with her.0

A see. Was Maxwell in the room at this time?0

fiNo. He had already left the house according to Miss North. They were away
from the drawing-room for some time together, and then she came back and said
that he had gone out.0

March looked up with a gint of humour in his eyes.

fiyou seem to have had a delightful eveningd Madison and Maxwell about as
pleasant as thunder, Miss North and Mrs. Madison acutely jealous and wretchedd ¢
He broke off and came at her with a sudden, fWhat about Desborough and Laura
Faned how were they?0

Miss Silver smiled.

AThey were happy, and very obvioudly in love. Laura was radiant, and after he
had danced with Tanis Mr. Desborough looked radiant t00.0

AThat is capable of more than one interpretation. It might substartiate his
statement that she had promised to set things right for him with her aunt, or it might
be taken to mean that a reconciliation of a different kind had taken place, and that
she had given him an assignation.o

Miss Silver corrected him with decision.

fiOh, dear me nod it wasnd that. It would be impossible for anyone who saw
them together to believe such a thing. | cannot repeat too empheatically that Mr.
Desborough was most evidently and completely in love with Laura and that if he
ever had been in love with Tanis it was entirely a thing of the past. | remember
assuring Agnes on Wednesday evening that she was quite mistaken in imagining that
there was any warmer fegling between them than friendship.o

March began to put his papers together.

fWell, 1 accept your judgment on that point. What remains to be disproved is
my original theory that Desborough did have an interview with her on Thursdayd at
the time when he admits to seeing her go downstairs, and when Laura Fane also
admits to having been out of her room | am afraid thet they till head my list of
suspects, with Maxwell as second string.0

Miss Silver folded her hands and pursed her lips for a moment. Then she said,

fANd where does Mr. Madison come on this list of yours, Randal?0



He paused, then turned to face her.

fiViadison?0

Miss Silver inclined her head.

March frowned.

fwell, the evidence is quite clear as to his having left the house.0

Miss Silver coughed.

ATanis Lyle® appointment was not with anyone in this house, Randald | have
been convinced of that all along. The fact that the door leading to the ruined church
was open is not subsidiary but integral. The door was open because she herself had
opened itd and she had opened it because she was going to admit someone with
whom she had an assignation. There is to my mind no other explanation of the fact
that this door was open, and that she herself was standing there on the top step
when she was shot. Now who was she expecting? Not her former husband, because
he was in a London nursing home, strapped down in bed and under constant
observation. Not Mr. Desborough or Mr. Maxwell, because they were both inside
the house, and if she had had an appointment with either of them he would have
come down the stairs and entered her sitting-room by way of the hall. Then who was
it? 1 do not see how we can avoid the conclusion that it was Mr. Madison. |
certainly do not assert that he shot her, but | think it is more than probable that he
was the visitor she was expecting.0

March regarded her with interest.

fiyou dond exonerate either Desborough or Maxwell that way,0 he said. A
suppose you know that. In fact you are providing them with a motived especially
Maxwell. A jealous young man who has followed the woman with whom he is
infatuated, only to find that she is opening her door to someone else, might easily
lose his self-control.0

Miss Silver shook her head.

fYou forget that according to the fingerprints it was Tanis herself who opened
the drawer in which the pistol was. The pistol had been wiped, but not the drawer.
Tanis® prints were plain upon it. Dean says the drawer was shut when he went his
rounds before going to bed. He found it open next morning, and the pistol lying in full
view. If anyone except Tanis handled that drawer, it must have been done very
cleverly and carefully by a gloved hand or one with a handkerchief wrapped round
it, and great care must have been taken not to disturb the existing fingerprints. This
would mean both an intention to murder and a knowledge of the exact whereabouts
of the pistal. | cannot myself see either Mr. Desborough or Mr. Maxwell conbining
the sudden frenzy which prompts a man to murder with this skilful precaution against



discovery.o

March made an impatient gesture.

fArhe fact is we dond know what happened, and probably we never shall. As for
what a murderer will do and won@ do, you know very well that a man who is off his
balanced and | suppose no one murders unless he is off his balanced is incalculable.
You can guess at the actions and reactions of a reasonable human being because
reason is a common denominator, but the madman is outside reasond there isnd a
common denominator any more, and there® simply no saying what he may or may
not do. He swings on to his balance, and he does a sane thing. You say, 6Yes, thatés
in characterd that® all rightd | might have done that myself.6He swings off it, and
you say, d cand fit that bit ind ité& all wrongd he wouldn@ do that.6And yet it may
be quite true. The sane, controlled self wouldnd have donre it, but the criminal,
unbalanced self has done it. Thered your explanation.0

Miss Silver smiled indulgently.

fAble but fallacious, my dear Randal,0 she said. iWhat | was pointing out to you
was that we have here the evidence of a controlled intention to murder and, having
murdered, to avoid the consequences. | find this incompatible with either Mr.
Desborough® or Mr. Maxwell& frame of mind, or even with what you suppose to
have been their frame of mind, on Thursday night. And you do not account for the
disappearance of the Chinese shawl.0

March half frowned, half laughed.

fiyou wart to hoist me with my own petard. How like a woman! Because, as
you very well know, | did account for it on the supposition that Laura Fane was an
accessory either during or after the fact, and that the shawl became stained and had
to be destroyed. Thet is, of course, presuming that Desborough was the murderer. If
it was Maxwell, you may have your pointd the shawl eludes me. But | am very
nearly sure that it wasn@ Maxwell, and that the shawl has been destroyed because
00

It was at this moment that a hesitating tap upon the door was followed by its
partial opening. Florrie Mumford was disclosed. At Miss Silveré crisp, iCome inl¢
she advanced into the room with an odd sidelong movement. Her cap was over one
eye, she was smudged with coal dust, and she held a dirty crumpled-up newspaper
in her hand.

fWhet isit, Florrie?0 said Miss Silver in her most governessy tone. Really the girl
was scandalously untidy. Mrs. Dean ought to pull her up.

Florrie sent a bright, uneasy glance in the direction of the Superintendent. He
repeated Miss Silver enquiry.



fWheat is it? What do you want?0

She came edging up to the writing-table and plumped the newspaper down in
front of him

Af you please, sir, the sergeant and the constable have been going through the
ashbins and thingsd 0 She paused, her eyes going to and fro, looking at hin
sideways, looking away again.

He said, AY es?0in an encouraging voice.

AThey said as how it was Miss Laurad shawl they was looking for. And | didnd
say nothing to themd 16ve nothing against Miss Laurad but it kepbon coming into
my mind and | thought as how | & better bring it along.0

March& hands were on the paper, unfolding it, spreading it out. It was grimed
with coal dust. It contained a little ash and some charred fragments of stuff. The stuff
was a thick, lustreless black silk with a remnant of ruined embroidery clinging to it
here and there. One bright butterfly survived the flames. By some erratic chance his
jewelled wings had kept their turquoise sheen.

Florrie pointed with a smudged finger.

A thought it would be ever so pretty cut out and sewed on again on a ribbon or
something, and seeing 1a raked it out of the fire, | didnd think thered be any harm.¢

March question came sharply.

fwhat fire did you rake it out of 20

AThe drawing-room.0 She gave her head a toss. fidve all the fires to do before
breakfastd drawing-room, dining-room, Miss LyleGs room, and this.0

After a good deal of questioning the story emerged, such as it was. Florrie went
round doing fires before the black-out was taken down. She was supposed to start
a seven, but on the morning after the murder she had been late, very late indeedd
S0 late in fact that she had only done the drawing-room and dining-room when the
bell went for breakfast in the servantsdhall. Shaking in her shoes, she had dipped
into the study at a quarter past eight after Dean had admitted the daylight, and was
doing the grate there when the alarm was given and the house raised. Because of her
hurry in the drawing-room she hadnd taken very much notice of what she bundled
into her pan, but it did cross her mind to think there was something odd about the
ash, and when she came to turn it out, there were these bits of stuff, and she
wondered whatever Miss Laura had been and burned that lovely shawl for, and she
thought it wouldn@ hurt no one if she was to keep the buitterfly, seeing it was put in
the fire to be burned and no manner of use to no one.

When she was gone March got up. Face and voice were grave as he said,

Arhe analyst must have these at once. TheyGre stainedd something besides the



burning. If, as | expect, that stain is blood, we have the reason why they survived the
fire. The wet patch wouldn@ burn, and somehow it must have screened the butterfly.
Queer how the little things survive, isnd it?0

Miss Silver was as grave as he. She said,

fAY es.0



CHAPTER 33

Carey took Laura to the Grange cottage to see Sylvia Madison after lunch. Tim,
it appeared, had been out ever since breakfastd fiand then he only drank some
coffee and wert off.0 Sylvia, on the telephone, was very, very worried.

A6 all a damned nightmare, 0 Carey said soberly as they walked down the drive
0 fand nightmares are a bit outside Sylvia® form. Shes rather sweet, you know,
and they used to be most awfully happy, but she wants propping, and Tim has let her
down flat.o

Laura gave a shaky laugh.

fDarling, am | a chaperon?0

He nodded.

ATIMG as jealous as theyde made. If he found me propping Sylvia, there might
be the hell of arow.0

There was a sound of tapping footsteps behind them. Turning, they beheld Miss
Silver hurrying down the drive in an antique black cloth jacket shaped to the waist
and a grey and black checked scarf which only partially covered the coat® own
collar of nibbled, yellowish fur. A felt hat, from which she had removed a bunch of
purple pansies, was secured by a jetted hatpin of portentous size. She came up with
them, holding the scarf.

fAgnes very kindly lent me this, but the ends fly out so. I am not really
accustomed to wearing a scarf. My fur collar keeps me very snug, but the colour is
perhaps a little bright for present circumstances. May | join you as far as our ways
lie together? | thought of paying a call upon Mrs. Madison. | fear that she may be
feeling very much upset by what has occurred.o

There was a dlight dismayed pause. Careyd frown came down. He said bluntly,

flLauraand | were going there. If she is upsetd 0

Miss Silver broke in brightly.

fOh, but | should not dream of staying. Do you know, | guessed that you might
be going there, and | rather welcomed the opportunity of accompanying you. Bt |
have no intention of staying. | have something of Mrs. Madison@ which | should like
to returnto herd thet isall.o

Stepping out briskly between two silent young people, she discoursed upon the
weather, the beauties of a winter landscape, the difficulties of providing sufficient
workers for the land in wartime, the duty of growing as many carrots and potatoes
as possible, and, without any appearance of being inconsequent, the loneliness of life



in the depths of the country for those who have not been brought up to it.

fMirs. Madison nowd she hardly seems to be a country type, if you know what
| mean, Mr. Desborough.0

Mr. Desborough knew very well. Until things had gone wrong for her Sylvia had
played at living in the country as charmingly as she had played at being Tim
M adisonds petted bride. Now the play was done.

He replied briefly, iN0.0

Miss Silver continued her bright conversation.

fNo? | thought not. She has too sheltered alook, if | may say so. Of course it is
all right when her husband is here, but how does she manage when he is away? The
lane between the cottage and the village is a lonely one, and | think she only has daily
help, does she not?0

This time it was impossible to be quite monosyllabic. Carey said, fiYes,0 and
then added, fHer sister comes when Madison is away.o

Miss Silver beamed.

fVery nice of her. An older sister, | presume. Mrs. Madison looks so very
young, and so timidd | really could not imagine her walking about these lanes by
herself after dark.o

Carey couldnd either. He said so blurtly.

fiShed aways lived in a town. They were bombed out of their flat, and she
hasnd really got over it. Things frighten herd loud noises, the dark, being alone, all
that sort of thing.0

Miss Silverés smile became sympathetic.

Awell, that is just what | thought.0

She went on talking about life in the country until they arrived within a stonets
throw of the Cottage. Behind her flow of talk she was reflecting that Mr.
Desborough was a very good-looking young man in spite of a deepening air of
goomd just a little like Manfred, though of course one didnd really read Lord
Byron& poems; so apt to be coarse, though undeniably wittyd when he turned and
addressed her.

fOne moment, Miss Silver. | don@ want you to think me rude, butd 0

He paused, and she said fives?0in an encouraging voice. Thet this increased his
difficulty in proceeding was plain. The dark colour rose. He plunged in a determined
manner.

AThe Madisons are my friendsd 16ve known them a long time. Sylvia is a
nervous, delicate sort of girld she cand stand up for herself. Shed very much upset
about this business. | cand help knowing that youdre got some connection with the



policed 0

Miss Silver coughed.

fNot with the police, Mr. Desboroughd | am a private detective.
Superintendent March is kind enough to alow me certain facilities. He is an old
friend, and he is aware that | should not abuse his indulgence. But my position in this
affair is that my professional services have been engaged by Miss Fane.0

fANd you were going to see Sylvia Madison in your professional capacity?0

Miss Silver paused for a moment before she replied.

AiTo some extent, yes.0 Then, seeing that Carey was about to speak, she
stopped him. iMr. Desborough, | appreciate your point. You are going to see Mrs.
Madison as a friend. | am paying her a visit of a different character, though | hope
not an unfriendly one. You are naturally unwilling to appear to sponsor me in any
way by arriving in my company. | propose, therefore, that you and Miss Laura
should precede me. Y ou cantell Mrs. Madison whatever you please. If she does not
wish to see me she has only to shut her door. | shall not force myself upon her. It is,
however, my belief that it would be to her own interest to see me. | do not pressthe
point, and | may be wrong, but that is my present belief. If she decides to see me, |
should like it to be in your presence and Miss Laurats.0

As she spoke, Carey® mood cleared. He was experiencing what so many of
Miss Silver & clients had experienced before, a transition from irritation and criticism
to a sense that here was something extraordinarily solid and reliable. He said in quite
a different tone,

fvVery well, 18l tell her. But she may say no.0

fDear me, | hope she wond,0 said Miss Silver placidly. At would really be a
great pity.0

Ten minutes later she was entering Sylvia Madison® drawing-room, the old
living-room of the cottage with a bay thrown out and a good deal more light
admitted. The low black beams and the deep hearts remained, contrasting with
Sylvias pretty frilly curtains and pale flowery chintzes. Everything except the cottage
itself was pathetically new. Lamps, a chromium clock, a shagreen cigarette-box, the
ash trays freshly inscribed, were obvioudy wedding-presents and of no long
standing. Sylvia@s grey-blue tweed skirt and hand-knitted pullover were certainly
part of her trousseau. She stood, holding tightly to Laura, and gazed at Miss Silver
out of terrified blue eyes.

Miss Silver came forward with a small tissue-paper packet in her hand. Look
and tone were kind but grave as she said,

fldn so glad that you have felt able to see me. | think this belongs to you.0



Harmless words and few enough, but they drained the remaining colour fromr
Sylvia milky skin. She took the packet, let go of Laura, and sat down suddenly
upon the couch from which she had risen at Miss Silver& entrance. In a nervous,
indeterminate manner her fingers plucked at the paper. A sharper movemern tilted
the contents into her lapd a stained and crumpled handkerchief with an elaborately
embroidered fSylviad across a corner.

She looked at it. They al looked at it. The stains were of a pale brownish red
like washed-out blood. The sheer linen was a mass of crumples and smears.

Miss Silver sat down upon the couch beside her and said in a crisp but friendly
tone,

AThat is your handkerchief, isit not? | expect you knew that you had dropped it,
even if you were not quite sure of the exact spot. The wind had carried it to where |
found it, wedged into a hole in one of the ruined arches.o

Laura said, fiOhd 0O It was more a sighing breath than a word. She felt behind
her for a chair and sat down.

Carey said quickly, fDond say anything, Sylviad dond say anything at alld
dond speak!o

Miss Silver smiled faintly. Her eyes were shrewd and kind.

A am not trying to trap Mrs. Madison,0 she said. Af | were | should not have
allowed you to prepare her for my visit.0 She turned to Sylvia. fiThere are questions
that | should naturally like to ask you, but | will refrain. Instead | will tell you how |
think you came to lose your handkerchief.0

Sylvia lifted desperately frightened eyes.

fVly dear,0 said Miss Silver, fwill you not try and be brave? | might have gone
to the police with this handkerchiefd strictly speaking it was my duty to do sod but
| have brought it to you, and instead of trying to find you alone | have been careful to
secure the presence of two of your friends. What | have to say will be painful, but it
will be better for you, and | think for everyone, if you will control yourself and listen
tome.o

Sylviads lips moved, but no sound came. She cortinued to gaze at Miss Silver
with the look of a creature that is caught in a trap. She was most desperately afraid,
and the thing she was afraid of was coming nearer and nearer. She could neither help
nor hinder it. She had just to sit there and see the knife come nearer, nearer,
nearer....

Miss Silver removed the crumpled handkerchief, wrapped it in its tissue-paper,
and began to speak.

fOn Thursday night, the night on which Miss Lyle was shot, you left the Priory



with your husband at half past twelve and waked home. You had been very
unhappy al the evening because of Mr. Madison& attertions to Miss Lyle.
Gentlemen are liable to these sudden infatuations. They seldom mean very much and
are usually of short duration, especially when their object is a changeable and
unprincipled young woman. But they can be, of course, very distressing. It is very
natural indeed that you should be distressed. | have no means of knowing whether
you shared this distress with your husband.o

Sylvia shook her head mutely.

Well, you reached home, and you separated for the night. But neither of you
went to bedd Mr. Madison because he intended to return to the Priory, and you
because you suspected this intention. Shortly before two oéclock Mr. Madison left
the house and you followed him.0

Sylvia gave a faint gasp.

Miss Silver cortinued.

fWhat | should very much like to know is just how much time elapsed before
you followed him. | thinkd indeed | may sayd that | myself am sure that the time
was very short. | think you would have kept as close to your husband as possible.
You are not, | should say, accustomed to being out alone in the middle of the night. |
do not ask you to confirm this, | only state my own opinion. When you reached the
Priory you had to grope your way into the ruined church. Y ou may have had a torch,
but you would have been afraid to use it except in an emergency. | think you most
probably had one, and that Mr. Madison certainly had. You reached a place from
which you were able to see a faint light proceeding from the open door of the
octagon room. There was no light in that room, but there was a shaded light in Miss
LyleG stting-room, and the door between the two rooms was open. From an
experiment which | made yesterday | should say that the light was sufficient to enable
you to distinguish the figure of your husband. He was either bending over the body
of Miss Lyle or kneeling beside it. He may or may not have had his torch switched
on. | am unable to say what happened next, or how long you both remained in this
Situation, but eventually Mr. Madison went away. He may have gone into the house
first, or he may not, but | think you remained where you were urtil he had left the
precincts. Then you too approached Miss Lyle& body. You may have knelt down
besde itd someone did. You may have switched on your torch. All I know for a
fact is that you used your handkerchief either to wipe your own fingers which had
become stained, or more directly in an attempt to stanch the wound. When you
realized that there was nothing you could do you found your way home. It must have
been a most terrible and unnerving experience. Mr. Madison had some considerable



start of you, and you were to al intents and purposes alone. Whilst you were
groping your way out of the ruins the stained handkerchief, which was till in your
hand, dropped and was carried away by the wind. A downpour of rain occurred
towards morning and washed some of the stain awayd some, but not all. You
reached home exhausted and prostrated. Now, Mrs. Madison, | warnt to give you a
piece of information and a piece of advice. | should also like to ask you a question,
but there is no need for you to answer it unless you wish to do so. Here is the
informetion. You cannot be made to give evidence against your husband. Most
people know that. Whet is not so generally known is that there is nothing to prevent
your giving evidence in his favour. | can see you are afraid that your husband shot
Miss Lyle. It seems to me that your testimony might exonerate him. Now for my
question. Have you had any explanation with Mr. Madison?0 She looked shrewdly
at the shrinking Sylvia and continued. fl can see that you have not. Secrets between
married people are very disadvantageous. My advice to you is that you resume a
confidence which should never have been interrupted. Tell him exactly what you did
on Thursday night, and invite him to do the same. Thet is all, my dear. | will now
leave you with your friends.o



CHAPTER 34

Sylvia remained gazing at the door which had just closed behind Miss Silver.
She had the look of someone who has seen or heard something which they are quite
unable to believe. As Laura came to sit beside her, she turned a little and said in a
whispering voice,

fWho is shed how does she knowd was she there?0

Laura shook her head.

fiShe doesnd@ have to be there. She knows things. | dond know how she does
it.o

Carey pulled a chair up close and sat down, bringing himself nearer to Sylviats
level. Her pale hair glinted like silver gilt between him and the light from the big new
windowd agrey light gancing in under old dark beams. He said,

fwould you like to talk about it, Sylvia? Wasiit like that?0

Her left hand had caught at Laura. She put out the other to him in a childish
gesture.

fOh, yes! Oh, Carey, how did she know? She must have been there! How did
she know about my following Tim and being afraid of letting him get too far aheadd
and afraid of getting too neard and afraid to use my torch? Oh, you dond@ know
how awful it wasd you dond know!0 Her hands shook, her whole body shook.

Carey sad insistently,

flLook here, Sylviad did you hear the shot? Dond answer unless youde sure.
Take time to think. Did you hear it?0

The trembling ceased. She became rigid. Her voice went strained and thin, like a
fine wire stretched to breaking-point.

A dond know. | thoughtd it was someoned shooting. They do. | thought it was
that.0

CareyGs grasp on her hand tightened.

fSylvia, listen! Where were you when you heard this shot?0

She said A dond@ knowo again, in a mechanical fashion.

fiNonsense! You must know. Youdre got to think. Was it while you were in the
lane?0

fNod oh, nod it wasnd.o

fiNo, you wouldnd have heard it with all that wind. You must have been nearer
thanthatd a good deal nearer. Was it before you came to the Priory gate, or after?0

fOh, it was before,0 said Sylvia, coming to life a little.



fiGood girl! Keep right on remembering! Where do you think you were when
you heard it?0

She pulled her hand away.

fiOh, 1 remember. It was at the corner, just after the crossroads. Why do you
make me remember it? | dond wart t0.0

Carey and Laura looked at one another. The corner beyond the crossroads....
In a direct line it was only a hundred yards from the ruined Priory church. A few
hundred yards as the crow flies, but nearly double that distance by way of footpath
and drive. And by footpath and drive Tim Madison and Sylvia would have to take
their way, since the Priory grounds were enclosed by a high stone wall. Which meant
that Tanis Lyle was dead before Tim Madison so much as set foot inside those
grounds.

Carey turned back to Sylvia. Her face was working and she had begun to cry.

fdust one more question,0 he said. MDid you hear any other shotd after you were
inthe groundsd quite near the Prioryd when you were in the ruins?0

fiNo, nod | didnd. How could 1? She was dead. Oh, please, please, please
dond ask me any more!o

As she sobbed out the words, the door was flung open, and there strode in upon
them Tim Madison, his red hair in a shock and his blue eyes blazing. His voice as he
enquired what was going on in his house was forcible enough to have dominated a
hurricane. That he was in a towering temper was evident. He stood over Sylvia and
shouted at Carey.

fWheat the hell do you think youdre doing here, frightening her into fits? You and
your tame detective! | met her in the lane, and if 1ad known what shedd been up to
|al have broken her neck!o

Carey grinned suddenly.

AThat would have been alot of help, wouldnd it?0 he said. iDond make more of
an ass of yourself than you can help, Tim. | didn@ bring Miss Silver hered she came.
And | think she came to do you a service. Also if anyoneds frightening Sylvia into fits,
ités you. Wedl be going now. See you later. Come aong, Lauralo

Laura had never been readier to go in her life. She pressed Sylvia trembling
hand and, true to her upbringing, sent a murmured goodbye in the direction of an
unwilling host.

When the door had shut on her and Carey, Tim Madison swung round upon his
wife.

fWhatbve you been saying? Do you hear? Whatéve you said? Whatéve you told
them?0 The sentences were shot at her like bullets.



Sylvia stared at him, the tears running down. With a smothered ejaculation he
caught her wrists and jerked her to her feet.

fiStop crying and answer me! Did you talk to that woman? She® a detective, |
tell you. Did you tell her anything? My God, Sylvyd what did you tell her?0

Sylvia stopped crying. The awful silence which had hung between them like a
piece of ice was broken. She didnd care how angry he was. He was thinking of
herd angry withherd calling her Sylvy again, instead of making her fedl like a
ghost, unseen, unfelt, unwanted. His very anger warmed her. Life and loveliness
flowed back. She looked at him, not afraid any more, and said,

A didnd tell her anything. She knew it all. She told me.o

The angry colour went out of his face. He said, AWhat!0in a voice that choked
and failed.

Sylvia nodded.

fiShe didd redlly. You can ask Carey and Laurad they were here. And they
didnd bring her, you know. They found out that she was coming, and she let them
come on ahead and tell me. And Carey said | neednd see her, butd 0 Her voice
began to waver. fiOh, Timd | dropped my handkerchiefd so when they told me
shed got something she wanted to returnto med | knewd wheat it was.0

He said sharply, fiWhere did you drop it?0

fin the ruins. She found it there. Oh, Timd itGs stained.o

fWhereisit?0

fiShe took it away.0

His grasp tightened until it hurt.

fAiyou might have dropped it any timed anywhere. With that wind, it could have
blown in from the road. You must say your nose bled on Wednesday whilst we
were out. 18l back you up.o

She shook her head.

ATim, ités no use. She knows. She told me everything just the way it happened.o

AANd what did you tell her?0

fNothing.0

fiDGyou mean that? DGyou mean you didnd say anything at all?0

A coudndd | was too frightened.o

AY ou didnd tell her she was rightd anything like that?0

She shook her head.

He held her harder than ever for a moment, and then let go.

fAirhank the Lord for thet!0 he said, and started for the door.

ATiMd where are you going?0



He said, fiTo get your handkerchief back,0 and went out of the room and out of
the house, banging the doors behind him. The house shook and quivered.

Everything round Sylvia seemed to shake and quiver. She sat down again in the
corner of the sofa and shut her eyes.



CHAPTER 35

After encountering the tempestuous Mr. Madison, Miss Silver pursued a
homeward way. fiSomething accomplished, something done,0 as she herself might
have quoted, had earned, if not a night® repose, at any rate that inner sense of well-
being which is the reward of effort.

Entering the Priory, she removed jacket and hat and descended to the morning-
room, where she found Miss Lucy Adams sitting close to the window to catch the
waning light. On this dark January day there really was little enough to read by after
three occlock in the afternoon.

Miss Adams put down her book in a somewhat self-conscious manner.

fWhere have you been, Maud? Not out, surely? Such a bitter day. But of
course it does make a break, though it wouldnd do for me to leave the house.
People would talkd you know how it is in the country, and you aways meet
someone when you dond want to. There® a lot of gossip in a village. But you cand
just sit, can you, so | took up a book to pass the time a littled but of course one
cand keep oneds mind on anything, and ité a stupid book really.o

Miss Silver® very serviceable eyes had already informed her that the work in
guestion hailed from the Ledlington branch of a famous library, and that it was
entitled The Clue that Failed. She remarked mildly that she found a good thriller
very enjoyable herself.

fiYou always liked them, | remember, Lucy, and they have really improved out
of al knowledge since we were girls.0

Miss Adams put the book down upon an already crowded table. There was
something pettish about the action, and a tinge of the same quality in her voice as she
said,

fOh, I dond know about that. | dond remember caring for them specially. | read
themd everyone doesd there are such a lot of them. But as for caring for therr
speciallyd 0 she gave allittle jerky laughd fit is Perry who does that. You wouldnd
thirk it to look at her, would you, but if one of my library books is missing, | always
know where it has got to. Perry will sit up to all hoursto finish a thriller.o

Miss Silver had produced a ball of wool from her knitting-bag, and was casting
on the right number of stitches to provide a pink bootee of the same size and pattern
as the pale blue pair which she had just completed. Without lifting her eyes she
enquired,

fANd Agnesd does she read them too?0



Lucy Adams tossed her head and set her pince-nez straight again.

fiShe wouldnd admit it if she did, though | dond see that thered anything to be
ashamed of myself. Oh, nod Agnes reads all sorts of highbrow books. Dull as
ditchwater, | call them. So we each have our own subscription, and if | do find that
one of my novels has got into Agnes® room, well, of course it is always Perry who
has left it there, and | have to look as if | believed that, which | dond. You know
what Agnesis.o

Miss Silver cast on another titch, and remarked in a soothing voice that
everyore liked a change now and then.

fAgnes leads a sadly restricted life, poor thing.0

It was at this point that Dean opened the door and announced that Mr. Madison
would like to see Miss Silverd AANd | dond know if it was right, madam, but | have
shown himinto the study. He said he had come on a matter of business.o

Miss Silver said, fQuite right, Dean.0 She had a very dert look as she gathered
her knitting-bag and her pink ball and crossed the passage.

She found Tim Madison pacing the floor and in no mood to be trifled with by an
inquisitive old maid with a taste for amateur detection. Without any preliminaries he
explained his presence, using alouder voice than is usual in a private house.

A have come for my wifed handkerchief. She told me you were putting up some
cock-and-bull story about it. 1 shall be glad if you will exercise your imagination on
someone elses affairs. The facts are these. My wife is not strong. When we were
out on Wednesday afternoon she had an attack of nose-bleeding. She felt faint, and
| had to help her home. Afterwards she missed the handkerchief she had used. It
seems that the wind carried it into the Priory grounds.o

Miss Silver had remained standing, her knitting in one hand, her knitting-bag in
the other. She now permitted a very faint smile to touch her lips as she said,

fDoes it, Mr. Madison?0 And then, Awill you not sit down?0

He was about to refuse, and in no measured tone, when something checked him,
He didnd know quite how he had expected her to behave, but not like this. He had
mede a furious ondaught, and it was met with the complete calm, the poise, the hint
of smiling superiority which swept him back to the schoolroom, almost to the
nursery. Somehowd by what means, he had no idead this little dowdy worman put
him in his place, the place of a raging little boy confronted by authority. And the
authority checked him. As she seated herself after a gentle, leisurely fashion, he
jerked one of the upright chairs towards him and straddled it, folding his arms on the
back and facing her.

She said, fThank you. | do not care to carry on a conversation for long in a



standing position. Now, | think, we had better talk. Mr. Madisond what makes you
S0 sure that your wife shot Tanis Lyle?0

Only once before in his life had Tim Madison received so great a shock. For a
moment his face went grey. The next the blood rushed violertly to his head. His ears
sang, and the room went round. Through this confusion came Miss Silver & voice,
quiet and perfectly kind.

AY ou are quite wrong, you know. She did not do it.0

His head cleared. The drumming in his ears ceased. He said in a voice from
which all the angry ring had gone,

fWhat did you say? Will you say it again?0

Miss Silver said it againd the same words, the same voice. She had begun to
knit. Her manner was as composed as anything he had ever seenin his life. He gazed
at her and said with the simplicity which comes after shock,

fHow do you know?0

She amiled allittle.

fHas she ever handled a pistol in her life? Would she know how to fire one?
Would she in any conceivable circumstance have left her home in the middle of the
night and come down that dark lane and through these grounds alone? Really, Mr.
Madison, you should know her better than that. Nod what she did was to follow
you.0

fiShe followed me?0

Miss Silver gave him the bright, pleased nod which approves a correct answer
from a backward pupil.

fExactly. She had guessed at your appointment with Miss Lyle. She followed
you, keeping as close as she dared. | do not, of course, know how near the house
you were when the shot was fired, but | think you must have heard it. In a country
district a shot in the night is a common enough occurrence. You probably thought
nothing of it at the time, but when you came to the foot of the steps leading to the
octagon room you found Miss Lyle lying there dead. | think you must have turned on
your torch. Your wife probably saw you there, kneeling over the body, or standing
over it.0

He said in a hoarse, changed voice,

fWwhy do you say probably? Didnd she tell you?o

Miss Silverés needles clicked.

Al asked her no questions, and she has told me nothing. | am giving you the resullt
of my own deductions, but they do not go all the way. | do not, for instance, know
whether you went into the house or not. You had had a severe shock. There must



have been a moment when you realized that your position was one of great danger,
and you made your way home. When you were gone Mrs. Madison nerved herself
to approach the body. It must have cost her a very great effort. She did not know
that Miss Lyle had been shot. She was past reasoning. She thought that she had
been killed by you. | believe that it was a womanly instinct which made her
overcome her fear in order to see if there was anything she could do. When she
found that Miss Lyle was really dead she came away, in what state of helpless terror
you can best imagine. She dropped the handkerchief which she had used in an
attempt to stanch the wound. Fortunately the wind carried it to a place where it was
overlooked by the police but where | discovered it. | say fortunately, because as
soon as | found that handkerchief | was able to deduce from it the story which |
have just given you, and to feel assured not only of your wife® innocence, of which |
never had any doubt, but also of your ownd a very different metter.o

He stared at her, his blue eyes fixed and straining.

A like to know how you meke that out.0

She was knitting steadily. Half an inch of pink bootee stood out from the needles
like a little frill.

fit is very smple, Mr. Madison. | have trained myself to observe character, and
your wife is not hard to read. She is sinple, gertle, affectionate, and timid. When |
found her handkerchief | knew that she had been in the ruins shortly after the
murder. Only one thing could possibly have brought her thered she had followed
you. But she would never have allowed you to get far enough ahead to enter Miss
Lyled sitting-room, quarrel with her, and secure the pistol. You see, there must have
been a quarrel, or Miss Lyle would not, after having admitted you, have opened that
outer door again. She could only have done so if she had either become alarmed and
was trying to escaped an explanation quite at variance with her characterd or if she
had lost her patience with you and was sending you away. In either case some time
must have elapsed. A quarrel does not work up to the point of murder in a momert.
By all accounts you were on the best of terms with her during the preceding evening.
Now, admitting the necessity for sufficient time for such a violent quarrel to develop,
what would your wife have been doing meanwhile? Can you believe for a moment
that she would have stood outside aone in the dark? The emotion which was strong
enough to induce her to follow you would, | am convinced, have taken her up those
steps and into the sitting-room to confront you and Miss Lyle. She would not have
stayed out there in the dark alone whilst you were in a lighted room with another
womand | am quite sure of that. Therefore, Mr. Madison, you did not shoot Tanis
Lyle. But when you reached home and discovered that your wife was not there and



her bed not dept in, and when presently you heard her creep into the housed heard,
as | am convinced you must have heard, her terrified breathing and her smothered
sobsd you jumped to the dreadful conclusion that it was she who had done so. In
your normal state of mind you would never have entertained such anidea. But under
the influence of shock we are not normal.o

He said in a humble voice, and with evident emotion,

A &ve been the damndest fool.0

Miss Silver smiled at him kindly.

fiGo home and comfort your wife. You will have to take care of her, | think. She
has a fragile look.0

He got to his feet and stood there shamefaced.

Al was rude to you when you came in. 1Gm sorry. Carey said you had come to
do us a service. He was rightd youdre done us a very great one. Thank you very
much.0

He was going towards the door, when she called him back.

fAiTwo questions, Mr. Madison. You did hear the shot, didnd you? Where were
you?0

flust past the crossroads. | didnd think about it urtil afterwards.o

She nodded.

fdust one thing more. Did you enter the house?0

He shook his head.

fNod | never thought about it. | was knocked clean out, and then it was just
like you said. | thought, df anyone comes, 16m done.do

She rose on that and offered him her hand.

He said, iWhat about SylviaGs handkerchief? Arend you going to give it to me?0

Miss Silver coughed. Her hand felt small and firmin his. She withdrew it.

fOh, no, Mr. Madison. | shall have to show it to the Superintendert. | could not
be a party to concealing evidence. But | hope that he will take the same view of the
metter as | do. And now pray go home to your wife.0

A much chastened Mr. Madison wernt home.



CHAPTER 36

Randal March surveyed Miss Silver with a look which she found quite easy to
read. It was, or would have been, severe, if severity had not hesitated upon the brink
of expression. She was well aware that for no one else in the world would it have so
hesitated. If she had been anyone but Miss Maud Silver, the Superintendent would
have been telling her very stiffly indeed exactly what he thought of people who
concealed bloodstained handkerchiefs discovered on the scene of a murder, ad
then played a lone hand with two suspects instead of turning the whole meatter over
to the police. Being not without feminine tact, she showed no disposition to argue
this point, presented, as it was, politely but firmly. She even nodded her head and
said fQuite so0 as the officia view was expounded, and then addressed herself to
turning the hedl of the pink bootee. The official remonstrance went past her.
Presently it ceased. Randal March allowed himself to relax.

AY ou seem very sure of the Madisonsdinnocence.o

fiMy dear Randal, of course | amsure.0

She spoke without lifting her eyes, and he replied with vigour.

Al wonder what a jury would say abot it.0

She did look up then.

Al do not imagine that a jury will ever have the opportunity.o

He alowed himself an exasperated movemen.

fWhy are you so sure? You say that Madison would not have had time to
commit the murder because his wife would have been too timid to let him get far
enough ahead of her. But you know, there is an answer to that. He knew the pistol
was in her bureau. Two of the statements agree that the fact was mentioned on
Thursday evening when the Madisons were here. There may have been such a scene
between him and his wife as to make him resolve to put a violent end to the situation.
He is the type of man who might do a violent thing.0

Miss Silver shook her head.

fBad psychology, Randal. Mr. Madison would not shoot a worman in the back.
He might strangle her if he was sufficiently provoked. It would, | think, require
contact to rouse him to the point of murder. Besides he was most firmly convinced
that his wife had shot Miss Lyle. It was this conviction which was almost driving him
out of his mind. Nod you will find that my solution is correct. It springs from the
characters of the people concerned. They are both sinple typesd he the vigorous,
rather primitive male, and she his feminine counterpart, the timid clinging female.



When you interview themd | suppose you mean to interview themd you will, | arr
convinced, find yourself believing in their innocence as firmly as | do.o

He thought it likely enough, but he did not say so. He made instead an impatient
movement and said,

fWell, someone shot her, and | mean to find out who it was. If you wond have
the Madisons, who is left? Leté get down to it. You wond be any better pleased if |
head the list with Desborough and Laura Fane.o

He drew pen and paper towards him and wrote the names upon it in a small,
forcible hand:

CAREY DESBOROUGH

LAURA FANE:

MOTIVES TO EXTRICATE DESBOROUGH FROM AN
ENTANGLEMENT TO WHICH HE MAY HAVE BEEN DEEPLY
COMMITTED, AND WHICH HAD BECOME INTOLERABLE.

Miss Silverés eyebrows rose.

fs that a motive for murder?0

At has been, time and again.0

fivien break such entanglements every day, my dear Randal.0

He nodded.

fAirhat is true. But once in away they break them violentlyd like this.0
He turned back to his paper and wrote:

OPPORTUNITY. THEY BOTH ADMIT TO BEING UPAND OUT
OF THEIR ROOMS LONGAFTER EVERYONE ELSE HAD GONE
TO BED. LAURA FANE WAS SEEN RETURNING TO HER
ROOM AT 3:00 A.M. DESBOROUGH PUTS HIS TIME AT 1.55,

BUT WE HAVE ONLY HIS WORD FOR IT. L.E& SHAWL

DISAPPEARED THAT NIGHT. TWO THREADS FROM THE
FRINGE CAUGHT ON MISS LYLE®S RING. BLOODSTAINED
FRAGMENT FOUND AMONGST ASHES OF DRAWING-ROOM
FIRE.

Repeating aloud what he had written, he added,
AThe stain was blood, you know.o
Miss Silver knitted unperturbed.



fiSo | supposed.o

fWell, it doesn@ look too good for Desborough and Miss Faned does it?0

RAppearances are often extremely deceptive. Pray continue your list, Randal. It
is mogt interesting.0

He wrote:

ALISTAIR MAXWELL:

MOTIVES JEALOUSY.

OPPORTUNITYd UNDATED NOTE MAKING ASSIGNATION
1:00 A.M. OR LATER FOUND IN HIS DRESS CLOTHES. ADMITS
HE KEPT APPOINTMENT AND QUARRELLED WITH
DECEASED, BUT STATESIT WAS ON THE PREVIOUS NIGHT.

He looked up again.

fA case could very easlly be made out against Alistair Maxwell. You saw the
condition he was in. Are you going to tell me he mightnd have shot Tanis Lyle if he
had come in upon her and found her on the point of admitting another man?0

Miss Silver unwound some of her pink wool.

fiN 0,0 she said. Aln those circumstances he might have shot her. But | do not see
how they could have arisen. Tanis would not have invited Mr. Madison if she
aready had an appointment with Mr. Maxwell. The fact that she was expecting Mr.
Madison bears out Mr. Maxwell® statemernt that her note to him referred to the
previous evening. Added to this, if Mr. Maxwell had been worked up to the point of
murdering her he would have been quite past undertaking the cool removal of
fingerprintsd and, as | said before, the burning of the shawl is not explained.o

fiMiss Lyle might have been wearing it. Say she felt cold when she came
downstairs, and picked it up.o

Miss Silver® pink ball dropped and rolled. He bent to pick it up. She said
equably,

fBut why should Mr. Maxwell burn it? | can see no motive at all. It would not
compromise him.o

fiNo.0 March laid a finger on the names at the top of the list. iNo. There it isd
youdve said it. The shawl could compromise no one except Laura Fane. Only she, or
someone acting in her interest, had a motive for destroying it.0

Miss Silver said, i wonder. Pray go on with your list, Randal.0

He wrote:



PETRA NORTH:

MOTIVES QUITE STRONG.

OPPORTUNITYd THE SAMEAS THAT OF EVERYONE ELSE IN
THE HOUSE. OBVIOUSLY BOGUS CONFESSIONd MADE ON
SPUR OF MOMENT TO DIVERT SUSPICION FROM MAXWELL.
TIM MADISON:

MOTIVES NONE SO FAR ASCERTAINABLE.

OPPORTUNITYd ADMITS TO HAVING ASSIGNATION WITH
HER THAT NIGHT. SAYS HE FOUND HER ALREADY DEAD.
DENIES ENTERING HOUSE.

MRS. MADISON:

MOTIVES JEALOUSY.

OPPORTUNITYd HER BLOODSTAINED HANDKERCHIEF
FOUND IN RUINS. ADMITS TO BEING THERE AND TO
HAVING TOUCHED THE BODY BUT SAYS SHE FOLLOWED
HER HUSBAND AND FOUND MISS LYLE DEAD.

Miss Silver coughed dlightly.

fAilhat is not quite correct. Mrs. Madison did follow her husband, did find hirr
standing or kneeling over the body, and did touch it herself, afterwards losing her
stained handkerchief. But she has not yet admitted to any of these things, though she
will undoubtedly do so when you tax her with them.0

Randal March smiled.

Adm merely being a little previous? 1dl let it stand for the present. Well, |
suppose that is about all. Miss Fane and Miss Adanms could have no possble
interest in their niece® death. She seems to have been the main object of their
existence. There is no motive at al, and in Miss Fane case at least no opportunity,
since she can only move about in her invalid chair.o

Miss Silver primmed her mouth.

Al agree with you that Agnes could not possibly have desired her niece® death,
but had she desired it she could, | think, have done everything that was done by the
murderer.0

He made an exclamation of surprise.

fFrom aninvalid chair?0

Miss Silver was silent for a moment. Then she said,

fiShe is extremely skilful in her use of it. She can go up and down in the lift
without any assistance.o



A didnd know that!0

She nodded.

A thought perhaps you did not.o

ACould she have taken the pistol from the drawer and replaced it?0

A think 0.0

He frowned.

AThere® something wrong here. Wait a minuted if Miss Fane came down in her
chair by way of the lift, Miss Lyle must have both seen and heard her. The
machinery is by no means silent. Even with a high wind blowing, | think it must have
been heard by anyone who was standing at the door of the octagon room.0

Miss Silver said, iiThe door was open, but the wind was on the other side of the
house. That point has not been brought out. In my opinion it is an important one. The
octagon room is screened by the south wall of the Priory. It is in fact so much
sheltered that the door to the church had not blown to, but was till standing open
when Dean discovered the body.o

March nodded.

fAS you say, it isa pointd and it bears out my contention that Miss Lyle would
have heard the lift. Remember, she must have been on the lookout for Madison, and
also for any sound from the house. | cand believe that she could have been taken by
surprise from the lift. Also Miss Fane would have had no need to touch the inside
handle of the sitting-room door, which was certainly touched and wiped by the
murderer. 1t all quite incredible.o

Miss Silver shook her head.

fiNothing in human nature is incredible. Some things are harder to believe than
others, that is all. But you must not think that | have any wish to direct your
suspicions toward Agnes. | merely fedl it my duty to tell you that her physical
condition does not make it impossible for her to have done what the murderer did.o

He frowned again.

fAf the shot had been fired from a sitting position, the course of the bullet would
have been dightly upwards. Miss Lyle was a tall woman.o

Miss Silver looked at him serioudly.

fRandald when Agnes Fane commissioned me to discover who had murdered
her niece she used a remarkable expression. | warned her that suspicion might rest
upon a member of her household or of her family. She replied that she wished the
murderer to be discovered, even if it were herself. Her maid Perry had been
mentioned just before, and she said in that sardonic voice of hers, df it is Perry, |
ghall have to find a new maid, which would be very tiresome. And if it is |, Perry will



have to find a new mistress.do

fPerry?0 Marchd voice had a startled sound.

fAY es.0

fANd what motive would Perry have?0

A do not know.o

fDo you think Miss Fane meant that she suspected Perry?0

Miss Silver shook her head.

Al do not think so. But Agnes has a strange character. She may have been
hinting at some suspicion of her own, or she may have meant nothing at alld she is
very secretive. There is something | feel | ought to tell you. | amin her employment,
but on terms which in no way bind me to silence.0

March wondered what was coming. He was not at al prepared for her next
words.

In a considerably lowered voice she said,

fiYou can leave the invalid chair out of it, Randal. Agnes Fane is not dependent
onit. She canwalk.o

fwhat!o

Miss Silver nodded.

A have seen her. She has a pronounced limp, but she is perfectly active. It is
supposed to be a dead secret. Perry knows of course, and Lucyd and, | suspect,
the Deans. She deeps badly, and likes to walk about the house at night when there is
no one to see her. The doors to the servantsdwing are locked by Dean before he
goes to bed, so she feels safe from observation.o

But why?0

Al told you she has a strange character. Her accident left her with one leg
considerably shortened. She used to have a fine figure and a very graceful walk. She
could not bear to be seen limping. She preferred the role of complete disablement,
and she has kept it up for more than twenty years.o

He till looked startled.

fDo you mean that she could walk down the stairs?o

fOh, yesd | have seenher do it.0

AWhen?o

fAiThe night after | came here. She moves quite freely.o

fDoes she know that you saw her?0

fOh, nod | am sure she does not.o

He went on looking at her for a moment, and then pushed back his chair.

fAisthisared herring?0



She was putting away her knitting.

A have no idea what you mean.o

He laughed a little.

fHavend you? Look here, tell me franklyd do you really suspect Miss Agnes
Fane?0

Miss Silver rose with dignity.

Al am quite unable to answer that question.o

AThat means you do. But why? Tell me why.0

She shook her head.

fWould she have known how to use the pistol? Can you tell me that?0

She relaxed alittle.

fives, | will tell you that. | have been thinking that you should know. When |
visited here as a young girl Mr. Fane, Agnests father, had us all taught to shoot. He
set up a target in the ruins, and we used to practice at it with his pistol. It was
considered rather eccentric of him, but we found it quite enjoyable.o

He said, We?0 on a sharp note of enquiry.

fAgnes, Lucy, and myselfd oh, and of course Perry.o

fPerry?0

Miss Silver moved towards the door.

fOh, yes,0 she said soberly. fiPerry was a very good shot.0



CHAPTER 37

Miss Silver walked out after tea to post a letter. Being Saturday afternoon, and
the destination of the letter London, it might just as well have been posted next day,
but Miss Silver was feeling a necessity for solitude accompanied by gentle
movement. Infact she desired to take awalk, and made the letter her excuse.

The evening was dark and still. The temperature had risen sensibly. The air, soft
against her face, held a promise of rain. With the reflection that it was really quite
pleasant out of doors, and that possibly a mild spell was about to set in, she turned
out of the drive and made her way to the pillarbox at the crossroads.

When she had posted her letter she walked back at a pace much dower than
her usual brisk trot. Her mind was, in fact, busy with the train of thought evoked by
her last conversation with Randal March. Perryd the name stayed in her mindd the
name and what it stood ford forty-one years of devoted service to Agnes Fare, a
relationship begun when both were young, and which had endured past youth, past
the crash of Agnes® happiness and health, through many years of invalidism to this
last tragedy. Search as she would, Miss Silver could find nothing in this relationship
on which to base a motive for the murder of Tanis Lyle. If motive there were, it must
lie elsewhere. But in what dark and secret places of a warped, frustrated nature? I
there was one person in that household less unlikely than another to be capable of
the hatred which is the essence of murder, it was Perry. No hot rage or sudden
impulse would prompt her, but some cold, fixed, implacable resentment might do so.
But from what would such a resentment spring? There seemed no answer to thet,
unlessd unless. A thought which had come to her earlier in the day now presented
itself again and clamoured to be heard.

Miss Silver became so engrossed that she missed her way in the drive and found
herself well away from it upon a path hedged by shrubs. A holly bush brought her up
short where the path took a sudden turn. She received a dlight scratch on the cheek,
and immediately stood still to take her bearings. The shrubbery was dense, and it
was extremely dark. She thought she must have skirted the north wing, and that she
must be somewhere in the neighbourhood of the back premises, in which case it
might be simpler to keep straight on urttil she came to the house.

She was regretting that she had not brought her torch, when the sound of
footsteps and voices arrested her attention. The steps were cautious, the voices
lowered. There was a smothered fO-oh!0 as a twig snapped. A man spoke, low
and gruffd fALook out,0 and a girl giggled and said, ACand look far in this blinking



dark.0 The word she used was not fblinking.o It shocked Miss Silver considerably,
especially from the lips of a young person of seventeen.

The grl was Florrie Mumford, and she had no business to be out in the
shrubbery after dark with a man. Really Mrs. Dean ought to know more about what
wert on. However that might be, there was Florrie, on the other side of the holly
bush by the sound of her, and by his voice the young man was William Shepherd,
one of the undergardeners. AANd not the first time Florrie has dlipped out to meet
himod was Miss Silver& conclusion. The sounds from the far side of the holly bush
were suggestive of practice.

Miss Silver had been much too well brought up to indulge in eavesdropping. She
had a moment® indecision as to whether it would not now be better to retrace her
footsteps, when she heard something which trandated her from the role of private
gentlewoman to that of private detective. In this latter capacity her scruples about
overhearing a private conversation ceased to be scruples at all.

What she heard was William Shepherd saying urgently,

fAif you know who dore it, Florrie, you did ought to tell.o

Florrie giggled.

flém not saying what | know, and |&m not telling neither, so therel 0

fAThen you shouldnd go hinting the way you been doing.0

fWhoGs been hinting?0

fiyou have, and well you know it, and if you dond@ mind out, your tonguedl be
getting you into trouble one of these days.0

Florrie giggled again.

fOh, will it?0

fiYes, it will. And youd better shut your mouth on it and keep it shut, or youdl
be sorry.o

fiSorry | took up with you! 6 Florries voice was pert.

There was the sound of a kiss, a dapped cheek, a scuffle, another kiss. Then
William Shepherd, complacent over his smack.

fSillyd aren@ you? Suppose | go off after another girld howéud you like that?
You betave yourself or youdl find out! And you drop this Gre hinting or youdl be
getting both of us the sack.o0

Florrie sounded pettish.

fOh, well, youdl be getting called up anyway, so whatds the odds?0

fiViother wouldnd like it if I got the sack, and no more she wond like it if you
carry on the way you been doing, hinting and suchlike. If you got anything to say,
you say it right out and haddone, or youdl be getting trouble for your pains like |



said.o

Florrie gigged and whispered.

fSuppose | was to get money. There® some people that@l pay proper for meto
keep my hints to myself.0

fWhat are you talking about?0

Her voice teased him.

fWouldnd@ you just like to know! Moneyd that& what 16 talking about. A
word here and a word there, and maybe theydl bring me in a nice bit of moneyd
enough to make you sit up and take a bit of notice. What& you say to a hundred
pounds?0

What William would have said can only be guessed at. From the distance Mrs.
Dean could be heard calling Florrie with acerbity.

fFlorrie! Florrie! Where have you got to? It dond take half an hour to empty the
potato peelings, does it?0

Florrie giggled.

fAThere she goes! No, you candd youdve had enough. You lemme go! 14l be out
tomorrow for my evening. Maybe I8l meet you, and maybe 18l have something in my
pocketd thereds no saying.o

Miss Silver stood where she was. Mrs. Dean called again. Florrie rustled away.
William Shepherd pushed through onto the path and went down it, passing so near
that she could have touched him.

When all the sounds had died she made her way back to the drive, and so to the
front door.



CHAPTER 38

After a time spent in thought she proceeded to the study and, finding it empty,
rang up Randal March.

A have some information for you, and | think we had better speak French.0

This opening, delivered in the stiff grammetical French of his schoolroom days,
roused him from the pleasant half hour of relaxation which he had intended to take
before alowing his mind to dwell upon the Priory murder. He replied readily, but
with that indomitable British accent which exermplifies the ability of the English to
withstand foreign influences.

Miss Silver continued briskly.

fi do not wish to incur any further censure for withholding evidence, so | think |
had better communicate a conversation which | have just overheard. Just a moment
first, if you please.0

She laid down the receiver and went noiselesdly to the door and opened it. The
wide passage was empty. From the morning-room almost immediately opposite
came the sound of orchestral music on the wireless. With an approving nod she
closed the door and returned to the telephone.

fYes, that is quite all right. 1 thought | would just make sure that we could speak
privately. Now | will tell youwhat | overheard.o

When she had repeated Florrie® conversation with William Shepherd she said
soberly,

Al do not know what you think about it, but it appears to me that this girl may be
in danger. It is a very risky thing to blackmail a murderer, and she is the light, silly
type who takes a risk through ignorance and vanity.o

There was a pause.

March said, fHave you spoken to her? Does she know that she was
overheard?0

fiOh, no. | would not take such a step without letting you know.o

Ten miles away, the Superintendent smiled. His Miss Silver had taken more
important steps than this without informing the police. Her virtue amused him. At the
same time he knew it to be an index of her concern. He said,

fwould you like to see her?0

Miss Silver coughed.

Al do not think so. She would not tell me anything. | know her type. She would
not talk to a woman, though she might to a man. It is the same girl who brought you



the fragments of the shawl. | do not know whether you observed her.0

fiNot particularly.0

Her voice became severe.

fiYou should have done so. She was making eyes at you. Her manner to me was
pert. She is that type. It would be useless for me to speak to her, but with your
approval | will endeavour to caution her indirectly. She will be helping the butler at
dinner tonight as the other girl is out, and if | could bring the conversation to the
subject of blackmalil, it might be possble to frighten her from pursuing a very
dangerous course. | should also have an opportunity of observing the reactions of
other members of the party. In fact the whole thing might prove instructive.0

Randal March didn@ see how it could do any harm. He said so, and Miss Silver
rang off.

Passing through the hall, she encountered Carey Desborough and requested a
word with him. As voices could be heard from the drawing-room which he had just
left, she opened the door of Tanis Lyle® sitting-room and took him in there. It had
the bleak, desolate look which comes so quickly to a room that has fallen out of use.
It was clean and neatd too neat. Sofa and chairs undented; cushions that no one had
leaned against; a carpet on which no one had trodden; ash-trays all clean, all s,
each in its appropriate place; dead air in the room; no flowers. It might have been a
designerd roomin an exhibition of furniture. It chilled Carey to the bone.

Miss Silver appeared unmoved.

fwill you do something for me, Mr. Desborough?0 she said. fit is really quite a
small thing, but | should be glad of your co-operation.o

He said, fwill you tell me what it is?0 and saw her smile.

fiYou are cautious, Mr. Desboroughd have you any Scottish blood? It is really
quite a small metter. | should be glad if you would assist me to introduce the subject
of blackmail at dinner tonight.o

He was considerably startled, and showed it.

fiViss Silver!o

She came closer to himand said, dropping her voice,

fHas anyone been trying to blackmail you? Or Miss Laura?0

Carey recovered himseif. His manner was quite natural when he said,

fiNot me. 1& have gone to the policed it the only way with blackmail. And not
Laura. She would have told me.o

Miss Silver nodded.

fiSomeone in this house is blackmailing, and someone is being blackmailed. That
iswhy | want to talk about blackmail at dinner tonight. Will you help me?0



He hesitated for a moment. Then he said,

A dond like it very much.0

Miss Silver looked at him with gravity.

A do not like it at all, pray believe that. But, Mr. Desborough, consider the
stuation. We have had a murder here. A very foolish and ignorant person is now
attempting to blackmail the murderer. Can you imagine anything more dangerous?o

fFrankly, no.0

fithe conversation in which | hope you will assist is intended to deter the
blackmailer. If it has thet effect it will be worth-while.0

Carey looked down the room. He wished thet they could have talked anywhere
else. It was o full of Tanis, and yet so empty. He remembered that he had loved
her. And that the love was dead. And she was dead. He said abruptly,

RAll right, 18l do it.0



CHAPTER 39

The evening was not one upon which Miss Silver could look back with
satisfaction. The Maxwells would be leaving next day, Alistair possibly returning for
the inquest on Monday. Both brothers were silent and abstracted, though Alistair no
longer appeared to be on the verge of a breakdown. Petra looked pale and
exhausted. Her flow of talk had gone. Laura after a valiant attempt to engage Lucy
Adams in conversation gave it up, her efforts being requited by monosyllables and an
air of complete inattention. But Miss Adams could, and did, engage in a discussion
as to the relative merits of violas and pansies, a safe and pleasant subject introduced
by Agnes Fane and maintained whilst they all partook of soup.

Whilst the fish, which was the principal course, was being served, Miss Silver
began a long, trickling story which cuminated in an attempt at blackmail. The
narrative had very little point, but it occupied the time required for handing round the
fish, an office performed by Dean in his best manner and upon the heaviest silver
entr@ dish. If food was hard to come by, silver was not, and what was lacking in the
one should to the best of his ability be made up by the other. He went round, and
Florrie Mumford followed him, handing potatoes in their jackets, diced and fried.

fiSo my friend very wisely communicated with the police, which was by far the
best thing to do,0 said Miss Silver, concluding her tale.

Carey Desborough, on the other side of the table, obediently took his cue.

fBlackmailing is pretty heavily punished.o

fDeservedly s0,0 said Miss Silver. She helped herself to the fried potato,
remarked that it looked very good, and pursued the original theme. iiSentences of
seven, fourteen, or even twenty-one years have been given, and really when you
think of the other risks which the blackmailer runs, it is surprising to find that anyone
has <0 little sense as to embark on them. It may be an easy way of making money,
but there is always the danger that the person blackmailed may either go to the
police or take the law into his own hands.o

Florrie continued to hand fried potatoes without a tremor. She was a deft
waitress. Miss Silver could not discern the least trace of discomposure. It might be
that she was too securely wrapped up in her own conceit, or, what was just
possible, that the word blackmail had no meaning for her. Miss Silver decided that
this might very well be the case, and decided that she was wasting her time.

Lucy Adams said fretfully that she supposed there would be a great deal more
crime after the war, and the conversation drifted by way of postwar farming back to



the safer problems of gardening. The result of the experiment was exactly nil.

Retiring to her room rather earlier than usual, Miss Silver encountered Florrie
going round with hot-water bottles. She came from the passage leading to the lift.
Miss Fane® room, Perry®, Miss Adamsg Petrads, and Laura® had obviously been
disposed of. She now carried a single bright green rubber bottle which Miss Silver
recognized as her own, and she wore an extremely self-satisfied look. fiike a cat
who has been at the cream,0was Miss Silverés mental commert.

She withdrew into her own room, leaving the door gjar. Florrie knocked, was
told to come in, and proceeded to turn down the bed, insert the hot-water bottle,
and lay out Miss Silver & nightdress, a garment over which she smiled and tossed her
head. This impertinence, discerned by Miss Silver in the mirror, evoked a reproving
frown. The garment, of cream Viyella, was in her opinion most comfortable and
tasteful, being high in the neck and long in the deeves, of a decent fullness, and very
neatly finished with silk feather-stitchingd very different of course from the skin-tight
and transparent wisps in which the girls of the present generation attired themselves
for the night.

Florrie, who considered the nightgown a feketch,0 was preparing to leave the
room, when Miss Silver called her back.

fdust a moment, Florrie. And please close the door. | have something to say to
you.0

For, after all, she was going to say it. To the relief of her conscience in time to
come, she had made up her mind that she must speak to Florrie. Since the indirect
warning had passed her by, she must be warned directly. If the warning were
useless, as she fully expected, she would at least have done what she could.

Florrie stood there, fidgeting and looking pert.

Al ve the hot-waters to put.0

There was a toss of the head which Miss Silver ignored. She said gravely,

fWhat | have to say to you will not take long. Your conversation with William
Shepherd in the shrubbery this evening was overheard. You know, or pretend to
know, something about the murder of Miss Lyle, and you are trying to use what you
know to get money out of the person whom you suspect. That is what is called
blackmail. Y ou heard us talking abot it at dinner. Perhaps you do not know that it is
a very serious crime in the eyes of the law, and that it is aways very heavily
punished. Besides the punishment which the law would give you, there is the grave
risk you would run. Your knowledge, if you have any, exposes you to danger. You
should tell the police what you know or suspect without delay. They will protect you
0 and | must tell you that | think you are in need of protection. A person who has



murdered once may murder again.0

As she spoke she was aware that it was to no purpose. Florrie® face was set
and defiant. She said rudely,

Al dunno what you@re talking about.0

Miss Silver shook her head.

Al think you do. | shall not say any more, but | hope you will take my warning.
Thet isal.o

The door was jerked open. Florrie bounced out, shutting it after her with
something that was very nearly a bang. Miss Silver& warning had not disturbed her
complacency, nor altered her purpose by a hairés breadth.

fNasty, prying, nosey old maid!0 and, A hundred poundsd a hundred pounds
0 ahundred poundsd Owas all the burden of her thoughts. Anger, cupidity, triumph
possessed her. There was no place for awarning, no place for fear.

She finished what she had to do and wert to her room in the north wing. It was
the smallest there, being in fact no more than a dip taken off the room next door, but
it was a place of her own and a source of great satisfaction. If she had been obliged
to share with Mary, the upper housermaid, she would have had to give up a number
of things which she had no intention of giving up. The books which she read in bed
0 Mary& hair would have curled with horror if she had known what was in them.
And shed never have been able to dip out at night and meet Bert if she hadnd a
room of her own. She giggled to herself as she thought what Bill Shepherd would
say if he knew about Bert. A cut above Bill, Bert was. Butchers aways made
money, and his father had a fine shop in Ledlington, as well as the small branch at
Prior& Holt. A cut above Florrie herselfd and that was where the hundred pounds
would come in so nicely. Bert wasn@ thinking about marrying, he was just out to
have his fun, but if a girl had a hundred pounds in her pocket, there was no saying
but what hedd think and think again. And she was going to have a real white satin
wedding dress too, and orange-blossons, and a vell, and white kid gloves. She
tossed her head and thought contemptuously about Miss Silver, who was an old
maid.

She stood in her room with the light turned off and waited as she had often
waited before. The back door banged. That was Mary coming in after her evening
out. She would have a word with Mrs. Dean and then up to bed, and quick abot it.
Mary liked her deep. There were no sounds from the rooms occupied by the
evacuees. Judds and Slades, young and old, they were hearty deepers. That was a
bit of all right too.

Mary came up, Mrs. Dean came up, and now was Florried time. Dean would



be going his rounds, and as soon as he had finished he would come through the
ground-floor door which shut off the kitchen wing and lock it behind him, then up the
back dairs to the corresponding door on the upper floor and lock that too. What
Florrie had to do was to nip through and be out of sight before he got there. She had
dore it often enough before. You could hear him on the stairs, and that was your
timed out of your room, through the connecting door, and into the empty room just
the other side of it, next to Miss Silveré. If anyone saw youd well, youdl forgotten
one of the hot-water bottles. It was as easy as winking, and Florrie could wink with
the best. Then when youd finished what youd dlipped out for you could deep
comfortable enough on the morning-room sofa and dip back to your room as soon
as Dean unlocked the upper door, as he aways did at half-past six sharp, before he
had his shave.

She heard Dean on the stair and ran for it. Easy as kissing your hand. She stood
in the dark, empty room and waited. Now he was locking the door. Now he was
going away down the passage to the room over the kitchen which he shared with
Mrs. Dean.

There was a comfortable armchair in the empty room. Florrie felt her way to it
and sat down. It was dark, and she had to wait until midnight, but she wasnd at all
afraid of going to deep. She had plenty of things to think aboutd a hundred thingsd
a hundred poundsd each pound a fortune. She had no idea of the value of money.
She was getting seventeen and six- pence a week, and she had to give three quarters
of it to a cross-grained father of whom she wernt in bodily fear. She had never had a
whole pound in her possession to do what she liked with. A hundred pounds meart
escape from Dadd securityd perhaps marriage to Bert and a rise in life. A
comfortable tradesman® wife would have a nice little villa on the outskirts of
Ledlington and household help. She saw herself ordering a maid about, shopping
handsomely in High Street, buying the red three-piece she had seen at Jones last
time she was in, going out Sundays in a nice little car with Bert. Because in her
dream Bert® father was dead and Bert had come in for the shop in Ledlington. Ever
so much better than the branch at Prior& Holt. Money in the bark tood money....

She had left the door the least little crack gjar. Presently she came out of her
dream. The clock in the hall was striking twelve. As her sharp ears caught the sound
she dipped out of the room like a shadow, along the passage, down the big
staircase, and through the hall, to the study. She had not gone more eagerly to any of
her meetings with Bert. Hered nowd in this room, she was to get her hundred
pounds.

The light in the hall, which burned all night, saw her to the corner of the passage



upon which the study opened. The door was open now, but the room was dark. So
she was there first. A cold draught met her on the threshold. Someone must have left
the window open. As she hesitated, the door of the morning-room opened behind
her and the voice which she was expecting said, fiPut on the light, Florrie. 16ve got
the money for you.o0

A hundred pounds! Her hand went eagerly to the switch. For a moment she
stood outlined against the sudden light within the room. Then a gloved hand came up
and the study poker came crashing down. She slumped forward without a cry. The
person who had wielded the poker examined its work and was satisfied. The poker
was laid down beside the body. A goved left hand switched off the light. There was
afaint sound of retreating footsteps. After that no sound at all. Nothing stirred in the
house. A small cold wind blew in through the open window.



CHAPTER 40

Laura woke up inthe dark. It was very dark indeed, because though one of the
windows was open the black-out curtain hung across it and no light came through.
She did not know what had waked her, but she came up out of deep with a sense of
fear pressing hard upon her and only just escaped. Feard blind, formless, dreadfully
unknownd it hammered at her brain, her heart, her pulses. There was no other
sound in the room

She sat up tiffly in the bed, listening, trying to steady herself, and moment by
moment the dark tide ebbed away, leaving her Laura Fane again, in control, instead
of a hunted thing without a name driven by a nameless fear.

The relief was very great, but her throat was dry and her body shaken. She got
out of bed, felt her way to the wash-stand, and poured a glass of water from the
carafe. Its icy coldness made her shiver, but it steadied her. She set the glass back
and went to the door, walking barefoot on the carpet, feeling before her with her
hands. It was in her mind to turn the key in the lock, though why she could not have
told, because the fear had been in her own mind, in a dream she had forgotten. It
had come up with her out of her deep, and it was gone. Why then should it be in her
mind to lock the door of her room? She had no answer to this, but all at once she
opened the door and looked out.

After the even velvet darkness inside the room the passage with its one light
burning at the far end seemed redlly bright. She looked to the right, and saw the
wide corridor spacious and empty. She looked to the left, and saw Agnes Fane
come from the gallery leading to the Stairs.

The fear returned. It caught at her heart and held her immovable. She could not
have moved for her very life, but she did not know why. Except that she was seeing
what she was not meant to seed what no one was meant to see. Because Agnes
Fane was walking. She was on her feet and walking, unbelievably tall. Her left foot
dragged in an ugly limp. It was as if she fought the drag and defied it, for her body
remained erect. She came so dowly that if Laura could have moved she might have
drawn back into the safe darkness of her room and locked the door. Only she could
not move. She could only stand and wait whilst Agnes Fane came on.

As she drew nearer, Laura saw her face like a white mask, her hair still orderly,
her pearls about her throat, a loose gown wrapping her, purple or purplish red. Her
dark eyes blazed. They came to Laura and rested there. She put a hand to the wall
and stood looking down from that great height of hers. When she spoke her voice



was low and harsh.

fWheat are you doing out of bed?0

There was a compulsion on Laura to speak, and to speak the truth. She said, i
was afraid.o

Agnes Fare looked at her, not with scorn or anger, but with a cold, alien look.
She said,

fWhat are you afraid of 20

Al dond know.o

The look changed a little, and the voice became harsher.

fiGo back to bed! And lock your doord both doors! Perhaps you can lock fear
outd who knows. Go back to your bed and stay there! Do you hear?0

Stiffly, Laura obeyed, moved from the threshold, stepped back into the room,
leaned upon the door with the flat of her hand until it closed, turned the key in the
lock. From the other side of the door there was the sound of a long sighing breath.
The dragging step went past.

Laura groped to the bathroom door and locked that too, groped for the bedside
switch and put on the light, got back into bed, and lay there shuddering with cold,
and something more than cold. She did not know that she had been near her death,
but the nearness chilled her to the bone.



CHAPTER 41

Presently she grew warmer. She felt for the hot-water bottle and drew it up
beside her. The light from the bedside lamp made a comfortable glow in the room.
The dream was gone, the fear was gone. She could begin to wonder at them now,
and to wonder at herself for being afraid.

And then, as she looked towards the door, she saw the handle move. |nstantly
the terror was besting at her heart again. The handle turned quite silently until it could
turn no more. Then it stopped. There was the faintest of faint sounds as pressure
came upon the lockd hardly a sound at all. Perhaps she had only imagined it.
Perhaps there had not really been a sound. The handle dipped round again and
moved no more.

Laura sat up in bed, a hand on either side of her pressing the mattress down.
She watched the door and strained to listen, but she could hear nothing. She kept
saying to herself in a horrified inner whisper, AiThe doors are locked. The bathroom
door is locked. This door is locked. Nobody can get in.0 And then, behind her on
the left, there came a tapping on the bathroom door.

She was out of bed and on her feet in a moment. The tapping came again, faint
but insistent. Standing with her hand on the jamb, bending to the crack between it
and the door, she said,

fWhods there?0

She had never felt so much relief in al her life as she did when Lucy Adamst
fretful voice cameto her ear.

fAre you awake? Let me inl Why do you lock your door?0

Laura turned the key with a shaking hand. But it was relief that made it shake.
All that horrible feard and then Cousin Lucy.

She opened the door, and Lucy Adams came in in a red flannel dressing-gown
with the gold chain of her pince-nez pinned to it. It was, as usua, crooked. The
auburn front was presumably on her dressing-table. Its absence revealed a wide, thin
parting, and scanty locks done up in metal curlers. She wore a worried expression,
and spoke in a whisper.

At is Agnesd she is ill. Why did you lock your door? | dond approve of it.
Suppose there was a fire. Your Cousin Agnes isiill, and | could not meke you hear.
We must get the doctor at once. Y ou must help me.o

Laura caught up her green dressing-gown and dlipped it on.

fWhatGs the metter? Is she very ill? What do you want me to do?0



Lucy Adanms jerked at her pince-nez.

fiShe has these attacks. They are very alarming. She cannot be left. Perry is with
her. I must go down and telephone for the doctor, but | cand do it alore. It all
been such a shock. | can@ go down there alone. Y ou must come with me.o

The wind blew in from the open window. Laura went over and shut it. She was
shivering as she came back.

fOf course 14l come down with you. But wouldn@ you like me to call Miss
Silver, or Carey?0

fNod nod nod no! You mustnd do that! Nobody must know. They are
strangersd we mustnd bring them in. | came to you because you are family. Wedre
got to keep it in the family. Nobody else must know.o

Her looked darted at Laura and dropped away again. Her voice shook
nervoudly.

fiNo one outside the family,0 she repeated.

fANd the doctord 0

Miss Adams jerked impatiently.

fiDoctors dond countd they can keep a secret. And we must hurry. Put on your
dippers and come!l o

As they went down into the dimly lighted hall, Laura was wondering, and trying
not to wonder, about this iliness of Agnes Faneés. flOne of her attacksd 0 What kind
of attack? fWe must keep it in the family. Nobody must knowd 6 What was there
to know? fDoctors can keep a secretd 0 What secret was there to be kept? An
echo of her own sick fear came to her, and she remembered the dragging limp, the
white mask of aface, the voice that had told her to lock her door.

At the foot of the stairs Lucy Adams turned, speaking low. fYou had better wait
here. There is no need for you to hear what | have to tell the doctor. But you wond
go away?o

Laura shook her head. She was puzzed. She felt a shrinking embarrassment.
But she was not frightened now. It did not frighten her to stay alone in the hall whilst
Lucy Adams went into Tanis® stting-room and shut the door. It might have
frightened her if she had known that Florrie Mumford was lying dead across the
threshold of the study not so very far away. But she did not know.

She leaned against the newel- pogt, shivering a little, and hoping that Cousin Lucy
wouldnd be long. From where she stood she could just hear the murmur of her
voice.

Then the door opened. Miss Adams stood there beckoning, the lighted room
behind her. Laura obeyed reluctantly. Wouldnd they go upstairs again now? It



appeared that they would not. Cousin Lucy drew her in and pushed the door to.

e must wait down here for him and let him in. | was quite right to send for
him, and he will come at once. Such a relief! 1 said | would be here to let hmin. |
may not hear the car, but you will, | am sure. | am not deaf, you know, but | do not
hear quite so well as | used to. Now you sit down over there on the sofa, and | will
take this chair. The doctor will not be long.0

Laura sat down on the couch at the farther side of the hearth. It was wide, and
deep, and low. She pulled a cushion down and leaned against it. Across the hearth,
incongruous in a squat wide-armed chair, Miss Adanms sat stiffly upright in her red
flannel dressing-gown and her tight metal curlers. Behind her the door to the hall, not
actually gjar, but not quite latched. As a little thing will sometimes stick in oneé
thought and prick at it, this trifle caught Laura® attention, and pricked there. If she
had not felt so tired she would have gone over to the door to latch it properly.

She heard Lucy Adams say just in her usual rambling voice,

AY ou realize of course that it was your Cousin Agnes who shot Tanis.0

Laura felt exactly as if someone had hit her sharply and suddenly. The impact
made her blink. She stared at Lucy and said nothing.

Miss Adams said in an exasperated tone,

fReally, Laura, you can be very stupid! Didnd you hear whet | said?0

Laura moved stiff lips and said,

Y es.0

AiThen why dond you say something? It seems to me that my remerk called for
some comment.o

It seemed to Laura that comment was impossible. What do you say when one
elderly relative who is sensibly attired in red flannel tells you point blank that another
elderly relative is a homicidal maniac? For that was what it amounted to. The attacks
which must not be witnessed by a strangerd fiWe must keep it in the family.... A
doctor knows how to keep a secret.dd all these things meant one thing and one
thing only, that Cousin Agnes was med, and thet in a fit of mania she had killed Tanis
Lyle. She heard Lucy Adams say,

fOf course she did not mean to kill Tanis. It was a most unfortunate accidert.
She meant to kill you.0

A kind of stiffness invaded Laura, mind and body. It rendered her incapable of
speech or movement. Behind Lucy Adams she saw the sitting-room door move in an
inch or two, and move againd fourd fived six inches. She wondered why it had
moved.



CHAPTER 42

Miss Silver opened her eyes upon the darkness of her bedroom. She did not
know what had waked her from the uneasy deep into which she had fallen. She
thought it was a sound. She listened, and could hear nothing. She therefore sat up in
bed and listened again. Unbroken silence, unbroken darkness.

She switched on her bedside lamp and drew about her shoulders a large knitted
shawl with an operwork border. The new stitch which she had been trying out had
not proved very successful. She had not, therefore, given the shawl away to the
baby for whom it had been intended, her niece Letty& second child, but had kept it
for herself. She found it warm and confortable now.

The minutes slipped away. If there had been a sound, it was not repeated. She
decided that she was becoming fancifuld she had sat too late and thought too long.
Tomorrow would be a painful and difficult day. She must really try to get a little
deep. But the desire for deep had left her. She took a book at random from the
bedside table and began to read.

Actually, it was the sound of Florrie Mumfordd fall which had roused her, her
room being over the study.

She read for about twenty minutes, and found at the end of this time that she had
not the dlightest recollection of what she had been reading. Whilst her eyes perused
the printed page, her thoughts wandered towards strange conjectures and horrifying
conclusions. They reached a point where she could no longer pretend to read.

In her usual controlled manner she replaced the book, got out of bed, and put on
a warm grey dressing-gown industrioudly trimmed with wide crochet borders of
crimson wool. No garment could possibly have been less becoming, but it was warr
and serviceable, and it concedled every inch of the voluminous woollen nightgown
beneath. When she had fastened it at the waist with a long grey cord she crossed the
passage and tapped lightly upon Carey Desborough® door. Receiving no answe,
she turned the handle and wertt in.

The first that Carey knew about it was light lanting down on him from the lamp
beside the bed. He blinked at it, and at the astonishing vision of Miss Silver with her
hand upon the switch. Then he came broad awake. He sat up and said in a horrified
voice,

fWhat is it? WhatGs happened?0

Miss Silver gave her dlight cough.

fNothing, | hope, Mr. Desborough. | am sorry to disturb you, but | cannot help



feeling extremely uneasy. | was awakened some little time ago by a sound. That at
least is my impression, but of course | may be mistakend our minds are disturbed,
and trifles are apt to be magnified. If it would not be too much trouble, | would be
gad if you would make a tour of the downstairs rooms with me.o

He was out of bed and reaching for his dressing-gown.

AY ou thought the sound came from there?o0

AThat was my impression. If | was mistaken, we can return to our rooms and say
nothing about it. If, on the other handd 6 She got no farther, because Carey broke
in.

fAY oude sure it was downstairs?0

Miss Silver became a little distant.

A am not sure about anything, Mr. Desborough. | think we had better
investigate.o

They came down the stairs and into the hall. In Miss Silver& mind the purpose
of turning to the right and proceeding in the direction of the dining-room, morning-
room, and study had been clearly formed, but as her foot took the last step down,
this purpose dissolved. Her ear had caught the sound of a voice which she knew
very well. The sound came from the left-hand side of the hall, from Tanis Lyle®
sitting-room, the door of which showed a crack of light.

She immediately touched Carey on the arm and put a finger to her lips. They
stood for a moment, listening intently. Then, quite noiselessly, Miss Silver led the
way to the door and, coming to it, pushed gently against it with her hand urttil the
crack of light had become a six-inch band. In the brief preceding moment she heard
Lucy Adams say,

fOf course she did not mean to kill Tanis. It was a most unfortunate accidert.
She meant to kill you.0



CHAPTER 43

Carey Desborough heard the words with stupefaction. They seemed to be part
of a conversation carried on without any particular emphasis. Miss Adams had
uttered them in very much the same manner in which she might have commented on
a mistake about the ration-books or the changing of a novel at the library. There had
been a mistake. A person unnamed hadnd really meant to Kill Tanis Lyle. She had
meant to kill someone else. He looked round the edge of the door and saw thet this
someone else was Laura, sitting stiffly upright on the wide green couch, her face as
white as death, her black hair falling on her neck, her eyes wide and staring.

Miss Silver & small, firm hand closed on his arm. He looked round and saw her,
finger at lip, sternly forbidding sound or movement. He turned back again. They
stayed like that, listening intertly.

Lucy Adams went on talking.

AThat was quite natural of course. She hated you before you were born, and she
has gone on hating you ever since. You ought never to have been born at al. |
Suppose you realize that your mother stole Oliver away from us. She had no right to
himd he was ours. He would have been here nowd living here, going in and out
every dayd if it hadn@ been for Lilian. And she couldn@ even keep what she had
stolen. She let him die. He wouldnd have died if he had stayed hered we should
have seen to that. So really, you see, she killed him, stealing him away like that. And
S0 it was quite a just thing that you should died quite, quite just. Agnes used to think
about these things, and when she knew you were going to come and stay here she
thought about them a lot more. But she didnd quite know what to do about it,
because it isnd redlly at all easy to kill someone without being found out. You have
to be very clever and think it al out, and then you have to be very quick to take an
opportunity if it comes your way. Agnes was very clever and very quick. When Mr.
Hazelton came here and made that fuss and shot off his pistol, she saw at once that
that was her opportunity, because if anyone was shot after that, people would think
he had done itd especially if you were shot with his pistol. Tanis told us al where
she had put it, you remember, after she took it away from him. But she wasnd
speaking the truth when she said he till had the other pistold the other one of the
paird because she had it herself, upstairs in one of her drawers. | expect she wanted
everyone to think that she was still in danger, and how brave she was. Tanis was like
that.0

Laura had stopped thinking about the door. Her eyes were on Lucy Adams®



face. It looked just as usual. She might have been talking about the weather or the
black-out. The foolish rambling voice went on, a little sharpened by her didike of
Laura. But then Laura had always known that Cousin Lucy disliked her. Always?
How silly! But it seemed like that. It seemed like years, and years, and years since
she had come into this house.

On one side of a curtain in her mind Laura had these thoughts. On the other side
of it she listened to Lucy Adams, who had never stopped talking.

fNow | will tell you about Thursday night. You would like to know what
happened, wouldnd you, and it will all be in the familyd you wond tell anyone.o She
repeated the last words with a curious tittering laugh. fiYou wond tell anyoned oh,
no, you wond tell anyone. Well, 1 must tell you what happened. Agnes went up to
her room, but she could not sleep because the wind was so high. | never can seep
myself when the wind is highd | told the police superintendent so. It gets on onets
nerves, and then one cannot rest. It got on Agnes® nerves, and presently she
opened her door to come out and walk about the house. She often does that at night
when she cannot sleep, but nobody is supposed to know.o

Carey turned an astounded look upon Miss Silver. She nodded briefly, and he
turned back again. Lucy Adams was saying,

fWhen she came out she saw someone just going round the corner at the other
end of the passage. She coudnd really see who it was, and she thought she would
like to find out, because people ought not to be walking about the house at that time
of nightd | am sure you will agree about thet. Of course we all know now that it was
Tanis who was going downstairs, but when Agnes got to the top of the stairs and
looked down into the hall she thought it was you.0

Laura opened her lipsto speak, but no sound came. They were too dry and liff,

Miss Adams nodded.

Arhat is what she thought, and it was a perfectly natural mistake for her to make.
The light in the hall is not at all adequate. | have often told Agnes sod now perhaps
she will believe me. And you had been wearing a black dress. Very misleading of
youd | suppose you did it on purpose. Agnes could not be expected to know that
Tanis had changed out of her white dress and put on a black coat and black
pyjamas. She saw someone in black, and she thought thet it was you. You are about
the same height as Tanis, and your hair is the same colour. Black hair runs in the
family. Agnes has it, and so had Oliver, but | take after my father. He had auburn
hair, but gnger whiskers. Ladies, fortunately, do not have whiskers. Agnes was
really not at al to blamed anyone might have made the same mistaked because in
addition to the black coat and the smilarity in the colour of the hair, Tanis had



picked up the shawl which you had carelessly left hanging on the banisters and put it
on. | suppose she felt cold. It was that Chinese shawl with the flowers and butterflies
0 aridiculous thing for a young girl to wear, but you evidently thought thet it became
you.0

Laura made a faint moverment with her hand. It was as if she was trying to push
something away. Carey moved too, but Miss Silver& grasp tightened sharply upon
his arm and he stood till again. Lucy Adams said,

fiYou can see how perfectly natural it was that Agnes should mistake Tanis for
you. | do not see how she could be blamed in the least. She saw someone dressed
in black and wearing that very noticeable shawl, and of course she thought thet it
was you. When she saw you go into Tanis® sitting-room she naturally wanted to
know what you were doing there, and about half way down the stairs she
remembered about the pistol and thought how easy it would be to shoot you, and
how certain everyone would be that Jeffrey Hazelton had come back and dore it.
So she came to the sitting-room door and opened it. She remembered about all the
things in the detective storiesd you know she is very fond of reading themd so she
took care to take hold of the handle through a fold of her dressing-gown. That is
why there were only Deanés fingerprints on it. When she came into the sitting-room it
was empty, but the door was open into the octagon room and she could hear you
opening the outside door. Of course it was really Tanis, but she thought it was you.
She was remembering the pistol all the time, and she was remembering Oliver and
Lilian, and that you had no right ever to have been born, and so of course you hadnG
any right to be alive. And if that wasn@ enough, there you were, setting yourself up,
making difficuities about selling the Priory, and if Agnes had died, we should all have
been turned out, and we shouldn@ have had anywhere to go, because | havend any
money of my own. Agnes thought about all these things, and she took hold of the
drawer where the pistol was and pulled it open with the fold of her dressing-gown
round her hand, just as she had done with the door. But she couldn@ do that with the
pistol because of putting up the safety-catch and pulling the trigger. So she took it in
her bare hand and went as far as the door into the octagon room. The wind was
blowing in, and the outside door was open. She saw you standing in the open
doorway. She was quite sure thet it was you, because the light from the sitting-room
struck on the coloured embroidery of the shawl. You were holding it round you
because of the cold. She pulled the trigger, and you fell down the steps onto the
grass. Only it wasnd you, it was Tanis, because she cried out, and the moment
Agnes heard her voice she knew that she had made a mistake. Most regrettable of
course, but | do not really see how anyone could blame herd | am sure you agree



about that. She fully intended to Kill you, and it was not her fault if she failed.o

Miss Adams paused for a moment, as if she expected Laura to maeke some
comment. When none was forthcoming, she continued her narrative.

fAgnes was naturally very much disappointed and upset. She took Tanis@s torch,
which was lying on the sofa, and went down the steps just to meke sure, and
unfortunately there was no doubt about it. Really a terrible accident. She had shot
Tanis, and Tanis was dead. Mercifully, nobody had heard the shot, and she kept her
head. It occurred to her at once that the shawl must be removed and destroyed. No
one would suspect her of shooting Tanis, but she might be suspected of shooting
you, and if the shawl were left on the body, someone might guess that she had shot
Tanis by mistake. So she took it off and burned it in the drawing-room fire, which
was il quite nice and hot. It was very clever and resourceful of her, wasnd it? And
she remembered to come back here and wipe the pistol and put it back in the
drawer, and to wipe the inside handle of the door, because she had inadvertently
touched it when she went out with the shawl. And she wiped the torch too, and
dipped it into the back of the drawer, because she thought it just as well that it
shouldn@ be noticed. And then she went back to bed, but she didnd really seep
very well.o

Words had been forming themselves in Laura® mindd fHowd dod youd
know?0 They said themselves over and over, coming out of the dark places of
thought and swelling up into soundd louderd louderd louder.

fHowd dod youd know?0

She did not know that the words had forced themselves between her rigid lips,
and thet they had reached Lucy Adams, until she saw a look of triumph on the pale,
plump face.

Al am just going to tell you about that, but you must not be impatient. Agnes has
no secrets from med you ought to know that. She didna give up her idea of Killing
youd oh, dear me, no! She had it all very cleverly planned. You remember about
the other pistold the one which Tanis told us was dill in Jeffrey Hazelton®
possession. Well, Agnes knew where it was. She knew that Tanis had it, so she
removed it. Shall | tell you where it was when the house was being searched for your
shawl? It was hung in a shoe-bag round Agnes® waist under her petticoat. Wasnd
that clever? And tonight she meant to kill you. She was going to shoot you from
quite, quite close, and leave the pistol in your hand, and then everyone would think
that you had killed Tanis and Florrie, and committed suicide. Of course you dond
know about Florrie, but she was blackmailing Agnes, so she had to be got out of the
way. Agnes thought it al out. She would dispose of Florrie, and then get you to



come down here by a clever trickd aclever, clever trick. It is a very good room for
a crime because there are so many doorsd two here, and four in the octagon roorr
if you court the liftd so that even if the shot were heard, one could always get away.
Very well thought outd isnd it? And we need not talk about Agnes any more,
because that was only part of the trick. Did you think | had redlly sent for the
doctor? Why, that was the trick, Laurad that was the clever trick! That was the
trick to get you downstairs. And it wasnd Agnes who thought of it, any more than it
was Agnes who did all the things | have been telling you. It was | who did them alld
10 16 1! And now | amgoing to shoot you, Laura.o

When Lucy Adams said the word firicko for the first time, two things happened
simultaneoudly. Miss Silver& hand dropped from the arm she was holding, and
Carey Desborough pushed open the door and stepped inside the room. He did not
know whether Laura saw himor not. Her eyes were fixed and staring.

Miss Adams certainly neither saw nor heard. Her mind had no room for anything
beyord its crazy purpose. As she said fAnd now | am going to shoot you,0 she
reached for the pocket of her red flannel dressing-gown and Carey Desboroughts
two hands came down over her shoulders and took her by the wrists.

Laura saw that, and then she saw nothing at all. The roomwas full of a confusion
of noise and mist which swirled about her and would not let her see, or hear, or
know. When it cleared, Carey was standing in front of Cousin Lucy@ chair, and she
was standing too. He was holding her by the wrists. Miss Silver was at the telephone
table. She was saying, fiYes, please ask the Superintendent to come up at once. It is
very urgent indeed. Will you tell him so from me. Miss Silver.... Yes, that is the name
0 Miss Maud Silver.0 There was a click as she replaced the receiver.

Laura gazed at the scene. There was a pistol lying on the floor, almost at her
feet. It was quite unbelievable. A pistold and Cousin Lucy had been going to shoot
her. How can you believe a thing like that?

As Miss Silver came over and picked the pistol up, Lucy Adams said in an
offended voice,

flLet go of my hands at once, Carey! You are really behaving very strangely
indeed. Anyone would think that you had gone quite out of your mind.o



CHAPTER 44

fWWhen did you begin to suspect her?0 said Randal March.

Miss Silver® hands were busy with her knitting. A small pale blue jacket was
taking shape between the clicking needles. A fire burned brightly on the study hearth.
A grey January sky obscured the low winter sun.

Miss Silver said,

Al cannot say, Randal. | could not accept either of the Madisons or any of the
other suspects as providing a solution. There was an element of coolness and
calculation which seemed incompatible with the theory thet this was a crime of
passion or jealousy. | did not think that Mr. Madison, or Mr. Maxwell, or Mr.
Desborough would have shot a woman in the back. It seemed to me quite incredible
that they should have done so. You will remember my insstence upon the
significance of the Chinese shawl. The threads from its fringe which were found
entangled in Tanis@ ring had to be explained. There were two possible explanations.
Either Laura was wearing the shawl and there had been such a violent scene
between them that the threads had been dragged out, or Tanis herself had been
wearing the shawl when she was shot. | considered the first explanation extremely
unlikely. You yourself suggested the second, my dear Randal, when you observed
that Tanis might have felt chilly and have picked up the shawl on her way to the
sitting-room. This theory was rendered likely by the destruction of the shawl. If
Laura had been wearing it, it might have become stained, supposing she had
descended the steps and bent over the body, but it would not in this case have been
necessary to burn it. Every woman is aware that bloodstains come out very easly if
the fabric is at once sgueezed out in cold water. There was a bathroom next to
Laura® room. She could have removed the stains and dried the shawl at the electric
fire in her bedroom. The person who was cool enough to wipe off al betraying
fingerprints would have been aware that the disappearance of the shawl could not
possibly pass unnoticed. Its destruction must therefore have been an absolute
necessity. A reason for this necessity presented itself immediately. A bloodstain can
be removed, but a bullet-hole can neither be removed nor explained away. | became
convinced that Tanis had been shot whilst wearing the shawl, and that the murderer
had had the strongest possible reasons for removing and destroying it. At first |
could not see why it should have been removed at al. If Tanis was wearing the
shawl, and if she had been found in the morning till clutching it about her, there
would have been no question of Laura being suspected, and therefore no reason



why she or Mr. Desborough should have removed it. Still less was there a reason
why anyone else should have done 0. Yet someone had done so, and | became
convinced that the reason for the destruction of the shawl would give us the motive
for the murder.

fi became more and more corvinced that Tanis had been wearing the shawl.
Consider how natural it was that she should pick it up as she went through the hall. It
hung on the newel-post, a beautiful and conspicuous object. It was a cold night, and
she was about to open an outside door and stand there waiting for Mr. Madison.
Those closely woven oriental silks are warm. | was sure that she had picked it up
and put it on. The murderer could have had only one reason for removing itd that it
would endanger him unless he did remove it. It was not urtil late on Saturday night
that | could see what this danger might be. If the murderer had seen Tanis cross the
hall wearing the Chinese shawl he might have taken her for Laura Fane, and if it was
Laura who was aimed at, the motive for the murderd and the possible suspectsd
had to be reconsidered. Tanis Lyle had many enemies. There were so marny motives,
SO many suspects, that in her case it was difficult to select the most likely of them.
But in Laura® case there was only one possible motive, an old grudge brooded over
for more than twenty years, and only three possble suspectsd Agnes Fane, her
maid Perry, and Lucy Adans. | considered each of them in turn, and became
cornvinced that it was Lucy who had shot Tanis.0

Randal March said, Aiwhy?0

Miss Silver coughed.

A am sure you know the answer to that, my dear Randal. Agnes has remarkable
eyesight, and so has Perry. But Lucy is shortsighted. She has worn glasses from a
child. I think only a shortsighted person could have made the mistake that she did
actually make.0

March said, il dond@ know. The height, the colour of the hair were the same.
And with that noticeable Chinese shawld 0

Miss Silver shook her head.

Al am not thinking of those things, Randal. Laura had been wearing a black lace
dress. Tanis had changed into black pyjamas and a heavy black silk coat. Only a
very shortsighted person to whom all black meterials look alike at a little distance
could have mistaken that heavy silk for so different a material as lace.0

March smiled quizzcally.

fHow acuted and how feminine! That is where you will aways have the
advantage of me. | amonly a man.0

Miss Silver smiled in return.



fiGentlemen always say that when they are feeling superior,0 she said. fit is till a
handicap to be a woman, and they know it. You must not grudge us any of the dlight
advantages it confers.0

He laughed outright.

Well, you made up your mind that Miss Adams was the murderer because of
the difference between a bit of silk and a bit of lace. Anything else?0

The needles clicked. Miss Silver said,

fOh, yes. It was the difference between the materials that made me suspect
Lucy, but it was the behaviour of Florrie Mumford that confirmed those suspicions.o

Al dond see,0he said.

fOh, yes, my dear Randal! | could not believe that she would have had the
temerity to blackmeail Agnes Fane. Agnes is redlly a very intimidating person. | was
sure that Florrie would not have had the courage to threaten herd so soon, and
whilst she was till in her service. | think that if it had been Agnes the girl would have
held her tongue until she could get away and do her blackmailing from a safer
distance, if indeed she dared to do it at al. | was never able to consider Agnes
serioudly as the criminal, you know. She is a very efficient person, and if she had
wished to murder Laura there would have been no bungling. Laura would have been
murdered, and Agnes would never have been suspected, let alone blackmailed.o

Awell, that disposes of Miss Fane. What about Perry?0

AThe motive was too dlight, and as | said before, her eyesight is extremely good.
And Florrie would never have expected to get a hundred pounds out of Perry.o

fiSo you arrived at Miss Adams.0

fiSo | arrived at Lucy. But | had no evidenced no shred or particle of evidence.
| was, | may say, in considerable distress of mind. | did not know what to do. |
thought of ringing you up, but the hour was late. | could not have mentioned my
suspicions on the telephone, and you were in any case coming over early next
morning in order to question Florrie. It seemed to me that our one chance of
obtaining any real evidence was from Florrie.0

A wonder what she knew,0 said Randal March. Arhat flapper friend of hers,
Mrs. Slade® sister, says she was in the habit of dipping through into this part of the
house whilst Dean was locking up. Florrie may have heard the shot. She may have
seen Miss Adanms cross the hall. She may have stood behind the drawing-room
curtains and watched her burn the Chinese shawl. We shall never knowd unless
Miss Adams tells us. She may, or she may not. All this girl Gladys can say is that
Florrie was very pleased and excited and told her she knew something that was
going to make her a fortune, poor little wretch.0



Miss Silver laid down her knitting and folded her hands uponiit.

fRandal, | thought she was safe, for that night at least. In spite of what | said to
you | did warn her most seriously. And | knew that Dean locked the connecting
doors at night. | thought she would be safe enough until the morning. Well, | was
wrong.o

March looked kindly at her.

AY ou cand blame yourselfd she asked for it.0

Miss Silver coughed.

A do not blame myself, Randal. | committed an error of judgment, but it is easy
to be wise after the event. | had no reasonable grounds for summoning you in the
middle of the night, but my mind continued to be so much disturbed thet | could not
rest. | think it must have been the sound of Florries fall that roused me from a short
uneasy deep. | had not consciously heard the fall, but | became more and more
anxious, until at last | felt obliged to investigate. | then roused Mr. Desborough, and
we reached the hall in time to hear Lucy& extraordinary statement. She is of course
unhinged.o

fAY es, | suppose she will be pronounced insane.0

Miss Silver looked at him gravely.

fA most unhappy story, Randal. | hope for Laura® sake that it need not all
come out. You see, Lucy was just as much in love with Oliver as Agnes was.
Everyone could see that. She made herself quite a laughing-stock over it, poor thing.
And of course he never thought of her in that way at all. He used to laugh at her and
call her dPoor old Lucy,6and one day | am afraid she heard him. She never quite got
over that. And then he ran away with Lilian Ferrers, and she and Agnes were left
here together with nothing to do but to think how Oliver had treated them. Lucy had
not at al a strong character, but like so many weak people she could hold onto a
grudge. Even at school we used to say that she hoarded dlights. She would treasure
up anything unpleasart, just as other girls treasured up complimentsd but then, of
course, poor Lucy never had any compliments to treasure. After Oliver& marriage
she just sat down here with Agnes for twenty-two years, whilst Agnes filled the
house with hatred and resentmert. Is it any wonder that Tanis Lyle grew up as she
did, heartless and self-centred? Is it any wonder that Lucy became obsessed?
Hatred is a deadly poison. For twenty-two years this house has been full of it.0

March nodded.

ArhatGs grim,0 he said.

fiYes, it is terrible. All those years Agnes was waiting for Laura to come of age.
It was her most passionate desire to possess the Priory and to leave it to Tanis Lyle.



Laura came of age, and came down here at Agnes invitation. And her coming gave
all that hatred a focus. But | till believe that nothing might have happened if it had
not been for the violent disturbance set up by Jeffrey Hazelton. Into the already
overcharged atmosphere of the house he introduced the idea of murder. He also
introduced the necessary weapon, and there is no doubt that the scene in which he
and Tanis took part excited Lucy@& mind to the point of contemplating murder. Even
so she might never have got beyond thinking about it if it had not been for what
happened on Thursday night. A high wind has always had an upsetting effect upon
her nerves. The gale, combined with the opportunity which she thought had been
offered to her, was too much for the balance of her mind. It gave way, and from that
moment she cannot, | think, be considered wholly responsible for her actions. When
Florrie threatened her she behaved with great cunning. She must have known that
the girl sometimes dlipped through the connecting doors and got out of the house at
night, so she made an appointment with her in the study at midnight, opening the
window in order that it might be supposed that Florrie had been attacked by
someone from outside. This, | think, goes to prove that she had not then conceived
the horrible plan of involving Laura. | think that came later, when she had killed
Florrie and had become completely insane. In that state she recognized no restraints
and no difficulties. Having got Laura downstairs by a trick, she meant to shoot her at
point blank range and leave the pistol in her hand. To her crazy mind it seemed quite
certain that Laura would then be held responsible for both the other deaths. The
Priory would pass into Agnes® possession, and the old score against Oliver Fane
would have been paid. A dreadful story, Randal. And when | ask myself who is the
real criminal, | cannot exonerate Agnes Fane.0

fHow much did she know?0 said March.

Miss Silverés eyes met his. They were steady and sad.

Al cannot say. | think that she suspected Lucy. | think so, but | cannot say. And
she herself will never speakd | am quite sure of that. She will never tell us what she
knew or suspected, or why she told Laura to lock her door last night. But | thinkd
though this is only a conjectured that she found Florrie lying dead in the study and
guessed at who the murderer must be. When she saw Laura at her bedroom door
and told her to lock it she was obeying her conscience. She has a conscience, you
know, and it would not permit her to expose even Laura whom she hated to what
she knew to be a very real danger. | can respect her for that.0

March said, fiY es.0 And then, fiHow has she taken it? Will it break her?0

fAgnes will never break,0 said Miss Silver.



CHAPTER 45

Carey and Laura drove away. Petra North had gone. The Maxwells had gore.
The days they had spert in the Priory between Wednesday and Sunday were gone,
joined with dead days of dead, forgotten years. Perhaps some day they would be
forgotten too.

Neither Carey nor Laura looked back, and neither spoke. They had seen Agnes
Fane for a brief moment, rigid, indomitabled a courteous hostess bidding two guests
farewell. Each in turn touched the ice-cold hand upon which there was till a fine
diitter of diamonds. There was no word on either side of any future meeting. The
inward shudder which Laura could conceal but not control till shook her as they
drove on silently through the grey afternoon.

Presently when the road passed through woodland where great ramparts of holly
rose shining and darkly green under the bare boughs of oak and chestnut, Carey
drew in to the side and stopped the car. He put his arms round Laura and drew her
Close.

fDarling, youde so cold.o

She said in a forlorn whisper,

Al dond think | shall ever be warm again.o

fOh, yes, you will. 181 meke you warm. And youde not to shaked there®
nothing to shake about now.o

She said, il cand stop. | dond feel as if | shall ever be able to stop. | keep
seeing her.o

His voice sounded rough and angry.

fiyou wond see her again any mored ever. You wond see any of them again.
WeGe going to be married on Thursday. Three clear week-daysd that& the
quickest you can do it, unless you drag in the Archbishop of Canterbury and pay
about thirty pounds for a special licence. So | thought Thursday.o

fiCarey, | couldnd!o

fAYou just see! You just stop thinking about a lot of bad old women and begin
thinking about me, and you, and med particularly me. WeGre going to be married on
Thursdayd youdre going to be Laura Desborough. Wedl go and set it all in train
tomorrow morning. Wedl have to get a wedding ring, you know, and you can
choose your engagement ring at the same timed your aunt wond think it& legal
without one. And youd better telephone her to come up and give you away.0

fiCarey, she wond!o



fiThen wedl do without her. WeGe both of age. Darling, couldnd@ you stop
shaking? It all over. Wede youngd wede in love. Youbve no idea how
tremendously 1@ in love with you, but youdre going to find out.0

He held her away and looked at her with something in his eyes which drove the
cold shaking from Laurads heart.

fiSnap out of it, darling, and kiss me! WeGre wasting time.o

THEEND



TRANSCRIBER NOTES

Mis-spelled words and printer errors have been fixed.
Inconsistency in hyphenation has been retained.
[The end of The Chinese Shawl by Patricia Wentworth]|
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